
YUSUF YUSUF, FATHI YUSUF, FA\ryZIA YUSUF,
NEJEH YUSUF, and ZLYF,D YUSUF, in their
individual capacities and derivatively on behalf of
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

MOHAMMAD HAMED, \ilALEED HAMED,
\ilAHEED HAMED, MUFEED HAMED,
HISHAM HAMED, FIVE.H HOLDINGS,INC., ANd

KAC357, INC.,

Defendants,

-and-

PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Nominal Defendant.
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PLAINTIFF YUSUF YUSUF'S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO COMPEL

Plaintiff, Yusuf Yusuf, through its attorneys, Dudley, Topper and Feuerzeig, LLP, hereby

files his response to Mufeed Hamed's Motion to Compel and shows as follows:

I. Adequate and Complete Responses Have Been Made to Defendant's Onerous
and Duplicative Discovery

Defendant has propounded excessive discovery - serving some two-hundred and ten

(210) requests for admissions and no less than three (3) sets of interrogatories and requests for

production. Nonetheless, Plaintiff has dutifully responded and provided extensive responses and
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supplementation when additional information was received. The responses were neither evasive

nor incomplete. Further, this Motion focuses on responses to the f,rrst set of discovery - requests

to admit, interrogatories and requests for production (collectively the "First Set"),1 but wholly

ignores Plaintiff s responses to the second and third sets of discovery and the extensive responses

and supplementation provided in Plaintiff s February 27,2017 letter. Rather than presenting the

totality of the information provided, Defendants attempt to craft a Motion which largely ignores

the full and complete responses that have been provided. Defendant's appetite for incessant

discovery appears never to be satiated.

The timeline of the discovery process reveals the excessive and protracted nature of

Defendant's discovery. The suit was initiated in2014. Plaintiff provided Initial Disclosures on

March 2I,2014. From a discovery standpoint, the case remained relatively dormant until the

end of 2016. On December I , 2016, Plaintiff s hled their Supplemental Disclosures. On

December 19, 2016, Plaintiff filed their responses to Defendant's initial requests to admit

(numbered 1-86), requests for production and interrogatories - the First Set. S¿e Exhibits B, C

and D. Defendant provided a Rule 37.1 letter and a meet and confer was scheduled.

Meanwhile, Defendant served a second set of requests for admissions (numbered 87-137),

requests to produce and interrogatories (collectively the "Second Set"). On February 15, 2017,

DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

'1000 Frederiksberg Gade

PO Box 756

St Thomas, U S. Vl. 00804-0756

1340) 774-4422

1 Plaintifls Response to Defendant's First Set of Requests for Admission (1211912017) is

attached as Exhibit B; Plaintiffs Response to Defendant's First Set of Interrogatories
(l2ll9l20I7) is attached as Exhibit C; and Plaintiffls Responses to Defendant's First Requests

for Production of Documents (1211912017) is attached as Exhibit D.
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Plaintiff filed their responses to the Second Set of discovery.2 Upon serving same, Counsel for

Plaintiff called Counsel for Defendant, as a courtesy, to discuss the discovery responses which

had just been provided and offered that if fuither clarification was needed to please advise. On

February 27,2017, Counsel for Plaintiff then also provided a formal response to the Rule 37,1

letter which incorporated many of the responses to the Second Set of discovery. See Exhibit A -

February 27, 2017 Letter. In the February 27, 2017 letter, Plaintiff attempted to set forth a

comprehensive explanation as to the documents secured by the Plaintiff in their investigation

into Defendant's improper taking of $460,000.00. In order to demonstrate the efforts made by

Plaintiff to provide comprehensive and complete discovery responses, Plaintiff set forth a two

and half single spaced type response to centralize the evidence known to Plaintiff. Plaintiff

referenced the earlier call and the responses provided in the Second Set ofdiscovery:

Since thc tinle olour nreet and conf'cr, our clients rvcrc Leqttircd to respond to a second sct of
discovery includirrg t'cqucsts to adnrit, intcrrogatorics nnd requests for docunrents (the "Second ltound

of'Discovcry"). lJpon fìlirrg rcsponses lo the Sccond lkrund of Discovcry rtnd ltrrwartlittg copics ttr

you, I called to discuss thc infornlatitrn proviclcd. During that call, I cxplaincd that our rcsponscs to lhc

Sccond lìot¡nd ol'l)isuovery atltlrcsscd many of'thc issues originally raised in the Rule 37.1 letler as

additionaldetails rvcre provided as rcquesletl in the t{ulc 37.1 lcttcr.

See Exhibit A. The comprehensive and centralized explanation was as follows:

DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1000 Frederiksberg Gade

PO. Box 756

St Thomas, U.S. Vl.00804-0756

(3401 774-4422

'zPlaintifls Responses to Defendants Second Set of Requests for Admission (2ll5lt7) is attached

as Exhibit E; Plaintiffls Response to Defendant's Second Set of Interrogatories (2115117) is

attached as Exhibit F; Plaintiff s Responses to Defendant's Second Requests for Production of
Documents (2ll5lI7) is attached as Exhibit G.
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ln

rcsp0nscs:

l.

iurthcr clarilying thc ¡'usponscs to thc initial discovery, PlaintitT provid€s thc lollowing

As lo Iulerrogatory 3, l)laintifl'shou,s thal clarilicatitln as to thc docunìsnls tcccit'ctl and

providcd lrc as set for(l¡ in the resporrscs to (he Seconcl Rourtd of'Discovcry. Specilìcally,

Plaintil'f'shows that l{csponsc to lntcrlogator), I set f'or1h bcìorv is rcs¡rottsive to clarily

Intcrrogatory 3,

Srrlrjccr lo thc above-st¿rtccl objcctìons ¿rnd without witivitrg itrty
objcctions. shortly ¿rficr M¿trcln'>7,201 3, whc¡r tlre $460,OOO.OO chcck
lv¿¡s c¿¡shccl by Waleecl Il¿rrtrccì ¿rncl ñIr-rllccd I lan'¡cd, Yt¡suf Yttsr¡l'w€nt t()
lhc Sunrry lslc llr¿rlrcl¡ r¡l'Scoti¿r lJ¿rnk in pcl'sorì ancl askccl to s¡rcak witlr
solìleone regarcling inlirrnr¿¡tion orì â colnrncrcial ¿rcct'rt¡nt. Ms. Yvcttc
Cllcnclc¡rcn lrom Sc<'rti¿r l]¿rnk rv¿¡s callecl t() spc¿rk with Yt¡sr'¡l Yrrsuf'.
l)r.rrirrg (lìat cclnvcrsatio¡r, Yrrsuf' Ytrsrrf it-rcltrircd ¿rbc¡ut Plcssetr ¿toc()t¡¡rt
¿rncl tlre rrl<>nies th¿rt hi¡d becrr reruoved. Ms. Clenclettcn sltowecl Yttsul-
Yrrst¡f'thc bal¿rrrcc in the Plessc¡'r account, thc nrt>nics which h¿rd bcc¡r
(akclr out and providcd llim a plrotocop), of'the $460.000.00 chcck fì'ont
a¡rct b¿tck. 'l-hc ncxt day, Yrrsrrf'Ytrstrf rctr¡r¡rccl lo thc Slttrlry Islc Rrancìr
trf'Scoti¿r [J¿t¡¡k ¿¡lrcl asl<cd l-r:r Ìvls. (]lcrrclenen. I)rrrirrg tlris corrvct'sitliort,
Yusr-rf'Yr.rsrrf-¿tsked her lbr a cÒpy clocurnc¡'r(s in thc bank'-s lìles as to tlrc
pcrs()rìs atrlhoriz-ccl t<> sign chccks on bclralf'of Plossc¡r. Ms. C'lc¡rclc¡rcrr
proviclccl ¿t cop). t>1- the Int¿rke (ìathcrirrg Fonrr l-¡'<¡¡n Scr¡ti¿r lì¿rltk's
¡rtrysioal fìlc. Â tru¡c ¿rlrcl corrcct c()p), of the cl<.rct¡ttrettts l'cccived arc
¿rttaclrccl ltcrr.:tr> ¿ls l]¿rtcs Sttrrrrpccl l2-YY-OOO l -2:lJl)lo273-28 I .

It is tvlikc Yusut's rccollcction that in rr¡icl-to-latc 201I or carly'
2012, that it was dctcrnrinccl that two signattlres would bc rcquircd, one
I-larnucl ¿r¡ì(l onc Yusul'arìd tlìat thc Mikc Yr,¡sr,rf'an(l Willeecl tfanlccl
scparatcly tvvcnt i¡'¡to Scotia lJank and executecl lhc docutncrìts with this
rcq ui rc trre n I .

'fhis clrarrgt: is also lcflcctecl in the signaturcs otr thc cltccks fro¡n
lhe l)lessetl ¿ìcc)or.¡lì1. Irrout Septerìtbcr,20l l, all clrccks written bear o¡rc
ll¿rmccl ancl orì Yusul's¡gn¿rturc. 'l'hc cxception to this i.s thc $460,000.00
check which bcars t\\'c) I lanlcd signaturcs. Sce lJates Stampccl
clocumcnts. l2-YY-00489-501. which are thc checks writtcrl on the
Plcssc¡r ¿rccourìt each colltaining Lrvo signaturcs, otte I-latÌlcd ¿rtrd olrc
Yusuf alter Scpterì)ber ot'20 I I .DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

'1000 Frsderiksberg Gade

PO Box 756

St Thomas, U.S. Vl 00804-0756

(34O) 774-4422
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()rr May 17,2Ol 3, Attorncy Nizar t)cWood a¡rd M¿rlrcr Yt¡strl'
rnct ',vitl¡ VIPD Ot'ticcr Mark (ìrnrciro. l)uring tl'¡¿rt rrrccting they
conveycd to hinr orally tlre cvc¡.rts which Oflicer (lorrrciro chroniclcs in
his Altficlavit. z\t that tinre, tlre docunrents providcd rvcrc thosc listecl irr

OfIìccr Clorncriro's Al-fìclavit at pagc 3. B¿rsecl u¡ron Of'ficcl Mark
Cornciro's Aflìclavit, it ap¡rcarrs th¿rt he conclt¡ctccl his ttwn irrdcpcndent
irrvcstigatiorr into thc nì¿ttter ancl he appcars lo lravc socttred aclclitional
irrt'orrnatiorr clilcctly fi<¡lrr Scoti¿r [Ja¡rk, inclucling thc signature <;ttrcls,

rcfìccting "()ne Hanrccl arrd ()nc YusuP'. Mike Ytrsuf rec¿rlls that there
wcrc a f'crv c¿rlls l'lctwecn lli¡rrself iurd Scrgca¡rt C]t¡rneiro llt¡t docs n<lt

rccall tl¡c rl¿rtes. Scr'¡¡,canl (lorncirc inc¡trirc<'l abottt tlre nanrc "(ìallcri a" ilr
Srnith lla¡, rvhich ìtacl ol'iscn as part ol- his invesligatio¡r irrto tl'rc frrnds
tlìat wcrc <-lepclsitccl into Wully's ¿rçcount. Mikc Ytrsttf'ex¡rlzrirrccl th¿¡t he

u¡clersloocl thal tlri.s rclatecl to thc rc¿rl propcrty up()¡¡ which a

strpcrrnarkct ,"vas beirrg co¡tstrì.rcted in lìccl f look, St. 'I-lronlas lbrrncrly
k¡ro'"vr.l as Marina Malkct.

1'he V.I.l,.D. invcstigatir)n was later turncd <¡vcr to A1{orney
Kipp), Iìt-¡bcrson of thc Attolncy Gcncr¿ìl's <¡fñcc. Attorr-rey lìotrerst>¡l
corrlastcd Att<>rrrey Niz¿rr DcWood and reqtrcsted ¿t¡'ry iuf-crrtn¿rtior-r

availablc. 'fhc cxact datc ol' tlris c<¡mmrrnic¿rti<ltr is ltukllowtr but olr
March 30, 2O16, irt rcspo¡1sc tr¡ Attr¡r'ncy Rt-rlrersotì's rcqucst, Ylrsul'
Yr¡sr¡l- plovidccl to Âttorncy l)eWood a copy ol- thc Iutakc (ìatlrcring
Irorllr with signatr.rrcs anci rcc¡rrircnrcnt fìrr one l-larrrcd ancl t¡nc Yusul.
See lJ¿rtcs Starnps l2-YY-O0O273-2t]l . Attorncy l)cWoocl fbrwarclcd tlre
inlor¡nation t<-¡ Attor¡rcy Robcrson a.s rcclucstcd the strtrrc cltty. No lt¡rther
co¡rlnrt¡¡ic¿¡tion occtrrrccl bctrvcerr Âttorrrey I)cWoocl or atly ol'thc
Yusuf-s rcgarclirrg tl-ris rn¿rtter ir¡rcl Âttorrlcy llol)crsoll,

With rcgarcJ to thc V.l' l)ai11'Netvs' lvlikc Yustrl recei vucl ¿¡ call
liorr.r thcrtr and answcrccl no c¡ucsliorrs ¿rtrcl r.:fcrrctl thern tc-l tltc V.l.P.D.
'fhe d¿rtc ol'the co¡'tt¿tcl is r¡nccrtaitr.

Fur'ther lesponcling, Plaintifl incorporatcs the addition¿rl languagc ol'lìcsponsc ttr

Sccond Rcqucst to Producc No. 5 which providcd in additiolr to the lattgttage abovc

that:

It appcars that (hc signature cards wcrc not in posscssion of'thc
Yr¡sufs and werc not providcd to thc VIPD or the Attot'ney Gcneral's

olficc. Rathcr, thc infor¡nation provided to thc VII'l) is as listed in thc

Affidavit ol' Mark Af fìdavit at ¡rage 3. subsec¡ucntly, lhc lntake
(ìathcring lonrr u,as lìot providcd until March ol'2016 when rcqucstctl b1'
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â,i:ï:i lîiîiä;ri];î f:"t¡menrs 
provi<rcd to Robcrsotr wcre Barcs

l-'t¡rther responcling, a copy of the l'olice Rcporl datcd May 17,20 13, which was produced witlr
a bricf iìlccl by thc Bank olNova Scotia in its Motion to L)isnris.s in thc Scotia Suit. dcnronstrutcs that

Fathi Yr¡srrf also nray have becn prcscnt drrring the May 17, 2013 nreeting. lt is Mikc Yusr,rls

rccollection aftcr having reviewcd thc Polioe lìepon, that liathi Ytrsuf may lravc bcen prcsent lor a

short period but did not rentain f'or tlre eutirc (ime. Thc Police lìcport ft¡rther provides thnt both Fathi

Yusul ancl Mike Yusut cxplaincd "that botlr families had a vcrbal agreenlctlt that any check sigrrecl

against l,lcsscn L,ntcrprises, lnc. would nectl thc signature ol at lcast olrc member of eaoh lanrily."
Furthcr, according to tlrc l)olice Rcport, Mikc Yusuf cxpluined that originally lhc signatures wet'e to be
gnc signature a¡rcl that he, Fathi Yusuf and Vy'alccd werc authorized signors, that latcr this hud bccn

updated and he ditl not rccall who was authorizctJ but that they lracl a verbal agrecnlenl that onc Pcrson
tiorn the I'lanred and one pcrson lrour thc Yt¡suf would sign the check.

Further rcsporrding. I,laintiff'clarifics that the signaturc card pncvided to the VIPD wns as

indicntcd in ()lficcrCorncio's Aflduvit at pagc J, itern l/6, which is thc the August 17,2009 signaturc

card liorn llank ol'Nova Sc<¡tia.

See Exhibit A. The letter continued for an additional five and half pages responding to particular

discovery and providing further explanation and clarification. It is clear that Plaintiff undertook

to provide complete and comprehensive responses to the discovery propounded. Thereafter, on

March 27,2017, Plaintiff filed his responses to Defendants third round of requests for admission

(numbered 138-210).3 On May 3,2017, Defendant also propounded a third round of requests

for production of documents and interrogatories. The responses to this most recent discovery are

not yet due.

DUDLEÍ TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1000 Freder¡ksborg Gade

PO. Box 756

St Thomas, U.S. V.1.00804'0756

(340\ 774-4422

3 Plaintiff s Responses to Defendant's Third Requests for Admission (3127117) is attached as

Exhibit H.
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U. The Virgin Islands Rules of Civil Procedure Governs this Motion, Not the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure

Although the Virgin Islands Rules of Civil Procedure became effective as of March 31,

2017 and were to apply to all pending cases immediately, Defendant cites to the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure as the standard governing the issues as to this motion. Defendant is incorrect.

The newly promulgated Virgin Islands Rules of Civil Procedure apply to this motion. Pursuant

to V.I. Rulps oF CIV. P.37, the Court determines whether the responding party has failed to act

such that the Court needs to compel a response and whether the responses provided were evasive

or incomplete. Here, Plaintiff has provided extensive responses to the numerous discovery

requests propounded by Defendant. Plaintiff supplemented and cross referenced responses.

None of Plaintifls responses were untimely and all were properly verified. There is no question

that Plaintiff has undertaken to respond to discovery, to do so timely and that the responses

provided were neither evasive nor incomplete. Yet, Defendant, who has propounded over 210

requests for admission, many of which are cumulative, duplicative and constitute improper use

of written discovery, seeks to compel even more answers and further explanation. Plaintiff

submits that Defendant will never be satisfied with the extensive responses having created an

interminable cycle of repetitive, minutia-driven discovery.

DUDLEY' TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1000 Fr€deriksberg Gade

PO. Box 756

St. Thomas, U.S. Vl. 00804-0756

(3401 774-4422
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As to the specific alleged deficiencies, Defendant asserts that the responses4 to the

following specific discovery requests are deficient:

A. Interrogatories

1) Interrogatory No. 4 - this interrogatory seeks information regarding a

particular document identified as Exhibit 2. Exhibit 2 is a portion of Bank of Nova Scotia's

records relating to Plessen Enterprises. Plaintiff initially responded and then supplemented as to

the origins of this particular document providing bates numbers as to its earlier production in the

companion case, the "370 case." Defendant seems to believe that the dates do not reflect that

same production time. Plaintiff understands the information provided in the response to be

accurate and correct.

2) Interrogatory No. 5 - this interrogatory seeks information regarding a

particular document identified as Exhibit 3. Exhibit 3 is a portion of Bank of Nova Scotia's

records relating to Plessen Enterprises. Plaintiff initially responded and then supplemented as to

the origins of this particular document, again referring to the comprehensive response to

Interrogatory No. 3 set forth above. Defendant sought fuither verification which was provided.

III. SpecifTc Discovery Responses at Issue

DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1000 Frederiksbsrg Gads

PO. Box 756

St. Thomas, U S Vl, 00804-0756

(34O) 774-4422

o The shear volume of the individual discovery items submitted and the extensive responses and
explanations makes it too lengthy to set forth the entire request, initial response, supplemental
response and full cross reference to each contested item of discovery within the body of this
Opposition. Consequently, reference will need to be made to the various submissions attached as

Exhibits to this Opposition. The bulk of the information is contained within the February 27,
2077 letter and it is heavily cited. However, reference will need to be made to other responses
set forth in Exhibits B - H, Citations and cross references have been provided and all of the
discovery responses (absent the actual documents propounded) are provided for the Court's
review.
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Hence, Plaintiffls responses as written are sufficient.

5) Request to Produce 44 - Plaintiff provided a detailed response in the

February 27, 2017 letter, identifying by bates number certain responsive documents and

providing explanation. See Exhibit A, no. 7. The response is complete and suff,rcient.

6) Request to Produce 53 - Plaintiff confirmed that he is unaware of any

documents responsive to this request. Plaintiff has repeated that response consistently.

Plaintiff s response is sufficient and there is nothing with which to compel.

C. Requests to Admit

1.) Request to Admit 2l - the RTA was denied. Defendant seeks a
layman's opinion as to whether a particular font is different on a document. The request is
improper. It was properly denied. This is a classic example of improper use of the discovery
process to elicit a lay "opinion" as to a matter which at best would be subject to possible expert
review.

2,) Request to Admit 37 - this seeks information as to whether there
was a meeting electing Mike Yusuf as a board member as of May 17,2013. The response was
that Mike Yusuf was listed on the business license as a director of Plessen. In the February 27,
2017 Ietter, Plaintiff further clarified that "Plaintiff admits that apparently no such official
meeting to place and there exists no documentation evidencing such a meeting or resolution.
However, further responding, Plaintiff denied that this means there is no evidence that Mike
Yusuf was a director of Plessen." Plaintiff then referred to a response to the Second Set of
discovery which provided additional explanation and reminded Defendant that even Mohammed
Hamed was under the impression that Mike Yusuf was a director of Plessen stating that even he

believed there to be four (4) directors of Plessen. Plaintiff has further explained that "[A]s the
parties were all under the believe that Maher (Mike) Yusuf was a director and as he was
provided with the authority to act as a director making him a 'de factor' director, there would
have been no need to meet to elect new directors or to increase the number as the Hameds and
Yusufs were under the belief that there were four (4) directors, two Hameds and two Yusufs."

ity of purpose. The allegation does not necessarily rely upon a document for its support.
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See Exhibit A, and Exhibit B - Response to Third Requests for Admission, RTA No. 143 among
others). The response is moÍe than sufficient,

3.) Requests to Admit 38 thru 45 - these requests again belabor the
meeting and board member question as to Mike Yusuf. Again, Plaintiff properly referenced the
evidence available as to his position. See Exhibit A and Exhibit G.

4.) Request to Admit 46 - this request, likewise, focuses on the issue of
whether Mike Yusuf was a director of Plessen. Plaintiff again adequately responded. See

Exhibit A. The response is more than sufficient and does not warrant any further action by the
Court.

5.) Request to Admit 47 - this request was originally answered in
December and then supplemented to provide fuither clarification in the February 27 ,2011 letter.
See Exhibit A and Exhibit B. Again, reference was made to Supplemented Interrogatory
Response No. 3, which provides a comprehensive account of the events and matters at issue in
this suit. Defendants are particularly concerned with the documents that Attorney DeWood
provided to the VIPD. See Exhibit A. Those documents are clearly chronicled in the affidavit of
Sargeant Mark Corneiro at p. 3 of his Affidavit. There is nothing else to respond and, therefore,
there is no need to compel.

6.) Request to Admit 48 - the request was denied. ,See Exhibit B.
Plaintiff provided additional explanation which is not required but was provided in a good faith
effort to explain the response. Id. There is significant detail and information in the explanation.
Clearly, the response is more than sufficient and there is no need to compel any further response.

7.) Request to Admit 49 - this request was denied. S¿e Exhibit B.
Plaintiff provided additional explanation which is not required but was provided in a good faith
effort to explain the response. Id. There is significant detail and information in the explanation.
Clearly, the response is more than suffrcient and there is no need to compel any further response,

8.) Request to Admit 53 - the request was denied and a thorough
explanation was given. See Exhibit B. Reference was made to Response to Interrogatory 3

which was an extensive account of the information known to the Plaintiff as to the events and
timeframe surrounding the matters at issue in this case. It is set forth in detail above. See

Exhibit A. A motion to compel is improper as the response is sufficient and complete.

9.) Request to Admit 54 - the request was denied and a thorough
explanation was given. The request mentions the wrong individual, reference is made to
Response to Interrogatory 3 which is an extensive account of the information known to the
Plaintiff as to the events and timeframe surrounding the matters at issue in this case. It is set
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forth above. See Exhibit A. A motion to compel is improper as the response is sufficient and
complete.

10.) Request to Admit 58 - the request seeks to have Plaintiff admit what
is or is not stated in a document which is a matter of record with the Court dismissing the
criminal charges against 'Waleed Hamed. The document speaks for itself. Plaintiff admitted that
the charges were dismissed. At best, Plaintiff could only state that the document to which
Defendant refers speaks for itself. This is not a proper area of inquiry for a RTA. The reasons
given are set forth in the document. All Plaintiff would be able to say is what Plaintiff stated,
that the charges were dismissed. The document provides information which speaks for itself.
This is not the proper subject of inquiry for a RTA. See Exhibit B.

11.) Request to Admit 82 - the response is appropriate and complete. It
appears that Defendant is attempting to get the Plaintiff to either admit that this is what the Court
said at a particular hearing, which is not a proper request for admission or what Mike Yusuf said
during a hearing. Both of which are matters of record and do not require an admission by a
party. However, Defendants attempt to request that we admit a paraphrase of what the Court
said at a hearing. Again, what the Court said at a hearing is readily determined by a transcript
and is not a proper area of inquiry for a request for admission. Plaintiff admitted that Mike
Yusuf testified as to the subject matter but clarified that additional testimony on the matter was
offered. See Exhibit B.

12.) Request to Admit 83 - this demonstrates the duplicity of the RTA.
The question appears to be the exact same request as request to admit 82. Further, the
information sought in this Request bears no relationship to the questions of the improper taking
of the $460,000.00 from the Plessen account. See Exhibit B.

13.) Request to Admit 84 - Plaintiff denied as written and offered further
explanation. Not liking the response, Defendants offer what appears to be a contradictory
argument. It is wholly unclear what the issue Defendants have with the response to RTA 84.
Plaintiff stands by his answer. 

^See 
Exhibit B.

DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1000 Freder¡ksbôrg Gade

PO. Box 756

St Thomas, U.S. V1.00804-0756

(3401 774-4422

IV. Plaintiff Has Acted in Good Faith to Provide Responses to the Discovery.

Defendant would have this Court believe that Plaintiff has attempted to shirk its

responsibility to provide timely and complete discovery responses. This is not the case. To the

contrary, Plaintiff has been forthcoming and provided detailed responses, supplementation and
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documents. Yet, Defendants have fostered an atmosphere of excessive fixation on minutia -

spinning and obsessively ruminating on perceived discrepancies. If there is any ruling on this

case that would facilitate the discovery process, it would a limitation on Defendant's compulsion

for redundant and interminable discovery.

DATED: May 017 By:

DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1000 Froderiksborg Gad6

P.O. Box 756

St. Thomas, U.S. V.l.00804-0756

(s40\n4-4422

Y, TOPPER AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

Charlotte K. Perrell (V.I.
Law House
1000 Frederiksberg Gade - P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, VI 00804-0756
Telephone: (340)715-4422
Facsimile: (340)715-4400
E-Mail: cpenell@dtflaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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Mark V/. Eckard, Esq.
H¡,ulrl & Ecx¡,Rt, l,l,p
5030 Anchor'Way - Suite 13

Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820-4692
E-Mail : meckard@hammneckard.com
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Jeffrey B.C. Moorhead, Esq.
C.R.T. Building
1132 King Street
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820
E-Mail: jeffreymlaw@yahoo,com
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Exhibit A -

Exhibit B -

Exhibit C -

Exhibit D-

Exhibit E -

Exhibit F-

Exhibit G-

Exhibit H-

Index of Exhibits to Opposition to Motion to Compel

February 27, 2017 Letter Supplementing responses

Plaintiff s Response to Defendant's First Set of Requests for Admission
(r2tret20r7)

PlaintifPs Response to Defendant's First Set of Interrogatories (l2l19l20l7)

Plaintiffls Responses to Defendant's First Requests for Production of
Document s (l2l 19 120 l7 )

Plaintiff s Responses to Defendants Second Set of Requests for Admission
(2trsn7)

Plaintifls Response to Defendant's Second Set of Interrogatories (2ll5ll7)

Plaintiff s Responses to Defendant's Second Requests for Production of
Documents (2ll5l17)

Plaintiffls Responses to Defendant's Third Requests for Admission (31271I7)
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ATTORNEYS ,\T LAV

LA'oø HousE
IOOO FREÞERTKSBERG CADE

CHARLOTTE AMAL¡E, ST, THOMAS
U.S. VIRG¡N lsLANDs oo8o2-6736
rùØEBr www.DTFLaw.com

Via Elcctronic Transmission and
U.S. First Class Mail
Mark W. Eckard, Esq.
llarnm Eckard, LLP
5030 Anchor Way, Suite 13

Christiansted, VI 00820-4692

MAIL¡NC AÞDRESs:

PO. Box 756
ST, THoMAt VI oo8o4-0756

TELEPHoNEI ß4o\ 774- 4422
TeLE¡¡x' ß4o) 715-44oo

February 27,2017

Re: Yusuf Yusuf ct al. v. Mohammcd Hamcd et al,
sx-13-cv-120

I)eal Attorney Eckard:

This is to follow up regarding your original Rule 37.1 letter and our meet and confer on

February 3,2017.

Since the time of our meet and confer, our clients were required to respond to a second set of
discovery including requests to admit, interrogatories and requests for documents (the "Second Round

of Discovery"). Upon filing responses to the Second Round of Discovery and forwarcling copies to
you, I called to discnss the information provided. During that call, I explained that our responses to the

Second Round of Discovery addressed many of the issues originally raised in the llule 37,1 lettel as

additional details were provided as requested in the Rule 37.1 letter,

Subsequent thereto, we have received information which is public record in another suit

brought by your clients against the Bank of Nova Scotia as well as our clients relating to the same

$460,000.00 improper removal of funds from Plessen, See Waleed Hamed et al. v. Bank o./ Nova

ScoÍia et al., SX- I 6-CV -42() (the "scotia Suit"). Setting aside for the moment, the fact that we are yet

again, running into violations of the "first to file rule," it appears that the allegations set forth in the

Scotia Suit as well as information produced by the Bank of Nova Scotia in its filings provide further
detail as to the events which are the subject of this suit and, in particular, the improper removal of the

$460,000.00.

I note this to ernphasize that there are allegations and questions being asked by your clients in

this suit which are directly belied by the evidence in the Scotia Suit. Further, this is evidence which
your clients had in their possession when the allegations and inquiries were being made in this case.

We will address separately whether the allegations have been made in bad faith and whether the

DTF Filc No. 6254-4

CHARLoTTE K. Penn¡ll
DtREcT D¡AL¡ (34o) 7t5.4432
EMAI L I CPERRELL@DTFLA\ø.CoM
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discovery sought and positions taken in this matter, likewise, are in bad faith and unsupported by the

evidence,

In further clarifying the responses to the initial discovery, Plaintiff provides the following
responsesl

l. As to Interrogatory 3, Plaintiff shows that clarification as to the docutnents received and

provided are as set forth in the responses to the Second Round of Discovery. Specifically,

Plaintiff shows that Response to Interrogatory 8 set forth below is responsive to clarify
Interrogatory 3.

Subject to the above-stated objections and without waiving any

objections, shortly after March 27, 2013, whett the $460,000.00 check

was cashed by'Waleed Hamed and Mufeed Flamed, Yusuf Yusuf went to
the Sunny Isle Branch of Scotia Bank in person and asked to speak with
sonìeone regarding information on a commercial account. Ms. Yvette
Clendenen from Scotia Bank was called to speak with Yusuf Yusuf.
During that conversation, Yusuf Yusuf inquired about Plessen account

and the monies that had been removed. Ms. Clendenen showed Yusuf
Yusuf the balance in the Plessen account, the monies which had been

taken out and provided him a photocopy of the $460,000.00 check front
and back. The next day, Yusuf Yusuf returned to the Sunny Isle Branch

of Scotia Bank and asked for Ms. Clendenen. During this conversation,
Yusuf Yusuf asked her for a copy documents in the bank's files as to the
persons authorized to sign checks on behalf of Plessen. Ms. Clendenen
provided a copy of the Intake Gathering Form from Scotia Bank's
physical file. A ttue and correct copy of the documents received are

attached hereto as Bates Stamped - l2-YY-0001-2;000273-281.

It is Mike Yusuf s recollection that in mid-to-late 2011 or early

2012, that it was determined that two signatures would be required, one

Hamed and one Yusuf and that the Mike Yusuf and Waleed Hamed

separately went into Scotia Bank and executed the documents with this
requirement,

This change is also reflected in the signatures on the checks from
the Plessen account, From September,20ll, all checks written bear one

Hamed and on Yusuf signature. The exception to this is the $460,000.00
check which bears two Hamed signatures. See Bates Stamped

documents, l2-YY-00489-501, which are the checks written on the

Plessen account each containing two signatures, one Hamed and one

Yusuf after September of 20ll.
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On May 17, 2013, Attorney Nizar DeWood and Maher Yusuf
met with VIPD Officer Mark Corneilo. During that meeting they
conveyed to him orally the events which Officer Corneiro chronicles in
his Affidavit. At that time, the documents provided were those listed in
Off,rcer Corneiro's Affidavit at page 3. Based upon Officer Mark
Corneiro's Affidavit, it appears that he conducted his own independent
investigation into the matter and he appears to have secured additional
information directly from Scotia Bank, including the signature cards,

reflecting "One Hamed and One Yusuf'. Mike Yusuf recalls that there
were a few calls between himself and Sergeant Corneiro but does not
recall the clates. Sergeant Corneiro inquired about the name "Galleria" in
Smith Bay which had arisen as part of his investigation into the funds
that were deposited into Wally's account. Mike Yusuf explained that he

understood that this related to the real property upon which a

supermarket was being constructed in Red Hook, St, Thomas formerly
known as Marina Market.

The V.I,P.D. investigation was later turned over to Attorney
Kippy Roberson of the Attorney General's off,rce. Attorney Roberson
contacted Attorney Nizar DeWood and requested any information
available, The exact date of this communication is unknown but on
March 30, 2016, in response to Attorney Roberson's request, Yusuf
Yusuf provided to Attorney DeWood a copy of the Intake Gathering
Fonn with signatures and requirement for one Hamed and one Yusuf.
See Bates Stamps 12-YY-000273-281. Attorney DeWood forwarded the
information to Attorney Roberson as requested the same day. No further
communication occurred between Attorney DeWood or any of the
Yusuf s regarding this matter and Attorney Roberson.

With regard to the V.l. Daily News, Mike Yusuf received a call
from them and answered no questions and referred them to the V.l.P,D.
The date of the contact is uncertain.

Further responding, Plaintiff incorporates the additional language of Response to
Second Request to Produce No, 5 which provided in addition to the language above

that:

It appears that the signature cards were not in possession of the

Yusufs and were not provided to the VIPD or the Attorney General's
office. Ráther, the information provided to the VIPD is as listed in the

Affîdavit of Mark Affidavit at page 3. Subsequently, the Intake
Gathering form was not provided until March of 2016 when requested by
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Attorney Roberson. The documents provided to Roberson were Bates

Stamps I 2-YY-00027 3-281 .

Further responding, a copy of the Police Report dated May l7 ,201 3, which was produced with
a brief filed by the Bank of Nova Scotia in its Motion to Dismiss in the Scotia Suit, demonsüates that

Fathi Yusuf also may have been present during the May 17,2013 meeting. It is Mike Yusuls
recollection after having reviewed the Police Repoft, that Fathi Yusuf may have been present for a

short period but did not remain for the entire time. The Police Report further provides that both Fathi

Yusuf and Mike Yusuf explained "that both families had a verbal agreement that any check signed

against Plessen Enterprises, Inc, would need the signature of at least one member of each family."
Further, according to the Police Report, Mike Yusuf explained that originally the signatures were to be

one signature and that he, Fathi Yusuf and Waleed were authorized signors, that later this had been

updated and he did not recall who was authorized but that they had a verbal agreement that one person

from the Hamed and one person from the Yusuf woulcl sign the check.

Further responding, Plaintiff clarifies that the signature card provided to the VIPD was as

indicated iu Officer Corneio's Affidavit at page 3, item #6, which is the the August 17,2009 signature

card from Bank of Nova Scotia,

2, As to Interrogatory No. 4: As a result of the additional investigation, it is Plaintiffls
position that the Yusufs did not have possession of this document and believe that it was

sourced directly from Bank of Nova Scotia pursuant to subpoena in the "370" case. This

document appears to have been produced in the companion "370" case as it bears bates

number FY004502 and was produced in that case on May 16,2014. It also appears that the

electronic signature page was provided by Bank of Nova Scotia (FY004504), the date along

the side appears to indicate a screen shot on April 30, 2014 as well as an undated Intake

Gathering Form (FY004494-004501) and a copy of the payment to Jeffrey Moorehead

(FY004503) were all received from Bank of Nova Scotia on or about that same time in
2014 and produced in the "370" case in May,2014.

3. As to Interrogatory No. 5: Upon further investigation, it is Plaintiffs position that the

Yusufs did not have possession of this document and believe that it was sourced directly

from the Bank of Nova Scotia. See Response to Interrogatory No, 3 as to the documents in

Plaintiff s possession,

4. As to Interrogatory No. 7: Plaintiff incorporates by reference his response to Interrogatory

No. 3 aboye as responsive to this request and providing further clarification as requested.
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5. As to Request to Produce 10, 13,14,17 and 20: As to RTP 13, 14.Te¿ FYl0344. As to RTP

10, 17 and 20, such information was learned from bank records and other publically

available information.

6. As to Request to Produce No. 5, 6, 7: Other additional information responsive is the Intake

Gathering Form from the Bank of Nova Scotia which was signed by both Walleed Hamed

as well as Mike Yusuf which reflects that Mike was a director as well as Mohammed

Hamed's sworn interrogatory responses in which he too believed that Mike Yusuf was a

director. These documents are already of record in this case. Further responding, Plaintiff
shows that Response to Interrogatory No. 10, is responsive to this RTP:

Subject to the above-stated objections and without waiving any

objections, Yusuf Yusuf shows that date of "March 27, 2017" is
obviously incorrect. To the extent that the date is assumed to mean

"March 27,2013," Yusuf Yusuf shows that Mohammed Hamed, who
previously served as President and was a director is now deceased. Fathi

Yusuf has always served as the Secretary and Treasurer and has been a

director. The Yusuf s were under the belief that Mike Yusuf was a
director of United as a result of documents provided to the V.I.
Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and

because he originally was provided signature authority as to the Plessen

account at Scotia Bank and reflected in the August 17, 2009 bank

records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia as a

"director," Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to

interrogatóries in the Hamed v. Yusuf et al, sx-72-370 case, swore that "l
fMohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen. To the best of my
recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and

shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were

all aware of this fact, as is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor,
Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped documents l2-YY-
00509-5 I 1.

'Yusuf Yusuf shows that the corporate records for Plessen were

outside any of the parties' control for years following the FBI raid in
which the corporate records were seized. In April, 2014, Carl Beckstedt
prepared corporate documents to reflect Mike's position as a director.
Attorney Holt advised Carl Beckstedt to the contrary. However,
Attorney Beckstedt did not comply but rather advised that he would need

to conhrm with the parties. Nonetheless, there is not an executed

documçnt in the official corporate record book reflecting Mike Yusuf s

position as a director.
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The powers and the duties of the President and the Vice President were

limited by the Bylaws, inctuding Article V, Section 5.1(c) which requires

checks to be signed by either the President or Vice President and then

countersigned by the Secretary or Treasurer, This would require that one

Hamed and one Yusuf would ultimately be signing all checks. In

addition, in mid-to-l are 2011, all checks thereafter were signed by one

Hamed and one Yusuf, with the exception of the $460,000.00 check. No

officer was allowed to remove funds from the account without the dual

family signatures and this was the accepted restriction agreed to by the

two farnilies in addition to the other restrictions already imposed by

Article V of the Bylaws.

7. As to Request to Produce No. 44: Plaintiff incorporates by reference his

response to Interrogatory No. 3 above as if fully set forth herein verbatim,
Specifically, Plaintiff shows that:

It appears that the signature cards were not in possession of the

Yusufs and were not provided to the VIPD or the Attorney General's
office. Rather, the information provided to the VIPD is as listed in the

Affidavit of Mark Affidavit at page 3. Subsequently, the Intake
Gathering form was not provided until March of 2016 when requested by
Attorney Roberson. The documents provided to Roberson were Bates

Stamps I 2-YY-000273 -281 .

Further responding, a copy of the Police Report dated }y'ray 17,2013, which was produced with

a brief filed by the Bank of Nova Scotia in its Motion to Dismiss in the Scotia Suit, demonstrates that

Fathi Yusuf also may have been present during the May 17, 2013 meeting, It is Mike Yusuf s

recollection after having reviewed the Police Report, that Fathi Yusuf may have been present for a

short period but did not remain for the errtile time. The Police Report further provides that both Fathi

Yusuf and Mike Yusuf explained "that both families had a verbal agreement that any check signed

against Plessen Enterprises, Inc. would need the signature of at least one member of each family."
Further, according to the Police Report, Mike Yusuf explained that originally the signatures were to be

one signature and that he, Fathi Yusuf and Waleed were authorized signors, that later this had been

updated and he did not recall who was authorized but that they had a verbal agreement that one person

from the Harned and one person from the Yusuf would sign the check.

Further responding, Plaintiff clarifîes that the signature card provided to the VIPD was as

indicated in Officer Cornsio's Aff,rdavit at page 3, item #6, which is the the August 17 ,2009 signature

card fiom Bank of Nova Scotia.
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8, As to Request to Produce No. 53: Plaintiff incorporates his response to the Second Set of
Discovery, Request to Produce No. 9 as if fully set forth herein verbatim as his further
response and clarification of Request to Product No, 53.

9, As to Requests to Adrnit No.'s 38-45: Each of these requests seek admission that a

documented meeting of the Board of Directors did not take place to increase the size of the

Eloard so as to include Mike Yusuf as a Director in addition to the original three members

of the Board, Mohammed Hamed, V/aleed Hamed and Fathi Yusuf. Plaintiff admits that

apparently no such offrcial meeting took place and that there exists no documentation

evidencing such a meeting or resolution. However, further responding, Plaintiff denies that

this means there is no evidence that Mike Yusuf was a director of Plessen. Rather, Plaintiff
shows that his responses to the Second Set of Discovery, Request to Produce No. 10 is
responsive and incorporates same herein by reference. Specifically, Plaintiff shows that:

...Yusuf Yusuf was under the belief that Mike Yusuf was a
director of Plessen as a result of documents provided to the V,l.
Government Deparhnent of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and

because he originally was provided signature authority as to the

Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflecting in the August 17,

2009 bank records.. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering

Form for Scotia as a "director," Furthermore, Mohammed
Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v. Yusuf et

al., sx-12-370 case, swore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the

four directors of Plessen. To the best of my recollection, I have

always been a director. The other three directors and

shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons

were all aware of this fact, as the Office of the Lieutenant

Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped

documents l2-YY-00509-5 1 1.

While Defendants attempt to contend that this information is unresponsive to the requests to

admit, we respectfully disagree. This evidence demonstrates Mike Yusuf s role as a de facto director;

i,e. a person who is in possession of an offrce or is exercising the functions thereof under color of
authority. The legal theory of a de facfo director or offìcer is widely acknowledged.

10, As to Request to Admit No. 46: Plaintiff maintained his same response of Deny. Further

responding Plaintiff shows:
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Yusuf Yusuf was under the belief that Mike Yusuf was a director

of Plessen as a result of documents provided to the V'I.
Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and

because he originally was provided signature authority as to the

Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflecting in the August 17,

2009 bank records,. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering

Form for Scotia as a "director." Furthermore, Mohammed

Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v' Yusuf et

al., sx-12-370 case, swore that "l [Mohammed] am one of the

four directors of Plessen. To the best of rny recollection, I have

always been a director. The other three directors and

shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons

were all aware of this fact, as the Off,rce of the Lieutenant

Governor, Division of Corporations," See Bates Stamped

documents l2-YY-00509-51 1.

While Defendants attempt to contend that this information is unresponsive to the

requests to admit, we respectfully disagree. This evidence demonstrates Mike Yusuf s role

as a tle ,facto director; i.e. a person who is in possession of an office or is exercising the

functions thereof under color of authority. The legal theory of a de ,faclo director or officer

is widely acknowledged.

ll.As to Request to Admit No. 47: Plaintiff reasserts his original response. Further

responding, Plaintiff incorporates his Response to Interrogatory No. 3 as set forth above.

To be clear, Attorney DeWood provided those documents as listed in the affidavit of Mark
Corneiro at p. 3 of his Affidavit.

12, As to Request to Admit No. 48 and 49: Plaintiff reasserts his original responses to these

Requests to Admit and believes them to be accurate and sufficient responses.

13. As to Request to Admit No. 53: Plaintiff reasserts his original response to this Request to

Admit. It was Yusuf Yusuf who requested information from Scotia Bank. Plaintiff
Incorporates his Response to Interrogatory No. 3 as set forth above as providing additional

detail regarding the receipt of information from Scotia Bank.

14. As to Request to Admit No. 54: Plaintiff reasserts his original response to this Request to

Admit. It was Yusuf Yusuf who requested information from Scotia Bank. Plaintiff
Incorporates his Response to Interrogatory No. 3 as set forth above as providing additional

detail regarding the receipt of information from Scotia Bank.
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15. As to Request to Admit No. 55: Plaintiff amends to incorporate his Response to
Interrogatory No. 3 as his response to this Request to Admit as to what was provided to the

VIPD. Again, Plaintiff admits that whatever documents were listed in Officer Corneio's

Affidavit atpqge 3, were the documents provided.

16, As to Request to Admit No. 58: Plaintiff reasserts his original response to this Request to

Admit.

17. As to Request to Admit No. 82: Plaintiff reasserts his original response to this Request to

Admit.

18. As to Request to Admit No. 83: Plaintiff reasserts his original response to this Request to

Admit.

As to Request to Admit No. 84, we continue our review of the documentation and will
supplement, The same is true for Requests for Production of Documents No.s 23, 36,37,40 and 44.

The above responses and all other responses have been given based upon a thorough

investigation and review of information in a good faith effort to properly provide the information
requested. Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

CKP:fst

R :\DOC5\6254\4\LTR\ I 73 9269, DOCX

Charlotte K. Pénel
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YUSUI YUSUF, FÄT'HI YUSI.J}-, FAWZIA YUSUF,
NIì,IIIH YUSUF, and ZAYDD YIISUI', in their
individual capacities and derivatively on behalf of
PI,ESSEN ENTI'RPzuSES, INC.,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

MOHAMMAD IIAMED, \ryALEI'D HAMT]D,
WAHEED HAMED, MI.IFEED HAMED,
IIISIIAM HAMED, F'IVD-H IIOLDINGS, INC., and
KAC357, tNC.,

Defenclants,

-and-

PI,I4SSEN EN'I'ERPRI SIìS, IN C.,

Nominal l)efendant.

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT' OF THE VTRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

)

)

)
)
)

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

)
)

)
)

)
)
)
)
)

PLAINTIF'F YUSUI' Y[JSU¡-'S II.ASPONSE TO DEFENDAN'I'
MUIEED HAMED'S I'IRST' SIIT OF REQ-UESTS FOR ADMISSIONS

Plaintiff, Yusuf Yusuf, through his attorneys, Dudley,'fopper and F'euerzeig, LLP,

hereby provides its Responses to Def'endant Muf'eed Hamed's First Set of' Requests fclr'

Adrnissions:

OUDLET TOPPEñ

INO FEUERZEIG' LLP

1o0o Fredorlkñboq Gådo

PO. Box 756

fhomss, U.5. Vl. 00804'0756

(S,tOl 774-à422

CASII NO. SX-l3-CV-120

ACTION FOII DAMAGES,
DECLARATORY AND
INJUNCTIVE IITiI,IEF

JUIìY T'IIIAI, DEMANDnI)



r.)

issions

RAL OBJECI'IONS

ing general objecti<¡ns to the First Set c'rf Iìequests fìrr

apply to all or so many of the Requests f'or Admissions

rth herein and are not necessarily repeated after each

s. 'l'he assertion of the same, similar, or additional

the Requests f'or Admissions, clr the failure t<l assert any

uest cloes not waive any of'Yusuf'Yusuf's objections as

the Requests lor Admissions to the extent they may

n addition to those required under the lìederal Rules of

each request for admission that uses the words "âny" ancl

burden.some, immaterial, irrelevant, ancl not reasonably

issible evidence.

the Requests ftrr Acünissions to the extent they seek

he attorney-client privilege or work-procluct dclotrine,

ipation of litigation, or for trial, by or cln behalf of'Yusuf

s, conclusiclns, opinions) or legal theories of its attomeys

ble privilege or doctrinc under fèderal or state statut<try,
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constitutional or common law, Yusuf Yusuf's answers shall not inclucle any infbrmation

protected by suclr privileges or cloctrine, and documents <lr infbrmation inadvertently produced

wliich includes such privileged infbrrnation shall not be deemed a waiver by Yusuf Yusuf o1'

such privilege or doctrine.

(4) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Requests for Aclmissions to the extent that they seek

infolmation and clocuments concerning any matter that is irrelevaut to thc claims or defènses <lf

any party to this action, and not l'easonably calculatecl to lead to the disoovery of admissible

evidence.

(5) Yt¡suf'Yusuf objeots to the Rec¡uests f'or Adrnissions to the extent that they use

terms or phrases that are vague, atnbiguous, ol uudefìned, Yusuf Yusuf's responss to each sucli

reque.st will be basecl upon its rutderstanding of the request.

(6) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Requests f'crr Achnissious to the extent they seek

clocurnents or inl'orrnation not in the pclssession, custocly or control of Yusuf Yusu{; on the

ground that it woulcl subject it to rulclue burden, oppressiotr and expense, attd impose obligations

not required by the lìederal Rules of Civil Procedure.

(7) Yusuf Yusuf has not completecl either its discovery or its prepat'ation fìlr tlial of

this matter. Acco¡dingly, Yr,rsuf Yt¡suf-s responses to the Iìequests for Aclmissions at'e made

without prejuclioe to Yusuf Yusuls right to make âny use of, or profÏer at any hearing clr at trial,

ancl are based only upon infìrrmation presently available. If and as aclditional, non-privilegecl,
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responsive clocuments are discovered, these Requests for Admissions will be supplemented to

the extent that supplementation may be required by the F-ederal Rules of Civil Procedure.

(S) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Requests for Admissions to the extent that when all of

the subparts are included they are in excess of'the number permitted by Rule 33.

DU

{ND

l(xx)

Thom 50
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RESPONSES TO REOITES'IS FOI{ ADMISSIONS

L ADMI'| or DI'jNY that a Yusuf Family Member or menrbeÌs created the last page
of Bxhibit I attached heleto.

RESI'ONS!]:

Deny. l'he document was providecl by Scotiabank on or about fìebruary 3,2012 (as

indicatcd on last page 7 of 7).

2. ADMI'I'or DHNY that a Yusuf ïramily Menrber or mernbers gave Exhibit 1 to the
VI Police Department or other VI government personnel.

RESPONSE:

Adrnit, It is Yusuf Yusuf's recollectir:n that he obtained a physical copy dilectly lì'om
Scotiabank alter the discovery ol the cheok ltrr $460,000.00 in an ef:fort to investigate the matter.
It is also ¡rclssible that Sergeant Mark A. Corneiro reoeivecl a copy of it direotly fiorn Scotiabank
dtu'ing his investigation as well, Upon further incluiry, it is believed that the document was alsct

later secured liorn Scotiabank pursuant t<l a subpoena issued in the Ilarned v Yusuf, SX-12-CV-
370 (the "370 Case").

3. ADMI'| or DENY that ¿r Yusuf attorncy or attorueys gave lixhibit 1 to the VI
Police Department clr other VI government pelsonnel.

RIÌSPONSE,:

Admit. 11 is Yusuf YusuPs recoliection that he obtainerJ a physical copy clirectly
from Scotiabank after the cliscovery of the check for $460,000.00 in an effort to investigate the
matter, It is also possible that Sergeant Mark A. Corneiro receivecl a copy ol it clirectly fiom
Scotiabank clurin¡¡ his investigation as well. Mike Yusuf's recclllection is that Attorney DeWood
was present when the information was plovided to Selgeant M¿rrk A. Cc¡r'neircl.
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4, ADMIT or DENY that a Yusuf Family Member or members gave Exhibit I to
Scotiabank personnel.

RESPONSII:

Deny. 'fhe document was provided by Scotiabank and signed in the Sunny Isle Branch,

5. ADMIT or DENY that a Yusuf attorney or attorneys gave Exhibit I to Scotiabank
personnel,

RESPONSE:

Deny.

6. ADMÍI' or DËNY that Scotiabank personnel gave Exhibit I to a Yusuf Family
Member or members.

BFSPONSE:

Admit, The document was provided by Scotiabank and signed in the Sunny Isle Branch.

7, ADMIT or DENY that Scotiabank personnel gave Exhibit I to a Yusul'attorney
or attorneys.

RESPONSTI:

Deny except insofar as it may have been providcd pursuant to a subpoena issued in the
370 case.

8. ADMI'I or DIjNY that one or more members of the Yusuf F'amily created llxhibit
2 attached hereto.

RESPONSE:

Deny. The document was provided by Scotiabank.

DUDLEY, TOPPER

qND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1000 Freder¡ksbsrg Gads

P.o" Eox 756

Thomas, U,S, Vl. 00804-075ô

(040) 774-4422
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(). ADMIT or DENY that a Yusuf lìarnily Member or tnembers gave Exhibit 2 to the
VI Police l)epartment or other VI governmcnt personnel.

RESPONSE:

Deny as written. As with Exhibit l, it is Yusuf'Yusuls recollection that he obtained a
physical copy directly û'om Sootiabank after the cliscovery of the check l'or $460,000.00 in an
efTort to investigatc the rnatter, lt is also possible that Sergeant Mark A. Corneiro receíved it
copy of it diLectly from Scotiabank during his investigation as well. Mike Yusuls recollection is
that Attorney DeWood was present when the inlbrnration was provided to Scrgeant Mark A.
Corneiro.

10, ADMII'or D[]NY that a Yusuf'attorney or attorneys gave Exhibit 2 to the VI
Police Department or other VI government personnel.

RESPONSIÌ:

Admit. As with Exhibit l, it is Yusuf Yusuf s recollcction tltat ho obtained a physical
copy dileotly from Sootiabank af'ter the disoovery of the check tbr $460,000,00 in an effort to
investigate the matter as part of thc clocrunents the bank provided. lt i.s also possible that
Sergeant Mark A. Clolneiro received a copy of it directly from Sootiabank c'luring his
investigation as well. Mike Yusuf s recollection is that Attorney DeWood was present when thc
irrf'ormation was proviclecl to Scrgcant Mark A. Corneiro.

ll. AI)MI'['or I)IìNY that a Yusuf'Farnily Member or members gave Irxhibit 2 tcl

Scotiabank personnel.

RESPONSE:

Deny.

12. ADMI'I'or l)ENY tlìat a Yusuf attorney or attorneys g¿ìve l:]xhibit 2 to Scotiabank
personnel.

RIISPONSE:

Deny.

OUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG. LLP

t000 lïrc.roriksbrrrg Gûdo

F'.O. nor Xi6

Thomas, U$ V.l. tÐt04'0/50

(1401 774-'1422
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13. ADMIT' or DENY that Scotiabank personnel gave Exhibit 2 to a Yusuf Þ'amily
Membcr or members.

RESPONSE:

Admit. The document was provided by Scotiabank.

14. ADMIT or DIINY that Scotiabank personnel gave Exhibit 2 to a Yusuf attorney
or attorneys,

RESPONSE:

Deny except insofar as it may have been providecl pursuant to a subpoena issued in the
370 case.

15. After reviewing Exhibit 2, ADMIT or DENY that the card lists Maher Yusuf as

President.

RESR"9I.{S.E:

Admit.

16. ADMIT or DENY that Maher Yusuf is not the President of Plessen.

RESIÌ9NS.H:

Admit.

17. ADMIT or DENY that Maher Yusuf was the President of United Corporation.

RESPONSE:

Aclmit.

DUDLEY, TOPPER

ANO FEUEBZEIG, LLP

1000 FIed€r¡k8bêrg c¡ad€

P.O. gox 750

Thomâe, U.S. V.l. 00804'0756

(34O) 774-4422
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18. After reviewing Exhibit 2, ADMIT or DIINY that the signature card lists Waleed
I'lamed as General Manager.

RESPONSE:

Admit.

19. ADMIT or DENY that Waleed Hamecl was not the General Manager of Plessen,
but rather is its Vice-President.

RESPONSE:

Admit.

20. After reviewing Exhibit 2, ADMIT or DENY that all of'the positions listed fbr the
signators are the positions they held with United Corporation as represented on other United
signature cards at Scotiabank,

RIISPONSE:

Aclmitted as to everyone except Irathi Yusuf. Denied as to Fathi Yusuf.

21. After reviewing Exhibit 2, ADMIT or DENY that you (the person responding to
this Request) can see, as a non-expert, that the letter "O" in the phrase "One l{amed and One
Yusuf is in a different lont that the letter "O" in the words "Sion" and "St. Croix" above that on
the card.

RESI'ONSI}:

Denied, Ilespondel is without sufficient knowledge or information to determine what is
requested in this Request.

OUOLEY, TOPPEF

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

100o Frederikâberg Gade

P.O, 8or 756

Thomås, U.S V.l. 00804'0766

(34Or774-4422
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22. After rcvicwing Bxhibit 2, ADMI'Í' or DIINY that you can see, as a non-experl,
that the phrase "One Flamcd and One Yusuf'was r.vritten by a clifferent typewriter than that used
fbl the wol'ds "SioÍr" and o'St. Croix."

lllrl,SPONSIì:

Denied.

23. ADMI'I' or DLNY that a Yusuf'Farnily lvlember or mernbers aclclecl the phrase
"One l-l¿rmecl and One Yusuf' was typed on this carcl eithcr originally or at sotlre later tirne afier
tlre original was cre¿rted.

RESI'ONSE:

Denied. It was requestcd that this restriclion be ¿rdded to the aocount in e arly 201 2. Both
Mike Yusuf ancl Waleecl l{arned signed the lnfÌrrmation Ciathering Iìortn which showed this
restriction in the instructions at page 4 of 7,1116([l).

24. AI)MI't' or D[]NY that a Yusuf Family Mernber or members was prcsent wheu a

Scotiabank eruployee typecl thc phlase "One Ilamecl ancl One Yt¡suf'tr¡ this card.

RESPONSIT:

Denied. Mike Yusuf'cloos uot recall being pt'csent when the fbl'nl wa.s preparcd but rather
siniply going in to sign tire Irrfbrmation (i¿rtheriug }ìorm.

25, ADMII' or DllìNY that a Yursuf Farnily Menrber ot' rnonlbcrs has knowledge clf
when, by whonr of lrndcr what circulustances the phrase "One Hamed aud One Yusuf" was typecl

on this oarcl eithcr originally or thercafter,

RESPONSE:

I)eniecl, It was reclue.sted that this rcstriction bc addcd to the account in eatly 2012. Iloth
Mikc Yusul' ancJ Waleecl Ilamecl signed the Inf'ormation Gathering Form which sliowed this
lestriction in the instructions at page 4 of7, Tl6(lf). Mike Yusul'has no specifìc recolleclion as

to this parliculzrr carcl bnt sirnply l<n<lws that tlie request w¿ts tnacle and llto bank preparccl tlie
clocumenl.s.

DUDLET TOPPER

AND FEUEBZEIG, LLP

1000 Frodoriksborg Gada

P.O. Bóx 756

Thomas, U S, Vl 000044756

(340) 77¿-4422
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26. ADMIT or DENY that a Yusuf Family Member or members created Exhibit 3 as

attached hereto.

RESPONSE:

Deny.

27 . ADMIT or DENY that a Yusuf Family Member or members gave Ë,xhibit 3 to VI
government personnel.

RESPONSE:

Adrnit. As with IÌxhibit l, it is Yusuf Yusufs recollection tlrat he obtained a physical
copy directly from Scotiabank after the discovery of the check for $460,000.00 in an effort to
investigate the mattel as part of the documents they provided. It is also possible that Sergeant
Mark A. Corneiro received a copy of it directly from Scotiabank during his investigation as well.
It is Mike YusuPs recollection that Attorney DeWood was present when the information was
provided to Sergeant Mark A. Corneiro.

28. ADMIT or DENY that a Yusuf Yusuf attorney or attorneys gave Exhibit 3 to VI
government personnel.

R"ESPONSE:

Admit. As with Exhibit l, it is Yusuf Yusuf s recollection that he obtained a physical
copy directly from Scotiabank after the discovery of the check for $460,000.00 in an effort to
investigate the matter as part of the documents they provided. It is also possible that Sergeant
Mark A, Corneiro reseived a copy of it directly from Scotiabank during his investigation as well.
It is Mike Yusufls recollection that Attorney DeWood was present when the inf'ormation was
provided to Sergeant Mark A. Comeiro.

OUOLET TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1000 Frêderlksberg Gsdo

P.O. Box 756

Thomae, U.S. V.l. 008044756

(34O\ 774'4422
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29. ADMIT or DENY that a Yusuf Family Member or members gave Ilxhibit 3 to
!'lcotiabank personnel.

RESPONSE:

Deny.

30. ADMII or DENY that a Yusuf attorney or attorneys gave Exhibit 3 to Scotiabank
personnel.

RESPONSE:

Deny.

31. ADMI'I or DENY that Scotiabank personnel gave trxhibit 3 to a Yusuf Family
Member or members.

RE$_PONSE:

Admit. It was requestecl that this restriction be added to the account in early 2012. Both
Mike Yusuf and Waleecl l-lamed signed the Inf'ormation Gathering Fclrm which showed this
restriclion in the instructions at page 4 of 7,1116(B). Mike Yusuf has no specific recollection as

to this particular card but sirnply knows that the request was made and the lrank prepared the
documents.

32. ADMI1'or DENY that Scotiabank personnel gave Exhibit 3 to a Yusuf attorney
or attorneys.

IIESPONSE:

Deny except insofär as it may have been provided pursttant to a subpoena issued in the
370 case.

DUDLEY ÎOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

100o Frederik6bo¡9 Oads

P.O, ftox 750

Thomas, U.S, V.l, 00804-076ô

(9401774-4422
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33. Aftcr reviewing Exhibit 4, ADMI'I'or
Yusuf, Director of' Plcssen l-interpriscs, Inc. filed
Departrnent of "llnrbezzletnenl. by Fiducialies. "

IIESI'ONStr:

Admir. Mike Yusuf was also a shaleholder of Plessen at the time that he filecl the repoft.

34. ADMIT tlr DENY that on April 21, 2016, the Court in this Action entered a

Mcmoranclttnr Otclcr.

llEsPON$!li

Admitted, to the extent that an Orclcr was entered in this matter on April

21,201ó which the docket and record would otherwise reflect.

35. ADMII'oL DIìNY that in the Mern<¡randurn Ordel entered April 21,2016, the
Ciot¡tt statcd:

Accordin¡4 lo l(qlced':s Daclurulion: there have been no resolution,s of the
ßourd or veles by the shqrehoklers o.l'Plessan Enler¡tri.te.;^, Inc. thqt have
etcr chungecl lhe,ve lhree Direclor,r qs providcd Jbr in the articles of
incorporuliott oyu the lasl 2(t years." Delèndanls' Opp. (lixhibit 2).
Iialhi'.ç Declarulion concurri: "Until the Special Meeling rf the Board o/'
Directors'o./'Ples.ren u,¿ts hclcl on April 30,2014, there had been no
nteeting o/'the clireclot'.v ot' .shoreholders' ol' I'le ,tsen since íts .frtrmafion in
I 988,

IIBSPONSIT:

Aclmit that tlre excerpt is a collect quotation from the April 21,2016 Order.

DENY that "on May 17,2013, Mr. Maher
a repoft with the Virgin Islands Pcllice
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36. ADMIT or DENY that in this Action, Fathi Yusuf filed a s\ivorlt declaratiou, upon
his oatll ¿rnd uncler penalty ol. pcrjr.rry that: "Until the Special Mceting of'the Brtarcl ol Directors
ol Plessen was helcl on April 30,2\l4,there hacl been no meeting of the directors or shareholders
of Plessen since its f'ormation in 1988."

!!ESPONSE:

AdminecJ that the above excerpt is an accurate quotation frotn a declaration filed by Fathi
Yusuf.

37. ADMI1I or DENY that as of May 17,2013, no meeting of'the directors or
shareholders of Plessen had votecl Maher Yusuf in as a clirector o1 Plessen.

IIESI'ONSII:

Deny. Mike Yusuf was listed on the Ilusiness l,iccnse as a Direotor clf'Plessen in a fìling
that appears to have been rnacle by Waleed Hamecl.

3tl. ADMII'or DtiNY that as of May 17,2A13, Maher Yusuf did not have in his

¡rossession a consent clf l)irectors incleasing the size of the boarcl of directors lor Plessen above
three.

RESPONSE:

Deny as Mike YLlsuf rvas listecl as a Director on thc llusiness Lioense fbr Plessen in a

fìling that appears to have been maclc by Waleed II¿rmed and as the business was set up to have
eclual govcrnance by the two farnilies, Irurthermore, tlte Bylaws ltlr Plessen provicle as tcr

signatories on checks and bank <ilalts that: "If the Boarcl of Directors fails to designate persons

by whonr r:hecks.,,may be signed,.,all checks...for payment of money shall be signecl by the
President or ¿r Vioe Presiclent and countersigned by the Secretary or'l'reasurer.,," See Bylaws,
Artiolc V, Section 5, I (C),

DUDLEY, TOPPEF

AND FEUEBZEIG, LLP

1 O0O Frodor¡ksb€rg Gadê

tìO. Box 756

Ihomas, U.S Vl 00804-0756

(340\ 774-4422
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39. ADMII'or DENY that as of'May
or entity which hacl in its possession a consent
directors fbr Plessen above three.

RESPONSIT:

Deny as Mike Yusuf. was listed as a Dilestor on the Btniness License lbr Plessen and a$

tlrc business was set up to have equal g<-rvernance by the two farnilies. See olso, Response to
Request to Admit /138.

40. ADMI'I'or DENY that as of May 17,20t3, Mahcr Yusuf'clid not have in his
posssssiolì a consent of Directors making him a dircctor of'Plessen,

IìESPONSE:

Deny as Mike Yusuf was listed as a Director on the Ilusiness License fclr Ì)lessen ancl

the business was set up to have equal governance by the two làmilies, S'ec alrri, I{esponse
I{equest to Admit /f38.

17,2013, Mahel Yursuf clid

of Directors increasing the

41. ADMI'I'or DFINY that as of May 17,2013, M¿rher Yusul'did know of. any person

or entity whicli had in its possessiorl a consent of Directors a consent of Directors tnaking him a

director of Plessen.

ILItlSPONSlrl,:

Deny as Mike Yusuf was listecl as a Director on the Business License firr l)lesscn ancl

the business was set up to have equal governance by the two f'amilies. ^Sce c/,ro, Iìesponse
Ilequest to Adnrit 1138.

DUDLEY TOPPEB

AND FEUERZE}G, LLP

'1OOO Frodoriksb€rg Gadê

P.0. tux 7ti6

Thomas, L,.S V.l, 00804'0756

1340't 774-4422

know oI any person
size of'thc boald of

42. ADMI'I' or DENY that
Yusuf does not have in his possession
directors for Plessen above three.

RIìSI'ONSII:

Deny as Mike Yusuf was li.sted

the business was set up to li¿rvc cqual
Request to Admit #38.

as of' the clate of'the answe[s to these requests, M¿iher
a consent of Directors increasing the size o1'the board of'

as

to

as a Director oll the Business Liceuse fbr Plessen and ¿rs

governance by the two families. Sec ulso,lìesponse tcl

as

to
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43, ADMI'I' or DIINY that as of the date of' the answct's to tltese requests, MaheL
Yusul'does not know of any person or entity which had in its possession a consent of l)ircctors
incteasing the size ol'the boarcl of directclrs fìrl Plessen above three.

TìBSI'ONSE:

Deny as Mike Yusul'w¿rs listecl as a Director on the Business f .iccnse for Plessen and as

tlre btrsiness was set Lrp tt¡ have equal govornancc by the two larnilies, See also, Response tct

Iìequest to Admit i138.

44. ADMIT or DENY that as of the date of'the answet's to lhese requests, Maher
Yusuf'does not have in his possession a consent of Directot's making hinr a clirector of'Plessen.

IIESPONSE:

I)eny as Mike Yusuf was listed as a Director on the Bu.siness Lioense ltlr Plessen and as

the business was set up to lrave equal governance by the two farrilics, ,See al.s'o,l{esponse to
Ilequest to Admit 1/38,

45. ADMII' or Dh,NY that as of tho date of the answers to these requests, Maher
Yusuf does not know of'any person or entity which had in its p<lssession ä consent of Directors a

cclnsent of Directols making hirn a director of'l)lossen.

RIISPONSE:

Deny as Mike Yusuf 
"vas 

listecl as a Directclr on thc llusincss Liccn.sc fbr Plessen and as

the business was set up to have equal governance by the two f'amilies. ,Sce ctlso, [ì.esponse tr-r

Iìecluest to Admit #38. See cfuo, Iìesponse to lìequest to Admit //38.

46. ADMI'l' or DLìNY tliat Mahcr Yusufs representation, to thc Vl Police
Department, of'hirnself'as a director of Plessen on May l7 ,2013, was fàlse,

RIiSPONSB:

I)eny as Mike Ytrsuf was listed as a Director on the Rusiness License lbr Plessen and as

the business w¿ìs set up to have ec¡ual governance by thc two families,
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41. After revierving lJxhibit 4, ADMI'I' or DENY that "Attorney Nizar ì)eWood,
representing the Yusuf'Fanrily, provicled the fbllowing doouments" to the police investigator: (l)
l)epartment of Consurner AfTäirs print-ont with a list of corporate officers and (2) Copy ol'
Signature carcl fbr Plessen llnterprises, Inc. as of August 17,2009.

$ESI'ONSn:

Admitted in so far, as with Exhibit l, it is Yusuf'Yusuf s l'ecoller:tion that he obtainecl a

physical copy directly liom Scotiabank aller the discovery of the check for $460,000.00 in an

efTort to investig¿rte the m¿rtter as part of the dclcuments they provicled. It is also pos.sible that
Sergeant Mark A. Corneiro reccivccl a oopy of it clirectly fiom Sootiabank during his
investigation as well. It is Mike Yusuf's recollection that Attorney DeWood was present when
the information was prclvicled to Sergeant Mark A. Corneiro. Denied as to the rel'ercrlce to the
date August 17,2009.

48. ADMIT or I)ENY that the docunrent provided by DeWood to the police, the

"Department of' Consumcr AflÌrirs plint-out with a li.st of'corporate oflicors" was created by
filling oul a l'orm in a passworcl protccted, online DLCI,A, website.

RESPONSE:

Dcnied. '['he docurnent provicled by Attorney DeWood was secured by Mikc Yusuf who
requestecl ancl received a physical copy frorn the l)epartment clf l.icensìng and C)onsumer Affairs.

49. ADMII' or DIJNY that a Yusuf Family Member or someonc acting at the
direction of a Yusuf'Family Member st4rplied the infbrmation to the DLCA that Mahcr Yusuf
was a director o1'Plessen.

RESPONSF],:

Denied. 'l'he printout appears to inclioatc that Waleed Hamecl underlook to fìle the
inf'ormation as the last page indicates: Payment luf'orrnation, Billing Infbrmation, Irirst Name:
Waleccl, Last Narne: Harned, Card Type: VISA, Creclit Carcl Number .,.BIR Information: First
Name: Waleecl, Last Name: Ilarned, Relationship: Vice Prcsiclent. It fttlther reflects a payment
of $130.00 fìrr the periocl of 0I/0112013-01/31/2014. 'l'hc bottom of the page indicates that it
was lrlintecl cln clr about 211412013. Thal date rvas bef'ore any issrtes had arisen relating to the
$460,000.00 or the Yusuf--s learning of the check reported in May of 2014.
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50. ADMIT' or DENY that copy of the docrunent referred to a being a "Copy of
Signature card for Plessen Hnterprises, Inc. as of August 17, 2009" was actually an undated
document from Scotiabank titled "lnformation Gathering Fortn."

RFSPONSE:

Unable to aclmit or deny as to information that Sergeant Mark A. Corneiro may have
secured independently in his investigation. The Information Gathering Form appears on its face
to be dated 2/3112.

51, ADMI'| or DENY that before May 17,2016, Maher Yusuf went to Ssotiabank
and asked that a bank employee review the signature card on frle f'or Plessen's account.

IIESP-ONSD;

Denied.

52, ADMI'I' or DENY that before May 17, 2016, when Maher Yusuf
Scotiabank and asked that a bank employee review the signature oard on frle for
account, he was told that the account signature oard had three signatures.

IIESPONSE:

Denied,

DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1000 Frodorlksb€rg Gads

P.O. Box 750

Thomas, U.S. Vl. 00804-0756

(34o) 774-44?2

53. ADMI'I' or DENY that on Friday, May 10, 2013, Maher Yursuf' went to
Scotiabank and asked that a bank ernployee review the signature carcl on file for Plessen's
account.

$ESPONSE:

Deniecl as set forth. Yusuf Yusuf did request infornration fi:om Scotiabank regarding the
$460,000 check and the signature iustructions on ñle with the bank,

went to
Plessen's
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54. ADMIT or DENY that on Fliday, May 10, 2013, whetl Maher Yusuf went to
Scotiabank ancl askecl that a bank cnrployce review the signalure card on file for Plessen's
Account, he was told that the account signature oarcl hacl three signatures.

R}-SPONSE:

I)eniecl regalding the oontention as to what Mike Yusuf rvas told. Itather, Yusuf Yusuf
dicl request infbrmation fronr Scotiabank regarcling the $4ó0,000 oheck and the signatr.rre

instluctions on file with thc bank.

55, After rcviewing Exhibìt 4, ADMII'or DIrNY that neither Maher Yusuf'nol Nizar
DeWood suppliecf the VIPD with a copy of a three-signature Scotiabank aocclunt signature cartl
I'or Plessen,

IIII]SPONSE:

Aclmit as Mike Yusuf was not provided any thrce signature card by Scotiabank when he
iriquired. Iìuflhel responding, ihe Bylaws for Plessen provide as t<.1 siguatories on cheoks and
bank drafts that: "[f the l]oarcl ol'Directors fhils to designate pcrsons by whorn checks., ,may be
signed...all checks..,fì:r payment of money shall be signed by the Plesident or a Vice Presiderrt
aucl countersigned by the Secrelary or T'reasurer..." Sse lSylaws, Article V, Section 5.1(C). As
two llameds occupiecì the positiclns fbr President and Vicc President and l"athi Yusuf occupied
the position of Secretary and'l'reasure, this provision woulcl have recluired one llarned and one
Yusufì

5ó. ADMIT cir DENY that the olaims of crinrinal acts by Maher Yusufì raised <ln May
17,2014, resultecl in crirninal charges being brouglrt against Waleecl ancl Muf'eed l{amed in
Superiol Court Case Nos. SX-l 5-CR-353 and SX-15-CR-352.

RESI¡ONSII:

Admit.
DUDLEY, TOPPEH
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57. ADMIT or DIINY that both SX-15-CR-353 ancl SX-15-CR-352 were disnrissecl.

TìESPONSE:

Admit.
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58. ADMI'I'or DIINY that the reason the Territory of the tJ.S. Virgin Islarrcls gave in
its May 25,2016, motion to clismiss the criminal charges against Waleed and Mufeed Flamed
was: "the Peclple submit that, at this time, the people will be unable to sustain its burden of
proving the charges against the Defendants to a reasonable doubt,"
IIESPONSE:

Adnit that the criminal oharges were dismissed. Declarant is without information to
admit or deny whether the statement is an accurate quote of a statement made in a pleading,

59. ADMIT or DENY that Maher Yusul' falsifìed a version of Scotiabank's
Information Gathering Iorm submitted to that bank by typing in a clate on an undatecl document.

RIÌSPONSE:

Deniecl.

60. ADMIT or DENY that Maher Yusuf sent olÌe or more emails to grocery vendors
(suppliers) alleging that Wally and Mafi lIamed hacl been chargecl with a crime.

RESPONSE:

Deniecl.

OUOLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

10Oo Frêderìksberg GBdo

PO. Box 756

ThomÂs, U.S. V. l. 00904{)756

(34O)774-4422

61, ADMI'| or DBNY that other rnembers of the Yusuf F-amily scnt one or more
cmails to grocery vendors (suppliers) alleging that Wally and Mafi Hamecl hacl been charged
with a crinre.

RBSI'ONSE:

f)enied.



r.)

issions

Maher Yusuf met with one ol' more employees oï the VI
an article stating that 'Wally and Mafi l{arned had becn

a call from the Daily News but did not answer questions

embers of the Yusuf ï)amily other than Maher Ynsuf'met
Daily News to supply inforrnation for an article stating

harged with a crime.

equest to Admit #62.

ounsel for the Yusufs met with one or more employees of
ion fbr an article stating that Wally and Mafi llarned had

Request to Admit #62.

athi Yusuf has been convicted of a federal misdemeanor.

LJnited Cr:rporation has been convicted of'a felony at a

nt.
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67 . ADMIT or DENY that United Corporation has been convicted of a felony at a
time when Fathi Yusuf was a director.

RISPONSE:

Deny,

68. ADMIT or DENY that Maher Yusuf has lalsifred documents that he submitted to
the VIPD.

RESPONSE:

Deny,

69, ADMIT or DENY that Maher Yusuf has submitted falsified documents to the
VIPD.

RESPONSE:

Deny.

70. ADMII'or DIjNY that Maher Yusuf has I'alsified documents that he submitted to
Scotiabank.

RESPONSE:

Deny.

71, ADMIT or DENY that Maher Yusuf has submitted falsified clocuments to
Scotiabank.

RBSPONST]:

Deny.

OUDLEY' TOPPËR
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72. ADMII' or DENY that Maher Yusuf has acted with the cooperation of a
Scotiabank employee to insert or alter documents in Scotiabank's Plessen aocount records,

IìISPONSE:

Deny.

73. ADMIT or DENY that A Yusuf Family Member other than Maher Yusuf has
falsilied documents that he subrnitted to the VIPD.

RDSPONSE:

Deny.

74. ADMI'I' or DENY that A Ynsuf Family Member other than Maher Yusuf has
submitted falsified documents to the VII,D,

RESPONSE:

Deny.

75, ADMII' or DHNY that A Yusuf lramily Membel othcr than Maher Yusuf has
falsified documents that he subrnitted to Scotiabank.

RESPONSE:

Deny.

76. ADMIT or DENY that A Yusuf Family Member other than Maher Yusuf has
submitted fälsified documents to Scotiabank.

RX]SPONSE:

Deny,

DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP
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77. ADMI'| or DENY that a Yusuf' Iìamily Member other than Maher Yusuf has
acted with the cooperation of a Scotiabank employee to insert or alter documents or infolmation
in Scotiabank's Plessen account records.

RT]SPONSE:

Deny.

78. ADMIT or DENY that Maher Yusuf has been charged with a criminal felony.

RESPONSE:

Deny.

79. ADMII' or DENY that Maher Yusuf has been charged with a criminal act in a
jurisdiotion other than the U.S. Virgin Islands,

RESPONSE:

Deny.

80, ADMIT or DENY that a Yusuf Family Member other than Maher Yusuf has been
charged with a criminal act in a jurisdiction other than the U.S. Virgin Islands.

RESPONSE:

Deny.

8l, ADMI'I' or DLNY that on Apr\l 25, 2013, Superior Court Judge Douglas Brady
found the following with regard to the testimony of Maher Yusuf under oath in CIVIL NO. SX-
r2-CY-370:

In the first hearing day, Mahar Yusuf, President of lJnited Corporation
testihed under oath that he used the $2,784,106.25 withdrawn from the
Plaz.a llxtra operating account to buy three properties on St, Croix in the
narne of United. On the second hearing day, Mahar Yusuf contradicted his
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plior testimouy and aclnitted that those withdrawn funds haci actually bcen

rused to invest in businesses not owned by lJnited. . , ,"

RItrSPONSIi,:

Aclmit that thc above statement is a quotation from an April 25,2013 decisiorr of the
Courl" in CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370.

82. ADMIT or DIINY that witl'r regard to the testimony of Mahel Yusut uncler oath in
CIVII, NO. SX-12-CV-370 "In the first hearing c1ay, Mahar Yusuf, Presiclent ol Llnitecl
Corporaticln testified under oath that he used the $2,784,706.25 withdrawn fiorn the Plaza Flxtla
operating account to buy three properties on St. Croix in the name of United."

RESPONSE:

Adrnit that a portion of Mil<e YusuPs testinrony related to the $2,7114,106.25 withdrawn
fiom the Plaza l:ìxtra operating aocount. 'l'his exccrpt is the Cou('s paraphrase of Mike Yusuf's
testimony and is nclt a direct quote of his testimony. f)enied to the extent that it is inaccurate or
inoornplete as to Mike YusuPs testimony ou the subject.

83. ADMI'I'or DIrNY that with regard to the testimony of Maher Yusuf uncler oath in
CIVIL NO. SX-I2-CjV-370 "In the fìrst hearing clay, Maher Yusuf, Presiclent oÍ United
Corporation tcstified tnder oath that he used the $2,784,706.25 withdrawn fr:om the Plaza Extra
c'perating account to buy thlee propertios on St.. Cloix in the name ol lJniteci,"

IITJSI'ONSE:

Adrnit that a portion of Mikc Yusufls testinrony relatccl to the 52,784,706.25 withdrawn
fiorn the l'Iaza Extra clperating accoulìt. 'fhis excerpt is the Coutt's parapltrase of Mike Yusuls
testimony and is not ¿r ilirect quclte of his testimony. Denicd to the extent that it is inaccurate or
inconrplete as to Mike Yusuf's testirnony ort tlte subject.
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84. ADMIT or DENY that is was not true as stated by Maher Yusuf, on January 25,
2013, that United's President, Maher Yusuf, "used the $2,784,706.25 withdrawn from the Plaza
Extra operating account to buy three propefties on St. Croix in the name of Unitecl."

ßEËPqNSE

Denied as written. The funds were deposited and properties were thercafter purchased
using funds from the same acoount in which these funds were placed.

85, ADMIT or DENY that on January 25,2013, Maher Yusuf made a statement that
was not correct under oath.

RESPONSE:

Deny.
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clw)
DArED: December [|)rtu By:

copy of the foregoing PLAINTIFF YUSUF YUSUF'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT
MUFDED HAMED'S FIRST SET OF REQUESTS FOR ADMISSIONS to be served upon
the following via e-mail:

Mark W. Eckard, Esq. Jeffrey B.C, Moorhead, Esq.

Hnrvlvr & EcxnRn,llR C,R,T. Building
5030 Anchor 'r)Vay - Suite 13 I 132 King Street
Christiansted, St. Croix Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820-4692 U.S. Virgin Islands 00820
E-Mail: meckard@hammneckard.com E-Mail: jeffreymlawl@yahoo.com

D¡t__otnu, tn¡ii^}n Ïy",

It is hereby certified that on,hi, MTåay of l)cccnrhcr, 2016,l caused a true and exact

i
I CI.IAIII,OïI'II K: PERRELL

(V.L Bar #1281)
Law House
1000 Frederiksberg Gade - P.O. Box 756
St, Thomas, VI 00804-0756
Telephone: (340)715-4422
Facsimile: (340)715-4400
E-Mai[: cperrell@dtflaw.com

Attorneys for P lai ntiff's

R \DOCS\6254\4\DRFTPLDCì\ 6X9802 DOCX
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YUSUF YUSUF" F'AT'HI YUS[IF, FAWZIA YUSUF,
NDJEII YUSUF, and ZAYED YUSUI', in their
indiviclual capacities and derivatively on behalf of
PI,ESSEN ANTERPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiffs,

vs,

MOHAMMAD HÄMED, \ryALEED HAMED,
\A/A}TEED HAMED, MI.,I I-EI]D TIAMIID,
HISHAM ITAMED, FIVE-Ir HOLDINGS, INC., and
KAC357, INC.,

Defendants,

-ancl-

PLESSTDN IINTE,RPRISES, INC.,

Nominal Defendant.

IN 'I'HE ST]PIIIìIOR COI'RT OF TIIE VIIIGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

)
)
)
)

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

)

")

PLÂINTItr'F YUSUF YUSUF'S RESPONSES TO
MUFEED IIAMED'S FIRST INTERROGATORIES

Plaintiffì Yusuf Yusuf, thrclugh his attorneys, Dudley, 'l'opper and Feuerzeig, !i,,1,P,

hereby provides his Responses to Defendant Mufèed Ilamecl's First Set of lnterrogatorìes:

GENERAL OBJECTIONS

Yusuf' Yursuf makes the fbllowing general ob.jections to the Interr<lgatories. T'hese

general ot'¡jections apply to all or so many of the Intenogatories that, fùr connenierroe, tlrey are

set lbrth herein and are not necessarily repeated al'ter each objectionable lnterogatoly. '['he

DUDLEY, TOPPER

\NO FEUEFZEIG, LLP

10oO Frodêriksb€tg Gsds

P,O. Box 750

fhomas, U.S. V,l. 00004'0756
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cAsE NO. SX-13-CV-120

ACTION FOR DAMAGES,
DECI,AIìATORY ANI)
INJUNCT'IVE RELIEF'

JURY TRIAL DEMANDIII)
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assertion of the same, similar, or additional objections in the individual responses to the

Interrclgatories, or the fbilure to assert any additional objections to a discovery request does not

waive any of Yusuf Yusufls objections as set forth below:

(l) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Interrogatories to the extent they may impose

obligations dilferent from or in addition to those required uncler the Federal lìules of'Civil

Prclcedure.

(2) Yusuf Yusuf objects to each interrogatory that uses the words "any" and "all" as

being overly broad, rurduly burdensome, immaterial, irrelevant, and not rcasonably calculated to

lead to the discclvery of admissible evidence.

(3) Yusuf Yusuf'objects to the Interrogatories to the extent they seek ir-rformation

which is protected by the attorney-client privilege or work-procluct doctrine, including

infbnnation prepared in anticipation of litigation, or for trial, by or on behalf of Yusuf Yusuf or

relating to mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of its attorneys or

representatives, or any other applicable privilege or doctrine under federal or state statutory,

constitutional or common law. Yusuf Yusufs answers shall not include any information

protectecf by such privileges or doctrine, and docurnents or information inadvertently producecl

which includes such privileged infbrrnation shall not be deemed a waiver by Yusuf Yusuf of

such privilege or cloctrine.

DUDLEY, TOPPËR

TND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1000 F odor¡k8bÞrg Gado

P.O. Box 766

Thomas, U.S. V.l. 00804'0756

(s40r774.4422



Yusr¡lYusul', ct al. (v. Moltarn¡uacl l-larncd, ct a[,)
Casc No. SX-13-CV-120
l)la intill' Y usu l' Y usu f's llcs¡rorrscs to l)ctc'nclant
Mul-scd I lanlcd's ìrilsl lutcrnrgatorics
l'agc 3 of' l2

(4) Yusr.rl'Yusul'oticcts to the [nterrogatories to the extent that thcy seek information

fllld docLu"ìtents colrcenlit'tg äu1y mattcl'that is inelevant to the claims or delènses of any party tc)

this acfion, al"lcl not rcasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of adrnissible evidence.

(5) Yusuf Yusr¡l'objects to the Interrogatories t<l the extcnt that they use ter¡ns or

¡rhlases that are v¿tgrlc. arlbiguclus. ot undefined, Yusuf Yttsuf s respolìse to each such request

will be basccl uporr its unclcrstanclirrg of the request,

(6) Yusuf Yr.rsul'objccts to the Interrogalories to the extent they seek documents or'

inlirrnrafiolr not irr thc ¡:losscssion, custody orcontrol of Yusuf Yusuf', on the ground that it woulcJ

subicot him to uncluc burclen, oppression ancl expense, and inrpose obligations uot required by the

lìcclcral I(ulcs of' Civil l'roccdurc.

(7) Yusul'YusLrf'has llot completed either its cliscovcry or its pleparation for trial of'

this nrattcr', Accorditrgly. \'usul'YL¡suls responses to the Interrogatories ¿rre mac'le without

prc.iuclicc to Yusuf'Yusul's right to rnake any use of, or proffer at any hearing or at trial, and are

basocl onl)/ upon inltrlnrati<ln ¡r'escntly available. If and as aclditional, notr-privileged, responsirre

dr>curncnts arc cliscovcrcd, tlrcsc lnterrogatories rvill be supplementecl to lhe extent that

su¡r¡rlcmcntation ruay bc rec¡uilccl b), the Federal Rules of Civíl Ptoceclure.

(tl) Yusul' Yusuf' ob.iccts tcl the lnterrogatories to the extettt that rvhen all of' the

subparts are incluclctl thcy arc in oxccss of the number pennitted by lìtrle 33.

DUDLEY. TOPPEF

IND FEUËBZEIG, LLP
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INTERROGATORIES AND RESPONSES

ly Member or any Yusuf
People v Mufeed Hamed,

there were
Attorney ha
formation fr

INT4RR9GATORY No. 1

Please Identify atl Scoliabank personnel that any Yusuf F'amì

attorney from 2013 to the present had contact with in connection with
SX-15-Cll-352 and/or People v lilaleed Hamed, SX-15-CR-353.

RESIIONSE:

Subjer:t to the above stated objeotions, Plaintiff shows that
employees from Scotiabank that any Yusuf l¡amily Member or Yusuf
relating to the two cases referenoed. Rather, Yusuf Yusuf'requested in
happened to be present at the bank when he inquired.

oU

AND

t000

Thom 50



Yusuf Yusuf, et al. (v. Mohammad l{amed, et al.)
Case No. SX-13-CV-120
Plaintiff Yusuf Yusufs Responses to l)efendant
Mufeed Hamed's First Interrogatories
Page 5 of 12

INTDRROGATORY NO.2

Please Identify any and all Scotiabank personnel that any Yusuf Family Member or
Yusuf attorney from 2013 to the present had contact with regarding the March 27,2013
withdrawal of $460,000, check number 0376, from Plessen's Aocount.

RIìSRONSE:

Subject to the above stated objections, Plaintiff shows that there \ryere no partioular'

employees from sootiabank that any Yusuf Family Member or Yusuf Attorney had contact with
relating to the two cases referenced. Rather, Yusuf Yusuf requested inf'ormation fr<¡m whomever
happened to be present at the bank when he inquired.

DUDLET TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1000 Frsdoriksborg Gãdô

P.O, gox 756

Thomså, U.S. V,l. 000O'l'0750

lw't774-4422



Yusuf Yusuf, et al. (v. Mohamtnad Hamed, et al,)
Case No. SX-13-CV- 120

Plaintiff Yusuf Yusufs Responses to DefìEndant

Mufeed Ilamed's First Interrogatories
Page 6 of 12

INT]ERROGA'I]ORY NQ,3

Please lctentify the source of the document marked lùxhihit l, how it came into the

possession of any Yusul'Farnily Member or Yusttf attorney, when it came into possession of any

Yusuf lramily Member or Yusuf attorney and the icìentity of who provided it to the Government
of the Virgin Islands.

RESIIONSE:

It is Yusuf Yusuf s recollection that he obtained a physical copy directly from Scotiabank

after the discovery of the check for $460,000.00 in an effofl to investigate the matter. It is also

possible that Sergeant Mark A. Corneiro received a copy of it directly flom Scotiabank duling
his investigation as well. It is Mike Yusul's reoollection that Attorney DeWood was present

when the information was provided to Sergeant Mark A. C)orneiro'

l.lpon further inc¡uiry, it is believed that the document was also later secured from

Scotiabank pursuant to a subpoena issued in the llamed v Yusul) SX-12-CV-370 (the "370
Ca.se").

DUDLEY, TOPPEF

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

100o Frêderlksborg Gadô

P.O. Box 766

Thomas, U.S V.l, 00804'075ô

(g4ol 774-4422





Yusuf Yusuf, et al. (v. Mohammad l{arned, et al.)
Case No. SX-13-CV-120
PlaintítTYusuf Yusuf s Responses to Del'endant
Mufeed Hamed's First lnterrogalories
Page 8 of l2

INTERIIOGATORY NO. 5

Please Identify the source of the document marked Exhibit 3, how it came into the
possession of any Yusul Family Member or Yusuf attorney and when it came into possession of
any YusufFamily Member or Yusuf attorney

RESPONSE:

It is Yusufl Yusuf s recollection that he obtained a physical oopy directly frorn Scotiabank
after the discovery of the check for $460,000.00 in an effort to investigate the matter. It is also
possible that Sergeant Mark A. Corneiro received a copy of it directly fiom Scotiabank during
his investigation as well. It is Mike Yusufs recollection that Attorney DeWood was present

when the information was provided to Sergeant Mark A. Corneiro.

Upon further inquiry, it is believed that the document was also later secured frorn
Scotiabank pursuant to a subpoena issued in the Hamed v Yusu/) SX-12-CV-370 (the "370
Case").

DUOLEY, TOPPEF

AND FEUERZEIG, LIP

1000 FrodGr¡ksberg Gade

P.O. Box 7ã6

Thomrs, u.S. vl, 00604'0756

(s40r 774-4422



Yusuf Yusut et al. (v. Mohatntnad Hamed, et al.)
Case No. SX-13-CV-120
Plaintiff Yusuf Yusufls Responses to Defbndant
Mu feecl Hamed's First Interrogatories
Page 9 of 12

INTERROGAII]ORY NO.6

V/ith regard to the Request To Aclmit that asks the followingi *ADMIT or DENY thal a

Yusuf h-amíly Member or ntembers has knowledge of when, by whom or under whut

circumstances the phrase " One Hqmed and One Yu,suf" to this card' Describe with particularity
ancl with reference to any related documents when, by whom and under what circumstanoes the

phrase "One Ifamed and One Yusuf' was typed on the Signature Card that is Exhibit 2 thereto.

RI}SPONSE:

It was requested that this restriction bc added to the account in early 2012,Iloth Mike
Yusuf ancl Waleed Hamed signed the Information Gathering Form which showed this restriction
in the instructions at page 4 of 7,116(B). Mike Yusuf has no specific recollection as to this
particular card but simply knows that the request was made and the bank plepared the

documents.

DUOLET TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

l0OO Frodêrlksborg Gsdê

P'o. Box 756

Thomas, U,S V.l. 00004{756

(s4o1774-4422



Yusuf Yusuf', et al, (v. Mohatnlnacl llarrred, ct al.)
Casc No. SX-t3-CV-120
Plaint i fi Y usu f Yusu I s llespotrscs to Dcfcndant
Muf-ccd Hamed's F irst lnterrogntories
Page l0 of 12

INTERROCATORY NO. 7

Describe, with particularity as to dates and persons or documents present, all meetings,

conlèrences or contntunications between any member of the Yusuf F'amily and Scotiabank, the

VI Daily News, the VIPD, alìy other VI Cìoverntnent official, regarding the alleged

embezzlement fiom the Plessen Account.

RESPONSE:

As tcl any meetings with scotiabank, there were llo meetings per .\e, rathet', it is Yusuf
Yusul.s recollectir¡n that he obtained a physical copy clirectly Ii'onl Scotiabank after the

discovery of the check for$460,000.00 in aneffortto investigate the matter. Mike Yustrf hacl no

particular contact with any specific individual but simply tnacle thc request to whomever was

prescnt at the bank at the time.

'l'here was no meeting with the VI Daily News. Mike Yusuf rer:eived a call fì'om them,

answerecl n<.r c¡uestions and referred them to the V.I,P.D.

Mikc Yusul:clid file a report ancl met with Sergeant Mark A. C)orneiro. It is Mike Yusuf s

reoollection that Attorney DeWo<ld was present when the information was provided to Sergeant

Mark A. Clorneiro. Mikc Yusuf recalls that there were a few calls between hirnself and Sergeant

Corneilo, Sergeant Corueiro unclettogk his own investigation as well.

'fhe documents reoeived were those set forth in lixhibits I,2 and 3. Mike Yusul also

obtainecl a copy c¡f the Department of Consumcr Affairs Print-Out clated February 14,2013 fionr
that ofIìce directly,

DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

'1000 Fr0rreriksb8rg Gad€

P.O Box 7{iô

Thomas, US Vl 00804'0/56

(340ì. 774-4422



Yusuf Yusuf, ct ol. (v. Mohammad H¡mcd' et nl.)
Casc No. SX"l3-CV-120
Plointiff Yusuf Yusufs Rcsponscs to Dcfcndont
Mulecd Hamcd's First lntcrogotorir:s
Pagellof12

vER¡r'rcaËoN

I hereby cenify under penalty of perjury that the foqts contained in each of the foregoing
responses to inlenogatories r¡re true and correcl to the best of my knowledge, information and

TERRTTORY OF THE U,S. VIRCIN ISLANDS

On this, the $$ay o before me, thê underslgned officer,
personally appcared Yusuf Yusuf, known to me rily proven) to be the person whose

name is subscribed to the within document and acknowledged that he/she executed the same for
the purpose therein contained.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, t hereunto set myhand



Yusuf Y ad lJanted, et al.)
Case No
Plaintiff es to Defendant
Mufeed tories
Page 12

DATED:

lì
,,.t..1 V\-/

f)eccmber 'i [ )zolo rll..Dt.

. Duulny, ToplBR AND FDUERzEIG, LLP

copy of the foregoing PLAINTIFF YUSUF YUSUF'S RESPONSES TO DEFENDANT
MUFEED HAMED'S FIIIST INTERROGATORIES to be served upon the following via e-

mail:

It is hereby cerlified that on this YI " day of December, 2016, I caused a true and exact

(V.I. Bar #1281)
Law House
1000 Frederiksberg Gade - P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, VI 00804-0756
Telephone: (340)715-4422
F'acsimile: (340)715-4400
E-Mail: cpemell@,dtflaw.com

Attorneys for P laintiffs

Mark W. Eckard, Esq.
Hnnnvl & EcrlRo, t,t,r
5030 Anchor V/ay - Suite 13

Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820-4692
E-Mail : meckardldhammneckard.com

DU

AND

1000

Thom 56

)

.leffrey B.C. Moorhead, Esq.

C.lì.T. Building
I 132 King Street
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin lslands 00820
E-Mail : jeffreymlgw@yahoo.com
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YUSUF'YUSUF, FATHI YUSUF, FAWZI^A YUSUF,
NIIJEH YUSUF, andZAYI,D YUSUF, in their'
individual capacities and derivatively on behalf of
PLESSEN ENTEIIPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiffs,

vs,

MOHAMMAD HAMED, WALIIED IIAMED,
WAIIEED HAMT',D, MUF'EII,D HAMtr]D,
HISHAM IiAMED, FIVE-H HOLDINGS,INC., and
KAC357, INC.,

I)elènclants,

-and-

PI,ESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Nominal Def'endant.

IN THE SUPT]RIOR COIJRT OF T'HII VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISTON OF ST. CROIX

)
)

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

-)

PLAINT'IFF YUSUF YUSUF'S RUI,E 34
RESPONSI{I TO MUFEED IIAMED'S FIRST

REOUEST r:OR PRODIiCTION OF DOCUMBNTS

Plaintiff, Yusuf Yusuf, through its attorneys, I)udley, T'opper and Feuerzeig, [,]-,P, hereby

submits its Rule 34 Ilesponse to Defendant Mufeed Harned's First Request f'or Producticln of

f)ocuments. This Respouse is being subrnitted pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 34, as applied to this

Coufl by Superior Court Rule 7.

DUOLEY, TOPPEF

rND FEUEBZEIG, LLP

'lo0O Fr€d€rlksberg GRde

P.O, Box 756

lhôrnes, U.s. V.l. 00804'0756

(3401 774-4422

CASE NO. SX-T3.CV-I2O

ACTION FOR DAMAGI'S,
DECI,ARATOIIY AND
INJUNCTIVE REI,IEF

.IUIIY'TRIAI, DEMÄNDED



Yusuf Yusuf, et al. (v. Mohanrnrad Flarned, et al.)
Case No. SX-13-CV-120
Plaintiff Yusuf Yusuls Iì.ule 34 Response to Muflced lìamed's
First Request for Produclion of Docutnents
Page 2 of l9

GENEIìAL OBJECTIONS

l. Yusuf Yusuf objects to each demand that uses the words "any" and "all" as being

overbroacl, unduly burdensome, immaterial, irrelevant, and not rea.sonably calculatecl to lead to

the discovery of admissible evidense.

2. Yusuf Yusuf objects to each demand that uses terms like "any," "all," "relate to,"

"regarding," and "perlaining to," with respect to general categories of documents on the grounds

that the use of such terms makes the demand vague and overbroacl.

3. Yusuf Yusuf objects to each denrancl to the extent it seeks the production of

documents or information protected by the attorney-client, work procluct or clther privileges.

Only non-privileged documents, or portions thereof, will be procluced.

4. Yusuf Yusuf objects to each demand to the extent that it uses terms or phrases

that are vague, ambiguous, or undefined. Yusuf Yusuf s rcsponse to eaoh such demand is based

upon its understancling of the dernand,

-5. Yusuf Yusuf objects to each demand that asks for documents that fall outside the

scope of this litigation. 'fo the extent the demands seek prr:duction of such dclouments, the

demands irnpose an undue burden and expense. Futther, such doouments are irrelevant,

immaterial, and not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

OUDLEY, TOPPER

iND FEUERZEIG, LLP

l00o Frodôr¡k3bsrg GÉdo

P.O. Box 756

fhomas, U.S. V.l. 00804'0756

(3401 774-1422



Yusuf Yusuf, et al. (v. Mohammad l-lanred, ct al.)
Case No. SX-13-CV-120
PlaintifÏYusuf Yusuls Rule 34 lìes¡ronse to Mufeed Hamed's
First Request for Production of Docurnents
Page 3 of 19

6. Yusuf Yusuf objects to each demand to the extent it requires the procluction of

documents c¡utside of its possession, custody or control,

7 . Yusuf Yusuf is continuing its efforts to identily non-privileged documents that are

responsive to plaintilf s demand f'or production. Consequently, the documents produced may be

supplementecl.

8. Yusuf Yusuf objeots to the production of any d<lcuments prior to the entry of'a

confidentiality agreement and order,

9, Each document Yusuf Yusuf produces is subject to all of the abovc general

objections and all specifrc objections listed below. Inadvertent production of' privileged

documents shall not be deemed a waiver.

10. Yusuf Yusuf incorporates by reference its generâl and specifìc objections made to

these document tequests in its August 13,2013 Objections to Plaintiff s l)emand fbr Production

of f)ocuments.

ou

rND

1 000

Íhom 56



Yusuf Yusuf, et al. (v. Mohammad Harned, et al.)
Ca.se No. SX- l3-CV- 120

Plaintiff'Yusuf Yusuf's llulc 3.1 f{esponsc to Mufeed llarred's
t-ilst Request lor Pt'odt¡ction ol Documents
Page4ofl9

RESPONSE TO ITEQUESTS
F'OIì PRODT]CT'ION O}' DOCUMENTS

l. Please provide all cloouments supporting your contelìlion ir"r the f.rrst paragraph of
your amencled complaint that "lhe unaulhorizcd withclrawul hy LValeed and Mufbed of 8460,000
Jì'om Plessen's hank uccoun4 re¡tresenl[sJ upproxinxqrely 99 percenl (99%) of lhe ntonies on
deposil in thctl ctccount."

RIISPONSE:

Sec document.s procltrced in I[umed y, Yu.çuf'(SX-12-CV-370) bate-stamped IrY 10263 -

10402, and specifioally Ì"Y 010328 - 010342. If additional copies need to be provided please
advise and they will be producecl.

2. Plcase provide all documents supporting your contenlion in tbe secclnd paragraph
of y<rur atnended cornplaint that"[t]he Yusufl hring thi,ç action againsl lubhummad and. Waleed

for breuch oJ'their /idttt:iury dutie,ç as clirec:lcn's' und oficers o./' Plesscn.for . . (2) upprot,ing ct

3)-year leuse of Ples,tan's'mosl vuluuble reul eslale to KAC'357 (lhe "Lea,se") al below ntarket
rcttlal rales ctnd on olher lcrms' udvers'e lo Ples'sen. . ."

IIESPONSIT:

Sec 120-YY-0001 I - 00028, 00218 00220,00221 "00224,00235 - 00238, 00240 -
40212.

3. Please provide all dosurnents slU)porting your coutention in thc seconcl paragraph
of your amendecl complaint that"ftJhe )'usús bring thís action aguinsl Mohcmtmud anc{ lluleecl
./or hreach c¡/'their ./ìduciary cluties as directot's and o./Jicers oJ' Pl.essen fbr. , .(3) ,fuiling to
s'chedule or hold any rneeting rf' shareholdcr,s .[or decade,v in r¡rder to twoid an election oJ'
direc:tor¡^ und pe rpetuctte conlrttl by tlte. I[urne.cl interesfs over lhe ßoard oJ'Direclors of'Pless'cn."

IìESPONSII]:

Sec 120-YY-00004 - 000217,00218 0Q224,00240 -00272.

4. Please plovide all cloouments suppol'tiug your coutention in the l2thparagraph of'
your anìendecl corrplaint thal "[i.Jn lhe 25 year,s belwcen Januury 31, 1989 and April 30,20]4,
thare were on[y ¡yt1¡ nrcelings oJ' ['les',sen's Board ¡¡f' Direc'lt¡r,s und nt¡ maelings rf' it,t
s'hareholders, unnuctl r¡r olheru,ise.for lhe ap¡toinlnrenl oíclireclor,s ctf'['le.ssen."

DUDLEY, TOPPEB

\ND FEUEEZEIG, LLP

1000 Frederlksbarg Qado

PO. Box 756

Ihomås, U S. Vl. 00804-0756

(s1cl 774-4422



Yusuf Yusu[, et al. (v. Mohammad tlamed, et al.)
Case No. SX-13-CV-120
Plaintiff Yusuf Yusufls lìule 34 Response to Mufeed Hamed's
First Request for Produotion of Documents
Page5ofl9

RESPONSE:

See I 20-YY-00004 - 00024, 00029 - 00217, 00267 - 00272.

5, Please provide all documents supporting your contention in the l4th paragraph of
your amcnded complaint that "[aJ/ier Plessen's Jitrmation, qn addÌtional seat on the Board was
crealed, . .".

RESPONSE:

See 120-YY-00025 -- 00028.

6. Please provide all documents supporting your oontention in the l4th paragraph of
your amended complaint that "Maher was added as a direclor" [to the I'lessen ßoardJ."

RESPONSE:

See 120-YY-00025 - 00028.

7. Please provide all documents supporting your contention in the l4th
paragraph of your amendecl complaint thal. " [tJhe current members of Plessen's Board are
Mohammad, llaleed, Fathi, and Maher."

RESPQNSD:

See 120-YY-00025 - 00028.

8. Please provide all clocuments supporting your contention in the l6th paragraph of
your ¿unended complaint that "Plessen is owned tn equal shares by the Yusufs and Hameds, i.e.,
the Yusufs collectively own 50'% o/' the outslanding shares of Plessen and the lTctmeds
collectively own the other halfJ'

RESPONSE:

See 120-YY-00004 - 00024,00029 - 00217.

DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

looo Frodolksb€rg Gade

P.O. Box 750

Thomas, U,S, V.l' 00804'o76t

13401774-4ø.22



Yusuf Yusul; et al. (v. Mohammad Haured, et al.)
Clse No, SX-13-CV-120
Plaintiff Yusuf Yusuf's Rule 34 lìesponsc to Mufeecl Harncd's
[rirst Request fbr Production of l)oculnent.s
Page 6 of 19

(). Please provide all docunrents supporting your contctìtion in thc lTth paragrapli of'
yolrr amencled cclmplaint that "ll'he Ylus'u.fi ura sharch<¡lders o./'Ple,ss'en, were s'hareho[dcr,:; ç.1'

Ple,çsen at the lime tf' the wrongcloing alleged herein, have heen shareholders oJ' I>le,ssen

crsnlinuou,çly ,rince thal tinte, and will contitrue to he ,vhqreholclers of Plessen throughout the
pendency o.f this action."

RESPONSE:

See 120-YY-00004 - 00024, 00029 - 00217,

10. Please provicle all documcnts supporting youl contention in the l9th paragraph of'
your amended complaint that "Upon inJttrrnation and belie/,' l4/ctlecd is' the Presidcnt oJ'l;'ive-H
and one o.f it,s principal beneficial owners. (lpon inJbrmalion and belíef, IVctheecl, Mufeed, und
Hishant are al.l o,ft'ìc'ers andbene,ficial otuners o.f Five-H."

RESI'ONSE:

T'o be supplemented.

I l. Please provide all clocurnents supporting your contention in the 22ncJ paragraph ol
your amended cclrnplaint that "After Ple.tsen's inc<trporatbn qnd des¡tite lhe t'àilure lc¡ hold u
.[ttrmal ,çharelwlders' meeting tu elecl ct lJoard rl'Directors'/itr Plessen, Mr¡hammacl, Wuleed ant]
Fatlzi agreed to acld Muher a,s aJ'ourth director r¿f Plcssan."

RESPONSIT:

Sec 120-YY-00025 -00028, 00225 00234,000273 - 00284.

12. Please provide all documenls supporting your contention in the 23rd paraglaph ol
your anìenclecl complaint tlrat "'l-hi,ç ugream.enl u,us desig,ne.ct lo allow both .fcrmilie,y to joinlly
munage Pless'en,.jusl cts hoth/àmilics have clone in lhcir other iointly owned corporatictns."

RESPONSE:

See I 20-YY-00004 - 00024, 00025 -- 0021? ,00225 - 00234,000273 - 00284.

OUDLËY, TOPPER

\ND FEUEBZEIG, LLP

1000 Fredolksborg Gads

P,O Box 756

Thoilas, I,J,S. V,l. 00004'0756

(34O) 774-4422



Yusuf Yusuf, et al. (v. Mohammad l-larned, et al.)
Case No. SX-13-CV-120
Plaintiff Yusuf Yusuf s Rule 34 Response to Mufeed Ilatnecl's
First Request for Production of Documents
Page 7 of 19

13. Please provide all documents supporting your contention in the 24th paragl'aph of
your amended complaint that "24. On or about Maroh 27,2013, Yusuf paid with his personal
Ilanco Popular Visa credit card the 2011 real property taxes of Plessen,"

RESPONSE:

To be supplemented.

14. Please provide all documents supporting your conteution in the 25th paragraph of
your amended complaint that "Yusuf was' reimhursed J'or such pqyment by way of'a check drqwn
on Ple,ssen's bank accounl with Scotiabank."

RESPONSE:

To be supplemented.

15, Please provide all documents supporting yout contention in the 26lh paragraph ol
your amended complaint that "flowever, Yusuf was subsequently inJìtrmed that anemployee o/'
Scotiahank called Fathi to inform him that the check made to pay YusuJ's Banco Popular Visa

credit card accou.nt would nol be honored, i.e., the check would bounce, because of insfficient
funds in Plessen's Scotiabank account."

RESI'ONSE:

See documents produced in I{amed v. Yu,suJ'(SX-|Z-CV-370) bate-stamped [tY 10263 -
10402, and specifrcally FY 010328 - 010342.

OUDLEY, TOPPER

\ND FEUEFZEIG, LLP

1 000 Fr€deriksbôrg Gado

P.O, Box 760

Tlìomas, U S. V.l. 0080+0756

(?4Ù',t 774"t422

16. Please provide all documents supporting your contention in the 2Tthparugraph of
your amended complaint that "Yusuf then reviewed Plessen's bank slalemenls. . ."

RESPONSE:

See Response to Request No. 15 above.



Yusul'Yusufl et al. (v. Moharnrnacl Haned, et al.)
Case Nt¡. SX-I3-CV-l20
I'laintill'YusuIYusuf s tlule 34 lìesponse to Mufieed Hamed's
First l{ec¡uest lirt' Production oí Dcrcurnents
PageSofl9

17. Please provide all clocuments supporting your conlt:ntiolt in the 28th paraglaph o1'

your amentled cornplainl that "YusuJ'suhsequently l.eorned thul llaleed used lhe mi.sctltpropriuted
money to purchctse commeÍ'cial property on lhe Eqsl Lnd <l'St. Thomas in lhe neme o./" Fit,e-l-l
where u store nan'ted Moe's F'resh Mcu'ket was latar opened und ís now operalin¿¡."

Rts,SPONSII:

'l-o be supplemented.

18. Please provide all clocuments supporling yout contention in the 29th paragraph of
your anrended complaint that "On April 16,2013, I'usu/,' i¡'1 ¡'es:pon,se lo Walced huvin¡¡
uhsconded v,íth I>les,çen cor¡toralc .funds, cotÍ.nxe nced lhi,ç ucÍiott r¡n hehalf o.l'the corporctlic¡n lo
recover lhe mi,sult¡tro¡triatcd sum o,f- 8460,00() und .for other relie./. 'l'hree doys later, afier
learnín¡¡ of'the lau,suil, the indíviducrl dafendetnts cctu,çed hal.f'o/'lhe amr¡unl mi,suppropriuted -
i.e., 823(),000 to be de¡to.sited into the regi,rtry ofthis (,'ourl. A nolice tr¡ thctt elfecl was s'erved
ttn ct¡un,sel .for Yusu{ in this' cu.se."

IIJSPONSII:

Defendants are already in possession of thc docunrents responsive to this request.

19. Please provicle all cloonrnents supporting your contentioo in the 3Oth paragraph of
your anrerrcìecl complaint that "On A¡tril 1,2015, almctst twt¡ yectrs later, the individual
defendunls caused the remuinder of'the tni,sappropriated,funds - i.e,, 8230,()00 - to be depo,s'ilerl

inlo the ragislry of'this Cotu't. A notice lo the e/J'ecr wus servctl on counsel/or Yusuf in this cqse."

tìIiSPONSIt):

See Response to Request No. l8 above.

20, Please provide all documents surppolting yout contention in thc 33rc'l paragraph of
yorìr anrcndccl conrplaint that "Íi'urthcr, thc [-lamctls'ancl þ'iva-ll, among olher im¡troper act.t,
huye índíviùtall¡'ond c:ollectively r.thtctined the l¡enelìt, u.\e clûd enjo.tttncnt o/'Ples'sen's'
núsctppro¡triated,funds h.,- u,s'ing the,s'e fimds, upotl infin'rnation nnd belíe./i tct purchu,s'e real es(cttc

on which the Ilctnætls nr¡u, operate o nely gt'oL;ery,sl<n'e. und mcu'ket c¿tlled Moe's' F'reslt Market,
u,ilh lhc.seed ntr¡ne.y ¡trovide.d lsst [yo¡tnU's unaulhot'ized clt'atv on I'le,s,sen's hank uc'counl,"

DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1 o0o Frêdo¡iksb€rg Gsds

P,O Aox 750

Thomas, (1.S. V.l. 00S04'0756

(34O) 774-4422
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RESPONSIì:

To be supplemeutcd.

21. Ple¿rse provide all documents srlpporting your conterìtiol1 in the 3Bth paragraph of
yorrr anrerrclccl conrplaint that "(iive.n thc April 30,2014 deadline to./ile a com¡taling plan und the

.fuct fhul lhe l'les'.s'en propert.y oc:<:upíed bv I''lazq [ìxiru-lle.st wus nol tx¡vercd by un7, Iectse,

Mohammcul and l4:'aleed realized llwt they needed lo Lts's'erl u ktng ta lnt leus'ehold interest in
such pro¡terty i.f they werc going to he uble lo e.fJactively c:onÍrol lhe clis¡to:silion o.f'rhe l>luzu
Iixtt'u-Wcst stora.. According!¡,, üt April o/'2011, thc Hameds'con,s¡tired umongs'l themselves to
cnginecr thi,s bogu S¡tuciul lvfceting uncl miaue lhe corprtrule machirrcry ¡,f'l)lc,s',sen to give ct

ne.wly./itrmed. Ilctnrcc{ conü'olled corporution - KAC357 - tlrc l,ca.se covcrin¿¡ thc ¡trcmis'e,r
oc'ctt¡siet[ h.v I'laza lixtru þVes|,"

RIÙSPONSE:

See. I 20-YY-00218 00224,00235 - 00272.

72. Plcase provide all clocuments supporting yclur contention in the 39th parzrgraph of
your amerìclecl cornplairrt tlial "'l'o ui:t'ont¡tlish this improper purposa, the I[umet{s' culled yvhut

u,as r¡nb'tha secr¡ncl ßoard o,f'Direclor"s nrceting in the 25-.yacu' hislor.y o.f Ple.s,s'en on 2 cla.y,ç

ttolice in rtrtlcr lo u¡4.tr<tvc lhc Letsc lltul benefi.tted. the ¡ter:;onctl intares'1,; rl' the IIanrccl
clirect<tr.s', cmcl thut the Yu.s'ufs hud not secn ltalin'e. und hud ub,çolulel.v rut knowledge ub<ntt. . ."

}ìESPONSE:

Sce Resporlse to llcquest No, 2l above,

DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

l0C0 Frodorlksbero Gêdê

f'.O. Box 75õ

Thomas, U.S. Vl. 008C4'0756

(340't 7t4'4422

23. Ple¿ise proviclc all documents
your arnended corn¡rlaint that "cvcn llnugh
uncl,si¡¡ned all other Plesscn lcilses."

RIISPONSE:

See 120-YY-00004 - 00024. 00029 - A02n .

supporting your contention in the 39th paragraph ol'
l;'ullti vt,u,t; the o.flìcer ctf Ple s'.s'ctt u,hr¡ hqd nagoticrtccl
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24. Plcasc provicle all clocunrerlts slrpporling your contctìtioll in thc 40th paraglaph ol'
your arnenclccl complaint tlrat "Mohut¡utlu<J untl W'uleecl clui.c'lclv ¡st.r,;wcl the ret'rtÌulion u¡t¡l'oving
the Lects'e, vtitltct'ut anv disc:us',sion o,f uq, (lf ils lerm,s, vt,hiclt u'c.re uxlru<trdinevíly on.e-sitled in

Jàwr ofKA(.'357 und delrint<¿nîul lo l:)le,îsen."

RESPONSE:

Sec 120-YY-0001 | 00()24,00218 -00224,00235 - 00238, 00240 00272.

25. Plcasc prot,ide all cloculrents supllorting your contetìtiolì in the 46th paragraph of'
yoLll'atnended oornlrlaint that "lJeun(,s'a ì¡.tohuntrnutl ur¡cl. ll/uleecl havc ulreucl¡,denutns'ttued tha

inÍenl ttntl ca¡tat:ify lo ttsurlt ltlesscn's' (:o)'por(rle muchincr¡,.fur their per:;<tnal benc.fit, havùry
qlrcucl.y ttp¡trrsved the sulf:çleçtling l"ea,;e, uncl ratdìerl kVulecd's and Mufeed'.s thcli <Í'fì160,00(l us

pur¡sortcd dividend,;, lul<thummacl und Ll/eleed have heen rendercct incu¡ttr.hlc oi' making
inrlc¡tcnclent, ol2iective decisictns rcgurding lransctclions ihcy ¡tarsonall¡, bene.fittccl .fi'ont, (hus

cxcu,titr¡4 lhc Yustqfl'pra-s'uit clamtnd on lhe ßoarcl lo bring suit ct,v¡-ertiny lht: c:luint,t s'el .fõrth in

tlru (bm¡tlainl."

RIISI'ONSIi]:

Sce 120-YY-00001 - 00238, 00240 00272.

26. Plcase providc all docr¡menls supporting your colltentiou in the 4Tth paragraph of
yoru'amrìnded conrplailrt that "l,ilccvt,isa, l4tuleecl ìs'inc'a¡tublc of ntulcittg ctn indepenclcnt tmd
dí.¡'intcrested deci,yion lo inslit'ute uncl vigrtrously ¡trosecute thÌ,s rctíon, u.t he.fitcc,s' t.t ,wl¡.s'tantiql

likclihr.¡od o/'liabilit.v,l<tr (he u,rongdr¡ings trllugerl herein, antl his u(!,t werc noÍ, ctntl coukl tu¡l

hrtvr: heen, the produc'l tl'a go<td .fitilh cxurr:i^s'c o.f busine,ss .iuclSintcnl."

lt0stroNSIi:

See Rcsponse to Rec¡trest Ncl. 25 above.

27. Pleasc ¡rlovide all docurnlenls slr¡rporling your coutcntiott in the 51st paraglaph of
your anrcnclccl courplaint tl:at "[4ialeetl and !çltl'eetl v'ronçfitlly, ¿¡,r,,¡ wilhctttl the knowlt:tlg¿,
('onsent ar uuthorizcttic¡n of'PIt:s:cn, ntis'ctppropriulecl /uncll; belonging lo Itle,s'satt,fòr Íheir ou'n
tt,vc ctntÌlrn'[tene.fit and/or.fitr ll¡c tts'c und/¡¡r benct/it oí'thc l]ctnteds und I;'íve-l{'"

DUOLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

1000 FÍ0deriksb€r0 Cìâdo

Po. Box 756

Thomas, U,S- V,| 00004'0750

l340l 774-4422

RESPONSIÙ:
Soe lìesponsc 1o lìec¡ucsl No. 25 abovc.



Yusuf Yusut et al. (v. Mohammad f{amed, et al.)
Case No. SX-13-CV-120
Plaintiff Yusuf Yusuls Rule 34 Response to Mufèed Hatned's
First Rec¡ u est for P¡'oduction <ll' D ocu rnents
Pagellof19

28. Please provicle all doournents supporting your contention in the 59tb paragraph of
your amenclecl conrplaint that;

59. Specifically, a.s' alleged in deluil herein, Mc¡httmmad and
þllalee d braached lheir.fìduciary duties hy:

a, Approving the Lease hetween
Plessen ctnd K.ÁC357 tltut unfai.rly bene./ìt,s' tlte
Hamecl,ç al the expcftse o!'Ple.ssen and the Yusu/s by
tying up l>lessen's mos'l signitìcant tt,v,set u,ilh q long,

lerÍn lease upon terms, inclu.ding the amounÍ o.l'rent,

thal are ru.¡l. ín the best interc,sls o/'Plessen.

b. Improparly ratifying the thqli ,l
ap p r o x ima I e I y I 4 (t 0, 0 0 0 o,/' P I e ss e n's .fu n ds.

c. l'¡'aí.\íng lo ,sc:hedule or hold ct

meetíng of the ,çhareholdcrs' ol' Plessen.þr decctdas,

in orcter to avoid cut clection oJ direclors and
perpeluate lIrc ¡turported nzaiority r:onlrol hy the
Hanted interests en'er the ßr¡cycl oí Dírectors.

d. Concealíng lìom Ple.vsen materiul
in/brmation related to the theft tlf Junds qncl

approvul ef Lease, und olheru,ise knou'ingly.failing
to udhere to Plesser¿'s' corpctrale .litrmulitie,s,
policies and proc:edures, including the holding o/'
unnual shureholders meetings ín order to elect
direclors.

RESPONSIT:

See l{esponse to Request No. 25 above.
DUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUERZËIG, LLP

1000 Frodor¡ksborg Gad€

P.O. Box 766

Thomds, U.S. V.l. 00804'0756

(3401 774'4422
29, Please provide all documents supporting your contention in the 60th paragraph of

your amended complaint that "Símil.arly, Mofuimmctd and Waleed brectched their.fiduciary dutícs
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to Ples'sen hy, anrong othcr lhings, cons¡tiring
I''le,s,s'ctt'.s.futxds qs u dividend, which holh knew to

RESPONSE:

See Response to l{equcst No. 25 above.

30, Please provit'le all documents suppoúing youl contention in the 6lst paragraph of
your ¿ìrnended corn¡llaint that "As u dit'ect and proximate re"ru[t ol'the ,/bregoing breaches,
Ple,ssen hu,t sustained damages including, bul rusl límited tr¡, the kt,ls u/' murket value of tlrc
premises lea.r'eil to KAC357. . ."

RESPONST]:

See 120-YY-00294 - 00375.

with each r¡tlrcr, to rtttí.fit the convers'ic¡n
be aguinsl lhe inlcres'l a.f Plessen."

31. Illease prclvide all d<lcuments supporting yout'cotìtcntiolt in the 6lst paragraph of
your amencled complainl that ".rls q direct and proximeúe resull o,l' the .fbregoing hreaches,
Plessen has susluinec[ damages includi.ng, lxtt not limited to. . .clamagc to it.s re¡tulaÍion. . ,"

RESPONSE:

See 120-YY-40294 - 00375.

32. Pleasc provide all docunrents supporting your contention in the f:lst paragraph of
your amendecl complaint that "As a direcl crnd proximate result o.f' tlze /bregoirtl4 breachas,
Plessen has' susrained damoge,s including, hut not ltmited tc¡. . .the ks,;s ol'tlte Jìtncls ,n¡oy,fulll
obtained./i^om Ples:;en's'Scotiubank qccount . . ."

RESPONSE:

See 120-YY-00001 00003. See also documents procluced in Humed v. Yu,suf'(SiX-12-
CV-370) bate-starnped FY 10263 -- 10402, and specifically FY 010328 - 010342,

DUOLEY' TOPPER

ANO FEUEFZEIG, LLP

l0C0 Froderlksb€rg Gads

P.O. 8ox 756

ThÕmos, U,S. Vl' 00804'0756

13401774-M22

of
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33. Please pr:ovide all documents supporting yonr contention irl the 6lst paragraph of
yorrr ârìlendcd complaint that "A,t; u direcl ancl proxim(tle resull oJ tlrc ./bregoing breaches,

Pla,l.çen has' .çu,staÌnccl damuge,s including,, btil nr¡t limi.tecl tt¡. .lltc lo'vs' ti' oÍher corl)orule
opportunities,"

RIi,SPONSE:

See 120-YY-0021)4 - 00375.

34. Please provide all docurnents supportiug youl contention in tl-re 67th ¡lalagrn¡rh ol'
your amenclecl oomplailit that "1ls a dircct proxitl'tute result o.f the .fòregoirtg vttesle ol'corporaÍc
ussals' unú usurpation c¡l'r:orporulc apportunity, I''les,çen lM.ç suslained tlamuges including, but
not Iimiled lo, k¡ss o.l'the murkelvulue cf'he prcmises ccnered bythc L.,t!ct'\(."

RESPONSIT:

Sec 120-YY-00294 - 00481.

35. ì)lease plovide all doournents suppclrting your contentiotl in the 69th par:aglaph of
your arnended cornplaint tliat "l'Lte f.{amecls, I;'iye-l{ uncl KAC357, irtclivicluully und collec:tivcly,

v,ere uniustl.y enrichcd b.v llteir recciltl. benc',fìt, u,te., crtjct-,-mcrtl ¿ttttlio¡' relenlirttt ol Ples,scn',t'

e.\',\et,ç."

RESPONSE:

See 120-YY-00001 - 00003, 00294 - 004iì L

36. Please prr:vicle all clocunrents suppoltiug y"our: or:ntetltion in thc T2ncl paragraph of'
your alnendecl conrplaint tliat "As'ullaged in cletuíl herein, tlrc Hamed,s', Itive-l'land KÁC357 hud
u ttnit¡t o./'pttrpos'a. or u corunton tlesi.gn qnd unclcrstctncling, or a maelin<, ú'min¡ls in utt unlcn,t,lul

ãrrungcment t<t, untr¡ng cttlter thing,s, unluw/ull.v nti.su¡.t¡tropriute .funds of Ple.r.s'en und up¡trove
the Laase thot unlittrly hane./itted KAC357 nncl the. Hunccts ul thc clxpotá'e o.f Ples'sen and the
Yus'uJi."

IIESPONSII:
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Sce Rcsporlse to Recluest No. 25 atrove.

37. Plerase provicle all clocunlonts suppolting your oontentiotl itt thc 73rcl parugraph oJ

your amended cour¡rlaint tlìai "'l'he l-lutnecls, [;'it,e-llttnd KAC357 knowingl.y perfornÌcd ot'erl uc'!.s'

und look oclion lo .further or cLtn-y out lhe. unlav,lul purposes o/' the s'ub.jcct t:ttns'¡tirut::1t,

including. hut not línited to, l4/uleccl',s' issuing and c:ct:;hing cl'check rufinher 0376 und KA(.'357'.s'

¡tos,;e.s,sion o/"lhc, premtse.,s' t'r¡varacl b¡, ¡¡u Lease to the c:on,spiraÍ<trs' bena.fìr ancl l>le:s'.yen's

dclrintenl."

RESI'ONSti:

See llesponse to lìequest No. 25 above.

38. Ple¿rse provicle all cloounlents sr.rppolting yout contention in the 74th paragra¡rh of
your amerlclecl conrplaint that "A,\ o dirccl und pruxintctlc rcsult of the/itregoing civil c:on.spiracy,
Itles.s'en has',su,s(uittccl danrugc,s' int:l.ucling, bul rut{ lintilccl lo, dametge lo il,s re¡tLtlc¿lion, lo,s',s'o.f the

,funcls' unlttv,fùlU obtnitrcd .finrn it,s ,\colinltctnk ûcr:{ntnl, und lct.ç.s ú the ./hir mtu'ket volua qÍ
I' l c.s' :; e n',s' í n tpr rsv e d pr o p c r l.y,"

IllrlSPONSlrl:

See 120-YY-00001 00003, 00294- 004tì1. See documents ¡rroclucccl in llanted v. Yusu/'
(SX-12-CjV-370) bate-stampecl FY 10263 "10402, arrcl specifically IrY 010328 - 010342.

DUDLÉY, TOPPÊR

ANO FEUEHZEIG, LLP

10OO FrsCeriksborg Gâ(iâ

PO, Bôx 756

Thorrâs. U.S V.l- (þBC4'0756

(340l, 774-4422

39. Pleasc ploviclc all clocuments sup¡rt.rrting your oonlcnticlu in thc 78th pr.u'agra¡lh ol
your alnended complaint th¿lt "Al ull tintes relet,cu'¿t, Lhe I[unteds', [:;'ive-Il, dtuliot' KAC'357 held
lhe excltu'ive posScs,\'ion undior conlrol o't'ct' cJocunrcntutÌon tlut u,ould e,vtctblísh the .funds und
tt :; s e I s u rtl u v, fù I I ¡, t a ke n .fin m I > 

I c,r.s' e n ."

RIi],SPONSIi:

See Response to llec¡ucst No. 2-5 above.

40. l)lease provicle allclocunreut.s supporting your contcntiott in the 79th paragra¡lh of
your aûìendeci conrplaint that "tlhsant ,:^uch dr.¡cuntentalton, Ple,s,vett is v,ithout Í\rc meun.s' lo
delermitrc, Luîrottg other thing.s, íf'./imds rtr u,s,s'cl.s' urt: t)vt'ccl lo il and, i./ .t<t, h<nv much; url if it.s'
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mi,\uppropriatecl.fitnds'cmd u,ç,;cl.s'\vet'( u,\'cd h pzu'cltcts¡: (my reûl (.)r personül pro¡terl.t,, in vpltich

cose it he..s' un ov,r¿err'hip i.nlerc,st in s'uch !)roperl.Jl."

RIISPONS[,:

See Resporrse to Iìec¡uest No. 25 above.

41. Plcase provicle all docurnenls supporting your contentir:n in the 90tlr paraglaph of'
your arncnrled complaint that "Jn thc 25-y-eür hi.s'lttr'.y o.f Plessen, there hs,v t'tcver been an ctnnuul
rneeting o,/'tlrc ,shur¿hol.ders l<) ele(:l dil'cc'lr¡rs r¿f Ì'le ssen."

RESPONSE:

See 120-YY-00004 00024,00029 00211.

42. Ple¿rse provicle all dclcuments supporting your c<lnteution in the 94tli ¡:alagraph ol'
your anrended c<lmplaint that "There i,y ct ,s'tctlc. o.Í'shcu"ehctl¿ler dis'sans'ion und deudl.ock us to
Pless'ert ,çuch that its ltu,sines,t can no longer l:¡c conducled to lhc. advanlage o./ lhe ,çhareholders."

RT]SPONSF]:

Sce 120-YY-00235,

43. Please pt'ovicle all clocunrcnts supportirrg your oontcntiou in the 9Tth paLagra¡rh ol'
your amsrì<lecl contpl¿¡int that'oT'hcre uxi,sts u hopeles.s dccrc{lock ancl irrecuncilqblc uninut,sil.v

l: e I w e e n I he s' h tu' c ha I d e r s' o.f' P I e,s,s' ur,"

RESPONSIÙ:

See 120-YY-00235.

44. l)lease provicle all Sc<iti¿lbank siguature o¿rrds lbl the Plcssen l;irtterprises, Inc,

aocour.rt, nurnbu 0580004-5012 that any Yusuf'Farrrily Member or Yutsuf atlot'ney sLrbmitted to
the Virgin Islands Police Deyrartrnent ¡lmsonnel in connection vvith Pe.ople v lt4ufcacl l{amed- SX-
l5-CR-352 ancl People v l4/ctleed l[untccl. SX-15-CR-353.

IIESPONSE:
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See 120-YY-00285 - 00293, specifìcally 00290.

45, Please provide all Scotiabank signature cards for the Plessen llnterprises, Inc.
account, number'05800045012, excluding those identilied in RFPDs No. 43.

RESPONSI,:

See 120-YY-00225 - 00234,000273 - 00284.

46, Please provide all Infìormation Cìathering liorm - Acoount fì¡r a Priv¿rte Corporate
Entíty documents fcrrthe Plesson Euterprises, Inc. acccltmt, number 05800045012 that any Yusuf'
l.amily Member or Yusuf'attomey submitted to thc Virgin Islands Police De¡rartment personnel

in cnnnection with Peo¡tle v MuJeed llamed, SX-15-ClR-352 and People v Waleed l{amed,SX-
1.5-ctì-353.

RESPONSE:

See lìesponse to Recìuest No. 45 above.

47. I'lease provicle all Inf'olnration Gathering Iìorrn - Account f'or a Private Corporatc
Hntity documents lbr the Plessen Enterprises, lnc. aocount, nurber 05800045012, exoluding
those identified in RIìPDs No. 45.

RESPONSE:

See Response to llequest No. 45 above.

48. Please provide all of the clocuments any Yusuf F'amily Mentber or Yusufattorney
subrnittecl to the Virgin Islands Police Departnrent persortnel in connection with People. v A4uJeed

Hanted, SX-15-CR-352 and I:>eople v þValeed Í[amed, SX-15-CR-353, excludiug those already

¡rrovicled in RFPDs Nos, 43 and 45.

OUDLEY, TOPPEF

AND FEUERZEIG, LLF

1000 Fredor¡koborg Gado

PO. 8ox 756

Thomas, U,S. V.l. 00804'0750

(3401774-4422

RESPONSII]:
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Sce I{esponse to Request No. 44 above.

49. Please provicte all clocurnents that any YLrsurf l"arnily Member or Yrnuf attorney
surbmitteci to Scoti¿rbank personnel frorn 2013 to the present in conneotion with the Plessen

l:interprises, Ino, aoooutf . number 05800045012.

IIIISI'()NSE:

None.

50. Please provide all docurnents that Scotiabank personnel gave to any Yusuf lrantily
Member clr Yusuf attorney fLom 2013 to the present in connection rvith the Plessen Enterpriscs,
lnc. account, numtrer 058000450 12.

IITTSPONSE:

See lìesponse to Request No. 44 and 45 above. See also Plaintiff Yusuf' Yusuls
Responscs to Mufèed Ilanted's F'irst Intorrogatories Nos, 3,4,5 antll.

51. Please provide all documents in connectiou tuil.l't l'aople v Mtúèed Iluntecl, SX-15-
CR-352 and Peo¡tlc v Wuleed Humed, SX-15-CR-353 that the Virgin Islands Police Department
personnel gaveto any Yusuf Fanrily Menrberclr Ynsul'rlttorney fì'om 2013 to the preserÌt.

RESPONSE:

None.

OUDLEY, TOPPER

AND FEUÉRZEIG, LLP

1000 Fr€dor¡ksbårg Gad€

RO Box 756

Thomâs, iJ,S. Vl. 00804'0756

(s40l 774-4422

52. Please provide all docnrnents in connection with Pcople v Mufec.d l{umecl, SX-15-
C'R-352 and I'ectple t, Iluleed llunrcd, SX-15-CR-353 that the Virgin Islands I)epartmcnt of
Justice persolrnel gave to any Yusuf'Family Member or Yusnf attr:ruey lrorn 2013 to the prcsent.

RESPONSI];

See Response to Request No, 44 above.
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53, Please provide all documents notifying commercial entities that Waleed and/or
Mufèed Hamed hacl been arrested in connection with People v Mufeed Í[umed, SX-15-CR-352
and People v Wuleecl Hamed, SX-l-5-CR-353,

RESPONSE:

Upon inftlrmation and belief, there are no documents responsive to this request.

54. With regarcl to the Request To Admit that asks the following; "ADMIT or DENY
îhat a Yusu/' l;'untily Member or memhers has knou,ledge o/'whan, by u,lnm or under what
círcums'tances the phra.s'e "One l"lamed and One Yu,tuf' to this card," please provide all
documents that relate to when, by whom and under what circumstanoes the phrase "One Ilarned
and One Yusuf'was typed on the Signature Card that is H'xhibit 2 thereto.

RESPONSE:

See Response to Request No. 44 and 45 above.

55. Please provide all documents or communications present at or related to, all
meetings, conferences or communications between any member of the Yusuf Þ'amily and

Scotiabank, the VI Daily News, the VIPD, any other VI G<lvernment offtcial, regarding the
alleged embezzlement liom the Plessen Account.

IIESPONSE:

See l{esponse to Request No. 44 and 45 above.
member of the Yusuf'Tramily and the VI Daily News,

DUOLEY, TOPPEB

AND FEUEFZEIO, LLP

l00o Frêdolksberg Gado

P.O, Eox 75ô

Thomas, U.S. V.l' 0080,}0756

(3401 774-4422

'l'here were no meetings between any
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DATED: December 19,2016

[,aw l{ouse
1000 Frederiksberg Gacle - P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, VI 00804-0756
Telephone: (340)715-4422
Facsimile: (340)715-4400
E-Mail: cperrell@dtflaw.com_

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

It is hereby ce¡tified that on this lgtl'day of December, 2016,1 oaused a true ancl

exact oopy of the foregoing PLAINTIFF YUSUF YUSUF'S RIJLE 34 RESPONSE TO
MUFEED HAMED'S FIIIST I{EQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS to be

served upon the following via e-mail:

Mark W. Eckard, Escl. Jeffrey B.C. Moorhead, Esq.

Hnnnrvl & Ecxnno,lt,n C.R.T. Building
5030 Anchor Way - Suite l3 I 132 King Street
Christiansted, St. Croix Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820-4692 LJ.S. Virgin Islands 00820
E-Mail: meckard@hammneckard.corn E-Mail: jeffreymlaw@yahoo.com

lJv:

DunltY, Tol nlc, LLp'' 
fJ "*-

DUDLET TOPPER

AND FEUEBZEIG, LLP

1000 Frêdoriksberg Gads

P.O. Box 756

Thomas, U,S. Vl 00804'0756

(340) 774-4422
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YUSUF YUSUF" T'ATHI YUSUF" FA\ryZIA YUSUF.,
NEJEH YUSUF, and ZAYß,D YUSUF, in their
individual capacities and derivatively on behalf of
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

MOHAMMAD HAMED, \ryALEED HAMED,
\ryAHEED HAMED, MUX'EED HAMED,
HISHAM HAMED, X'M-H HOLDINGS,INC., and
KAC357,INC.,

Defendants,

-and-

PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Nominal Defendant,

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
\

PLAINTIFF YUSUF YUSUF'S RESPONSE TO DEF'ENDANT
MUFET,D HAMED'S SECONp SET OF REOUESTS EOR ApMISSIONS

Plaintiff, Yusuf Yusuf, through his attorneys, Dudley, Topper and Feuerzeig, LLP,

hereby provides its Responses to Defendant Mufeed Hamed's Second Set of Requests for

Admissions:

CASE NO. SX.I3-CV-I2O

ACTION FOR DAMAGES,
DECLARATORY AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF'

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
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GENERAL OBJECTIONS

Yusuf Yusuf makes the following general objections to the Second Set of Requests for

Admissions. These general objections apply to all or so many of the Requests for Admissions

that, for convenience, they are set forth herein and are not necessarily repeated after each

objectionable Requests for Admissions. The assertion of the sante, similar, or additional

objections in the individual responses to the Requests for Admissions, or the failure to assert any

additional objections to a discovery request does not waive any of Yusuf Yusuf s objections as

set forth below:

(1) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Requests for Admissions to the extent they may

impose obligations different from or in addition to those required under the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure.

(2) Yusuf Yusuf objects to each request for admission that uses the words "any" and

"all" as being overly broad, unduly burdensome, immaterial, irrelevant, and not reasonably

calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

(3) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Requests for Admissions to the extent they seek

information which is protected by the attomey-client privilege or work-product doctrine,

including information prepared in anticipation of litigation, or for trial, by or on behalf of Yusuf

Yusuf or relating to mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of its attomeys

or representati'¿es, or any other applicable privilege or doctrine under lèderal or state statutory,
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constitutional or common law. Yusuf Yusufs answers shall not include any information

protected by such privileges or doctrine, and documents or information inadvertently produced

which includes such privileged information shall not be deemed a waiver by Yusuf Yusuf of

such privilege or doctrine.

(4) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Requests for Admissions to the extent that they seek

information and documents concerning any matter that is irrelevant to the claims or defenses of

any party to this action, and not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible

evidence.

(5) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Requests for Admissions to the extent that they use

terms or phrases that are vague, ambiguous, or undefined. Yusuf Yusuf s response to each such

request will be based upon its unclerstanding of the request,

(6) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Requests for Admissions to the extent they seek

documents or information not in the possession, custody or control of Yusuf Yusuf, on the

ground that it would subject it to undue burden, oppression and expense, and impose obligations

not required by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

(7) Yusuf Yusuf has not completed eithcr its discovery or its preparation for trial of

this matter. Accordingly, Yusuf Yusuf s responses to the Requests for Admissions are made

without prejudice to Yusuf Yusufls right to make any use of or proffer aT any hearing or at trial,

and are based only upon information presently available. tf and as additiorral, non-privileged,



Yusuf Yusuf, et al. (v. Mohammad Hamed, et al.)
Case No. SX-13-CV-120
PlaÍntiff Yusuf Yusufs Response to Defondant
Mufeed Hamed's Second Set of Requosts for Admissions
Page 4 of23

responsive documents are discovered, these Requests for Admissions will be supplemented to

the extent that supplementation may be required by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

(8) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Requests for Admissions to the extent that when all of

the subparts are included they are in excess of the number permitted by Rule 33,
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RESPONSES TO SECOND REOUESTS FOR ADMISSIONS

86. After reviewing 13 V.l.C. $ 69 Officers; selection, term, duties which states, in
relevant part,

(a) Every corporation organized under this chapter shall have a president, secretary and
treasurer, who shall be chosen by the directors. The president shall be chosen from
among the directors. The secretary shall record all the proceedings of the meetings of
the corporation and directors in a book to be kept for that purpose, and perform such
other duties that shall be assigned to him. The treasurer may be required to give bond in
such sum and with such surety or sureties as shall be provided by the bylaws for the
faithful discharge of his duty.

ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf has been, since its inception, the Secretary of
Plessen.

RESPONSE:

Admit,

87. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf had in his possession at one time a "record all the
proceedings of the meetings of the Plessen corporation and directors in a book to be kept for that
purpose".

RESPONSE:

Admit but further responding shows that the corporate records for Plessen were seized for
a number of years and were not in Fathi Yusuf s possession, custody or control.

88. ADMIT or DENY that at the present time "Fathi Yusuf has in his possession a

"record all the proceedings of the meetings of the Plessen corporation and directors in a book to
be kept for that purpose".

RESPONSE:

Admit that Fathi Yusuf has access to the corporate record book of Plessen but denics that
it is in his physical possession as same is currently maintained pursuant to the parties agreement
at a neutral location in St. Thomas along with other records originally seized by the FBI in 2001.
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89. ADMIT or DENY that a Fathi Yusuf had in his possession a "record all the
proceedings of the meetings of the Plessen corporation and directors in a book to be kept for that
purpose" in 2001.

RESPONSE:

Deny that Fathi Yusuf had possession of the corporate records for Plessen for all of 2001
as the corporate record books for Plessen and other jointly owned businesses were seized in the
FBI raid in the later part of 2001.

90. ADMIT or DENY that a Fathi Yusuf had in his possession a "record all the
proceedings of the meetings of the Plessen corporation and directors in a book to be kept for that
purpose" in 2003.

RESPONSE:

Deny as the corporate records for Plessen and other jointly owned businesses were seized
in the FBI raid in the later part of 2001.

91. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf had in his possession a "record all the
proceedings of the meetings of the Plessen corporation and directors in a book to be kept for that
purpose" in2007.

RESPONSE:

Deny as the corporate records for Plessen and other jointly owned businesses were seized
in the FBI raid in the later part of 2001.

92. ADMIT or DENY Fathi Yusuf had in his possession a "record all the proceedings of
the meetings of the Plessen corporation and directors in a book to be kept for that purpose" in
20t0.

RESPONSE:

Deny as the corporate records for Plessen and other jointly owned businesses were seized
in the FBI raid in the later part of 2001.
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93. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf had in his possession a "record all the
proceedings of the meetings of the Plessen corporation and directors in a book to be kept for that
purpose" in20l2.

RESPONSE:

Deny as the corporate records for Plessen and other jointly owned businesses were seized
in the FBI raid in the later part of 2001.

94. After Reviewing l3 V.I.C. $ 73, Duty to maintain business and stock records,
which states in relevant part:

Every corporation formed under this chapter shall maintain
(l) correct books ofaccount ofits business transactions; and
(2) a stock ledger in the form prescribed in section 189 of this title, which ledger
shall be kept in the principal office of the corporation in the United States Virgin
Islands and Which shall be open daily to any stockholder for inspection at reasonable
times,

ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf had in his possession at one time a stock ledger for
Plessen.

RESPONSE:

Admitted.

95. ADMIT or DENY that at the present time "Fathi Yusuf has in his possession a

stock ledger.

RESPONSE:

Admit that Fathi Yusuf has access to the corporate record book of Plessen but denies that
it is in his physical possession as same is currently maintained pursuant to the parties agreement
at a neutral location in St. Thomas along with other records originally seized by the FBI in 2001.
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96. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf had in his possession a stock ledger in 2001.

IIESPONSE:

Deny that Fathi Yusuf had possession of the corporate records for Plessen for all of 2001
as the corporate lecord books for Plessen and other jointly owned businesses '\¡rere seized in the
FBI raid in the later part of 2001.

97. ADMIT or DENY that a Fathi Yusuf had in his possession a stock ledger in 2003.

RESPONSE:

Deny as the corporate records for Plessen and other jointly owned businesses were seized
in the FBI raid in the later part of 2001.

98. ADMIT or DENY that F'athi Yusuf had in his possession a stock ledger in2007,

RESPONSE:

Deny as the oorporate records for Plessen and other jointly owned businesses were seized
in the FBI raid in the later part of 2001,

99. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf had in his possession a stock ledger in 2010.

RESPONSE:

Deny as the corporate records for Plessen and other jointly owned businesses were seized
in the FBI raid in the later part of 2001,

100. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf had in his possession a stock ledger in20I3.

RESPONSE:

Yusuf Yusuf is unable to either admit or deny regarding access to the corporate records in
2013 as it is uncertain whether certain of the records seized in the FBI raid were available to the
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parties at this time or whether the original corporate records were available to the parties at this
time.

101. After reviewing 13 V.LC. $ 191, Election of directors; marìner, time, place and
notice, which states in relevant part,

All elections of directors shall be by ballot, unless otherwise provided in the
articles of incorporation. The first meeting for the election of directors, at which
meeting any business may be transacted, shall be held at any place either within
or without the United States Virgin Islands fixed by a majority of the
incorporators in a writing signed by them, and thereafter meeting of the
stockholders shall be held annually for the election of directors and the
transaction of any other busincss at the time and place within or without the
United States Virgin Islands named in the bylaws.

ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf, in his capacity as Secretary, has never sent a notice of an
annual meeting of the shareholders of Plessen.

RESPONSE:

Admit.

102. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf, in any capacity other than a Secretary of
Plessen has never sent a notice of an annual meeting of the shareholders of Plessen.

RESPONSE:

Admit.

103. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf, has in his possession any past notice of an
annual meeting of the shareholders of Plessen that he sent or had sent.

RESPONSE:

Denied.
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I04. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusut in his capacity as Secretary, has never sent a
notice of an annual meeting of the directors of Plessen.

RESPONSE:

Admit.

105. ADMIT or DENY that F'athi Yusuf, in any capacity other than as Secretary of
Plessen, has never sent a notice of an annual meeting of the directors of Plessen.

RESPONSE:

Admit.

106. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf, has in his possession any notice of an annual
meeting of the directors of Plessen that he sent or had sent.

RESPONSE:

Deny.

107. Afterreviewing 13 V.I.C. $ 195 Equally divided vote; receivership, which states
in relevant part:

Whenever, by reason of an equally divided vote of the stockholders, there shall be
a failure to elect directors, and such failure for such reason shall exist at two
successive annual elections

ADMIT or DENY there has never been "an equally divided vote of the stockholders" of Plessen.

RESPONSE:

The above statement is a partial recitation of 13 V.I.C. $ 195, there is nothing to either
admit or deny. Clearly, the stockholders are equally divided.

108. ADMIT or DENY that "by reason of an equal divided vote of the stockholders"
there has never been "a failure to elect directors" at a shareholder meeting.

IIESPONSE:
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The above statement is a partial recitation of 13 V.I.C. $ 195, there is nothing to either
admit or deny. Clearly, the stockholders are equally divided.

109, ADMIT or DENY that "a failure to elect directots" at "two successive annual
election" at Plessen shareholder meeting has never occurred.

RESPONSE:

The above statement is a partial recitation of 13 V.I.C. $ 195, there is nothing to either
admit or deny. Clearly, the stockholders are equally divided.

110. After reviewing 13 V,I.C. $ 196 Consent of stockholders in lieu of meeting,
which states in relevant part,

Whenever the vote of stockholders at a meeting thereof is required or permitted to
be taken in connection with any corporate action, by any section of this chapter,
the meeting and vote of stockholders may be dispensed with, if all of the
stockholders who would have been entitled to vote upon the action if such
meeting were held, shall consent in writing to such corporate action being taken.
Nothing herein contained shall be construed to alter or modify the provisions of
section 281 of this chapter. In the event that the action which is consented to is
such as would have required the filing of a certifrcate under any of the other
sections ofthis chapter, ifsuch action had been voted upon by the stockholders at
a meeting thereof, the certificate filed under such other section shall state written
consent has been given hereunder, in lieu of stating that the stockholders have
voted upon the corporate action in question, if such last mentioned statement is
required thereby.

ADMIT or DENY that prior to January 1,2012 there were actions taken by the Plessen
directors by written consent.

RESPONSE:

Admitted.

I11, ADMIT or DENY in 2015 there were actions taken by the Plessen directors by
written consent.
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RESPONSE:

Deny. Insofar as the parties agreed with counsel for distribution of funds or other
actions, the statement is admitted.

ll2. ADMIT or DENY in 2016 there were actions taken by the Plessen directors by
written consent,

RESPONSE:

Deny, Insofar as the pafiies agreed with counsel for distribution of funds or other actions,
the statement is admitted,

113. ADMIT or DENY that at all times until his death in2016 Mohammad Hamed was
the President of Plessen.

RESPONSE:

Admit.

ll4. After referring to page 6 of the By-Laws of Plessen, paragraph 3.2 (shown
below:)

Section 3.2 Powers and Duties of the President. The President shall be the Chief
Executive Officer of the Corporation and shall have general charge and control of all its business
affairs and properties. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Stockholders, The
President may be a member of the Board of Directors and, if a member, shall preside at all
meeting of the Board of Directors unless the Board of Directors, by a majorþ vote of a quorum
of the Board, elects a Chairman other than the President to preside at meetings of the Board of
directors. The President may sign and execute all authorized bonds, contracts, or other
obligations in the name of the Corporation. The President shall have the general powers and
duties of supervision and management usually vested in the office of president and of
corporation. The President shall be an ex-officio voting member of all standing committees.
The President shall perform such other duties as from time to time ale assiþned to the President
by the Board of Directors.

RESPONSE:
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Admit that the President is vested with the recitation of power and authority listed above
but denied that this recitation is a true and accwate reflection of the scope and limitations of the
President's power and authority as other provisions of the Bylaws limit such authority including
but not limited to Article V, Section 5 or as provided for in the bank records, Further
responding, Yusuf Yusuf shows that the power and authority of the President is limited by other
provisions of the Bylaws and therefore, this statement, in a vacuum is not a complete recitation
of the authority and limitations of the President and Vice President..

I15. ADMIT or DENY that wíth regard to Plessen, during 2013 Mohammad Hamed
was the "chief executive offrcer" of Plessen.

RESPONSE:

Admit that the President is vested with the title "Chief Executive Officer" listed above
but denied that this recitation is a true and accurate reflection of the scope and limitations of the
President's power and authority as other provisions of the Bylaws limit such authority including
but not limited to Article V, Section 5 or as provided for in the bank records. Further
responding, Yusuf Yusuf shows that the power and authority of the President is limited by other
provisions of the Bylaws and therefore, this statement, in a vacuum is not a complete recitation
of the authority and limitations of the President and Vice President.

I 16. ADMIT or DENY that with regard to Plessen, during 2013, Mohammad Hamed
had "the general powers and duties of supervision and management usually vested in the office
of presidenf'of a corporation with regard to Plessen,

RESPONSE:

Admit that the President is vested with the general powers usually vested in the office of
the president but but denied that this recitation is a true and accurate reflection of the scope and
limitations of the President's power and authority as other provisions of the Bylaws limit such
authority including but not limited to Article V, Section 5 or as provided for in the bank records.
Further responding, Yusuf Yusuf shows that the power and authority of the President is limited
by other provisions of the Bylaws and therefore, this statement, in a vacuum is not a complete
rscitation of the authority and limitations of the President and Vice President..
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tl7. ADMIT or DENY that with regard to Plessen, Mohammad Harned had the
authority to direct the Vice-President to remove funds from a corporation account that was
subject to theft by other directors or shareholders,

RESPONSE:

Deny.

118. ADMIT or DENY that at all times until the present, Waleed Hamed has been the
Vice-President of Plessen.

RESPONSE:

Admit.

ll9. After referring to page 6 of the By-Laws of Plessen, paragraph 3.3 (shown below:

Section 3.3 Powers and Duties of the Vice-President. The Board of Directors
may appoint one or more Vice Presidents. Each Vice President (except as
otherwise provided by resolution of the Board of Directors) Shall have the power
to sign and execute all authorized bonds, contracts, or other obligations in the
name of the Corporation. Each Vice President shall have such other powers and
shall perform such other duties as from to time are assigned to that Vice President
by the Board of Directors or by the President. In case of the absence or disability
of the President, the duties of that office shall be performed by a Vice President;
the taking of any action by any Vice President in place of the President shall be
conclusive evidence of the absence or disability of the President.

ADMIT or DENY that in 2013, with regard to Plessen, Waleed Hamed had the power to "sign
and execute all authorized bonds, contracts, or other obligations in the name of the corporation."

RESPONSE:

Admit that the Vice President is vested with the recitation of power ancl authority listed
above but denied that this recitation is a true and accurate reflection of the scope and limitations
of the Vice President's power and authority as other provisions of the Bylaws limit such
authority including but not limited to Article V, Section 5 or as provided for in the bank records.
F-urther responding, Yusuf Yusuf shows that the power and authority of the Vice President is
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limited by other provisions of the Bylaws and therefore, this statement, in a vacuum is not a
complete recitation of the authority and limitations of the President and Vice President.

120. ADMIT or DENY in 2013 Waleed Hamed had "such other powers and [could]
perform such other duties as from time to time [were] assigned [to him] ... by the President.

RESPONSE:

Admit. However, further responding, this does not províde the Vice President with the
authority to sign checks on behalf of Plessen without a counter signature from the
Secretary/Treasurer as set forth in Article 5, Section 5.1(c) of the Bylaws or as provided for in
the bank records, Further responding, Yusuf Yusuf shows that the power and authority of the
Vice President is limited by other provisions of the Bylaws and therefore, this statement, in a
vacuum is not a complete recitation of the authority and limitations of the President and Vice
President.

l2l. ADMIT or DENY in 2013, if Mohammad Hamed was absent or disabled, 'Waleed

Hamed had the power to perform "the duties of'the office of President.

RESPONSE:

Deny.

122. ADMIT or DENY that
resolutions or minutes of any meeting,

RESPONSE:

Admit as to corporate resolution or minutes but shows that the Yusufs were under the
belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of United as a result of documents provided to the V.l.
Govemment Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he originally was
provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected in the August
17, 2009 bank records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia as a
"director." Furthermore, Mohammed llamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v.

Yusuf Yusuf does not have any written consent, or written
making Mike Yusuf a director of Plessen.
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Yusuf et al, sx-12-370 case, swore that "l [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen.
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as

is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents 120-YY-00509-5 I 1.

Yusuf Yusuf shows that the corporate records for Plessen were outside any of the pafties' control
for years following the FBI raid in which the corporate records were seized. In April 2014, Carl
Beckstedt prepared corporate documents to reflect Mike's position as a director. Attorney Holt
advised Carl Beckstedt to the contrary. However, Attorney Beckstedt did not comply but rather
advised that he would need to confirm with the parties. Nonetheless, there is not an executed
document in the official corporate record book reflecting Mike Yusuf s position as a director.

123. ADMI'I or DENY that Mike Yusuf does not have any written consent, or written
resolutions or minutes of any meeting, making Mike Yusuf a director of Plessen.

RESPONSE:

Admit as to written resolutions or minutes but shows that the Yusufs were under the
belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of United as a result of documents provided to the V,L
Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he originally was
provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected in the August
17, 2009 bank records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia as a
"director." Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v.

Yusuf et al, sx-I2-370 case, swore that "I fMohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen.
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as

is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents 120-YY-00509-5 I I .

Yusuf Yusuf shows that the corporate records for Plessen were outside any of the parties' control
for years following the FBI raid in which the corporate records were seized. In April 2014, Carl
Beckstedt prepared corporate documents to reflect Mike's position as a director, Attorney Holt
advised Carl Beckstedt to the contrary. However, Attorney Beckstedt did not comply but rather
advised that he would need to confirm with the parties. Nonetheless, there is not an executed
document in the official corporate record book reflecting Mike Yusuls position as a director.
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124. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf does not have any wdtten consent or written
resolutions or minutes of any meeting, making Mike Yusuf a director of Plessen.

RESPONSE:

Admit as to \r/ritten resolutions or minutes but shows that the Yusufs were under the
belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of United as a result of docunents provided to the V,L
Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he originally was
provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected in the August
17, 2009 bank records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia as a
"director." Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v.

Yusuf et al, sx-12-370 case, swore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen,
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as
is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents 120-YY-00509-5 I l.

Yusuf Yusuf shows that the corporate tecords for Plessen were outside any of the parties' control
for years following the FBI raid in which the corporate records were seized. In April 2014, Cair
Beckstedt prepared corporate documents to reflect Mike's position as a director, Attorney Holt
advised Carl Beckstedt to the contrary. However, Attorney Beckstedt did not comply but rather
advised that he would need to confirm with the parties. Nonetheless, there is not an executed
document in the official corporate record book reflecting Mike Yusuf s position as a director.

I25. ADMIT or DENY that Yusuf Yusuf does not know of any written consent, or
minutes of any meeting, in the possession of any third person or entity, making Mike Yusuf a
director of Plessen.

RESPONSE:

Admit as to written resolutions or minutes but shows that the Yusufs were under the
belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of United as a result of documents provided to the V.I.
Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he originally was
provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected in the August
I7, 2009 bank records. IIe was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia as a
"director." Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamecl v.

Yusuf et al, sx-12-370 case, swore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen.
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as
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is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents 120-YY-00509-5 1 1.

Yusuf Yusuf shows that the corporate records for Plessen were outside any of the parties'
control for years following the FBI raid in which the corporate records were seized. In April
2014, Carl Beckstedt preparecl corporate documents to reflect Mike's position as a director.
Attorney Holt advised Carl Beckstedt to the contrary. However, Attorney Beckstedt did not
comply but rather advised that he would need to conftrm with the parties. Nonetheless, there is
not an executed document in the official corporate record book reflecting Mike Yusuf s position
as a director.

126. ADMIT or DENY that Mike Yusuf does no know of any written consent, or
minutes of any meeting, in the possession of any third person or entity, making Mike Yusuf a
director of Plessen,

RESPONSE:

Admit as to written resolutions or minutes but shows that the Yusufs were under the
belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of United as a result of documents provided to the V.l,
Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he originally was
provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected in the August
17, 2009 bank records. He was also listecl on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia as a
"director." F-urthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to intetrogatories in tbe Hamed v.

Yusuf et al, sx-12-370 case, swote that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen.

To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other th¡ee directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as

is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents 120-YY-00509-5 I l.

Yusuf Yusuf shows that the corporate records for Plessen were outside any of the parties' control
for years following the FBI raid in which the corporate records were seized. In April 2014, Carl
Beckstedt prepared corporate documents to reflect Mike's position as a director, Attorney Holt
advised Carl Beckstedt to the contrary. However, Attorney Beckstedt did not comply but rather
advised that he would need to confirm with the parties. Nonetheless, there is not an executed
document in the official corporate record book reflecting Mike Yusuf s position as a director.
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127. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf does not know of any written consent, or
minutes of any meeting, in the possession of any third person or entity, making Mike Yusuf a
director of Plessen,

RESPONSE:

Admit as to written resolutions or minutes but shows that the Yusufs were under the
belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of United as a result of documents provided to the V.l.
Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he originally was
provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected in the August
I7, 2009 bank records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia as a
"director." Fufhermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v.

Yusuf et al, sx-12-370 case, swore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen.
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including F'athi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as

is the Offrce of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents 120-YY-00509-5 1 1,

Yusuf Yusuf shows that the corporate records for Plessen were outside any of the parties'
control for years following the FBI raid in which the corporate records were seized. In April
2014, Carl Beckstedt prepared corporate documents to reflect Mike's position as a director.
Attorney Holt advised Carl Beckstedt to the contrary. I{owever, Attorney Beckstedt did not
comply but rather advised that he would need to confirm with the parties, Nonetheless, there is
not an executed document in the offrcial corporate record book reflecting Mike Yusuf s position
as a director.

128. ADMIT or DENY that Yusuf Yusuf has had written or verbal communications
including but not limited to emails and telephone conversations, with any vendor or supplier of
grocery products or association of grocery vendors regarding criminal charges being brought
against V/aleed of [sic] Mafi Hamed regarding the embezzlement of Plessen funds at issue in this
action.

RESPONSE:

Admit to the extent that such actions occurred after the matter was already made public
and in response to inquiries, otherwise the statement is denied.
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I29. ADMIT or DENY that Mike Yusuf has had written or verbal communications,
including but not limited to emails and telephone conversation, with any vendor or supplier of
grocery products or association of grocery vendors regarding criminal charges being brought
against V/aleed of [sic] Mafi Hamed regarding the embezzlement of Plessen funds at issue in this
action.

RESPONSE:

Admit to the extent that such actions occurred after the matter was already made public
and in response to inquiries, otherwise the statement is denied.

130, ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf has had written or verbal communications,
including but not limited to emails and telephone conversation, with any vendor or supplier of
grocery products or association of grocery vendors regarding criminal charges being brought
against V/aleed of [sic] Mafi Flamed regarding the embezzlement of Plessen funds at issue in this
action.

RESPONSE:

Admit to the extent that such actions occurred after the matter was already made public
and in response to inquiries, otherwise the statement is denied.

l3l. ADMIT or DENY that Yusuf Yusuf forwarded a copy of a Daily News article to
any vendor or supplier of grocery products or association of grocery vendors regarding criminal
charges being brought against Waleed of [sic] Mafi Hamed regarding the embezzlement of
Plessen funds at issue in this action.

RESPONSE:

Yusuf Yusuf is unable to recall whether he forwarded a copy of the Daily News article to
anyone described in this RTA and therefore, it is Denied.

132. ADMIT or DENY that Mike Yusuf forwarded a copy of a Daily News article to
any vendor or supplier of grocery products or association of grocery vendors regarding criminal
charges being brought against Waleed of [sic] Mafi Hamed regarding the embezzlement of
Plessen funds at issue in this action,
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RESPONSE:

Deny.

133. ADMIT or DENY that Fathi Yusuf forwarded a copy of a Daily News article to
any vendor or supplier of grocery products or association of grocery vendors regarding criminal
charges being brought against Waleed of [sic] Mafr Hamed regarding the embezzlement of
Plessen funds at issue in this action.

RESPONSE:

Deny.

I34. ADMIT ot DENY that Nizar DeWood's conversations and written
communications on behalf of Plaintiff with members of the VIPD are not privileged.

RESPONSE:

Yusuf Yusuf is unable to admit or deny the allegations set forth in the RTA as they are

not specific as to the conversations involved or the matters covered. Ilence, they stand denied.

135. ADMIT or DENY that Plaintiff claims Nizar De'Wood's conversations and
written communications on behalf of Plaintiff with members of the VIPD are privileged.

R-ESPONSE:

Yusuf Yusuf is unable to admit or deny the allegations set forth in the RTA as they are
not specific as to the conversations involved or the matters covered. Hence, they stand denied.

136. ADMIT or DENY that Nazir De'Wood's conversations and written
communications oh behalf of Plaintiff with members of the VIPD are privileged.

RESPONSE:
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Yusuf Yusuf is unable to admít or deny the allegations set forth in the RTA as they are
not specific as to the conversations involved or the matters covered. Hence, they stand denied.

137. ADMIT or DENY that Plaintiff claims Nizar DeWood's conversations and
written communications on behalf of Plaintiff with employees of Scotiabank are privileged,

R4SP,ONSE:

Yusuf Yusuf is unable to admit or deny the allegations set forth in the RTA as they are
not specific as to the conversations involved or the matters covered. Hence, they stand denied.
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YUSUF'YUSUF, F'ATIII YUSUF, F'A\ryZIA YUSUF,
NEJEH YUSUF, and ZAYED YUSUF, in their
individual capacities and derivatively on behalf of
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

MOIIAMMAD HAMED, \ilALEED HAMED,
\ryAHEED HAMED, MUFEED HAMED,
HISHAM HAMED, F'M-H HOLDINGS, INC., and
KAC357, rNC.,

Defendants,

-and-

PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Nominal Defendant,

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
\

PLAINTIFF YUSUF YUSUtr''S RESPONSES TO
MUFEED IIAMED'S SECOND SET INTERROGATORIES

Plaintiff, Yusuf Yusut through his attorneys, Dudley, Topper and Feuerzeig, LLP,

hereby provides his Responses to Defendant Mufeed Hamed's Second Set of Interrogatories:

GENERAL OBJECTIONS

Yusuf Yusuf makes the following general objections to the lnterrogatories. These

general objections apply to all or so many of the Interrogatories that, for convenience, they are

set forth herein and are not necessarily repeated after each objectionable Interrogatory. The

assertion of the samer similar, or additional objections in the individual responses to the

CASE NO. SX-13-CV-120

ACTION FOR DAMAGES,
DECLARA.TORY AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
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Interrogatories, or the failure to assert any additional objections to a discovery request does not

waive any of Yusuf Yusuf s objections as set forth below:

(l) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Interrogatories to the extent they may impose

obligations different from or in addition to those required under the F'ederal Rules of Civil

Procedure,

(2) Yusuf Yusuf objects to each interrogatory that uses the words "any" and "all" as

being overly broad, unduly burdensome, immaterial, irrelevant, and not reasonably calculated to

lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

(3) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Interrogatories to the extent they seek information

which is protected by the attorney-client privilege or work-product doctrine, including

information prepared in anticipation of litigation, or for trial, by or on behalf of Yusuf Yusuf or

relating to mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of its attorneys or

representatives, or any other applicable privilege or doctrine under fèderal or state statutory,

constitutional or common law. Yusuf Yusufls ansv/ers shall not include any information

protected by such privileges or doctrine, and documents or information iuadvefently produced

which includes such privileged information shall not be deemed a waiver by Yusuf Yusuf of

such privilege or doctrine.
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(4) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Interrogatories to the extent that they seek information

and documents concerning any matter that is irrelevant to the claims or defenses of any party to

this action, and not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

(5) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Interrogatories to the extent that they use terms or

phrases that are vague, ambiguous, or undefined. Yusuf Yusuf s response to each such request

will be based upon its understanding of the request.

(6) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Interrogatories to the extent they seek documents or

information not in the possession, custody or control of Yusuf Yusuf, on the ground that it would

subject him to undue burden, oppression and expense, and impose obligations not required by the

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

(7) Yusuf Yusuf has not completed either its discovery or its preparation for trial of

this matter. Accordingly, Yusuf Yusuf s responses to the lnterrogatories are made without

prejudice to Yusuf Yusuf s right to make any use of, or proffbr at aîy hearing or at trial, and are

based only upon information presently available. If and as additional, non-privileged, responsive

documents are discovered, these Interrogatories will be supplemented to the extent that

supplementation may be required by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

(8) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Interrogatories to the extent that when all of the

subparts are included they are in excess of the number permitted by Rule 33.
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INTERROGATORIES AND RESPONSES
Numbering continued fror-n First Set

INTERROGATORY NO. 8

Describe, with particularity as to dates and persons or documents present, all meetings,

conferences or communications between any attorney for Plaintiff or for any member of the

Yusuf Family and: Scotiabank, the VI Daily News, the VIPD, Attorney General's Office or any

other VI Government official, regarding the alleged embezzlement from the Plessen Account.

RESPONSE:

Subject to the above-stated objections and without waiving any objections, shortly after
March 27,2013, when the $460,000.00 check was cashed by Waleed Hamed and Mufeed
Hamed, Yusuf Yusuf went to the Sunny Isle Branch of Scotia Bank in person and asked to speak
with someone regarding information on a commercial account. Ms. Yvette Clendenen from
Scotia Bank was called to speak with Yusuf Yusuf. During that conversation, Yusuf Yusuf
inquired about Plessen account and the monies that had been removed. Ms. Clendenen showed
Yusuf Yusuf the balance in the Plessen account, the monies which had been taken out and
provided him a photocopy of the $460,000.00 check front and back. The next day, Yusuf Yusuf
returned to the Sunny Isle Branch of Scotia Bank and asked for Ms. Clendenen. During this
conversation, Yusuf Yusuf asked her for a copy documents in the bank's files as to the persons
authorized to sign checks on behalf of Plessen, Ms. Clendenen provided a copy of the Intake
Gathering Form from Scotia Bank's physical file. A true and correct copy of the documents
received are attached hereto as Bates Stamped - 12-YY-0001-2;000273-281.

It is Mike Yusufs recollection that in mid-to-late 2011 or early 2012, that it was
determined that two signatures would be required, one Hamed and one Yusuf and that the Mike
Yusuf and 'Waleed Hamed separately went into Scotia Bank and executed the documents with
this requirement.

This change is also reflected in the signatures on the checks from the Plessen account.
From September, 2011, all checks written bear one Hamed and on Yusuf signature. The
exception to this is the $460,000.00 check which bears two Hamed signatures. See Bates
Stamped documents, 12-YY-00489-501, which are the checks written on the Plessen account
each containing two signatures, one Hamed and one Yusuf after September of 2011.
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On May 17,2013, Attorney Nizar DeWood and Maher Yusuf met with VIPD Off,rcer
Mark Corneiro. During that meeting they conveyed to him orally the events which Officer
Corneiro chronicles in his Affidavit. At that time, the documents provided were those listed in
Offrcer Corneiro's Affidavit atpage 3. Based upon Officer Mark Corneiro's Affidavit, it appears
that he conducted his own independent investigation into the matter and he appears to have
secured additional information directly from Scotia Bank, including the signature cards,
reflecting 'oOne Hamed and One Yusuf'. Mike Yusuf recalls that there were a few calls between
himself and Sergeant Corneiro but does not recall the dates. Sergeant Corneiro inquired about the
name "Galleria" in Smith Bay which had arisen as part of his investigation into the funds that
were deposited into Wally's account. Mike Yusuf explained that he understood that this related
to the real property upon which a supermarket was being constructed in Red Hook, St. Thomas
formerly known as Marina Market.

The V.LP.D. investigation was later turned over to Attorney Kippy Roberson of the
Attorney General's office. Attorney Roberson contacted Attorney Nizar DeWood and requested
any information available. The exact date of this communication is unknown but on March 30,
2016, in response to Attorney Roberson's request, Yusuf Yusuf provided to Attorney DeWood a

copy of the Intake Gathering Form with signatures and requirement for one Hamed and one
Yusuf. See Bates Stamps 12-YY-000273-281. Attorney DeWood forwarded the information to
Attorney Roberson as requested the same day. No further communication occurred between
Attorney DeV/ood or any of the Yusufls regarding this matter and Attorney Roberson.

With regard to the V.l. Daily News, Mike Yusuf received a call from them and answered
no questions and referred them to the V.LP.D. The date of the contact is uncertain.



Yusuf Yusu{, et al. (v. Mohammad Hamed, et al.)
Case No. SX-l3-CV-120
PlaintiffYusuf Yusuls Responses to Defendant
Mufeed Hamed's Second Intenogatories
Page6ofll

INTERROGATORY NO. 9

Describe any privilege(s) asserted with regard to conversations and communications

between any attomey for Plaintiff or for any member of the Yusuf Family and: Scotiabank, the

VI Daily News, the VIPD, Attorney General's Office or any other VI Government official,

regarding the alleged embezzlement from the Plessen Account. (If no such privilege(s) are

asserted, state'oNone asserted."

RESPONSE:

None asserted.
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INTERROGATORY NO. 10

In the Amended Complaint, at page 5, paragraph 27. Plaintiff alleges:

27, Yusuf then reviewed Plessen's bank statements and learned that on March 27,2013,
Waleed and Mufeed, without authorization, issued check number 03 76 in the amount of
$460,000.00 from Plessen's Scotiabank account, made payable to Waleed in his personal
capacity, with no business purpose,

For the date, March27,2017, [sic]

a. state the offrcers ancl directors of Plessen, and when and how each had become a
director.

b. state what articles of incorporation and bylaws were in effect.

c. state what you understand and contend were the powers and duties of the President and
Vice-President.

RESPONSE:

Subject to the above-stated objections and without waiving any objections, Yusuf Yusuf
shows that date of "March 27, 2017" is obviously incorrect. T'o the extent that the date is
assumed to mean "March 27,2013," Yusuf Yusuf shows that Mohammed Hamed, who
previously served as President and was a director is now deceased, Fathi Yusuf has always
served as the Secretary and Treasurer and has been a director. The Yusuf s were under the belief
that Mike Yusuf was a director of Plessen as a result of documents provided to the V.l.
Govemment Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he originally was
provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank ancl reflected in the August
17, 2009 bank records. He was also listecl on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia as a
"director." Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v,

Yusuf et al, sx-72-370 case, swore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directot's of Plessen.
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as

is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations," See Bates Stamped
documents 12-YY-00509-5 I I .

Yusuf Yusuf shows that the corporate records for Plessen were outside any of the parties'
control for years following the FBI raid in which the corporate records were seized. In April,
2014, Carl Beckstedt prepared corporate documents to reflect Mike's position as a director.
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Attorney Holt advised Carl Beckstedt to the contrary. However, Attorney Beckstedt did not
comply but rather advised that he would need to confirm with the parties. Nonetheless, there is
not an executed document in the official corporate record book reflecting Mike Yusufls position
as a director.

The powers and the duties of the President and the Vice President were limited by the
Bylaws, including Article V, Section 5.1(c) which requires checks to be signed by either the
President or Vice President and then countersigned by the Secretary or Treasurer. This would
require that one Hamed and one Yusuf would ultimately be signing all checks, In addition, in
mid-to-late 2011, all checks thereafter were signed by one Hamed and one Yusuf, with the
exception of the $460,000.00 check. No officer was allowed to remove funds from the account
without the dual family signatures and this was the accepted restriction agreed to by the two
families in addition to the other restrictions already imposed by Article V of the Bylaws.
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INTERROGAIORY NO. 11

Describe any privilege(s) asserted with regard to conversations and communications

between any attorney for Plaintiff or for any member of the Yusuf Family and: Scotiabank, the

VI Daily News, the VIPD, Attorney General's Offrce or any other VI Government official,

regarding the alleged embezzlement from the Plessen Account, (If no such privilege(s) are

asserted, state "none asserted."

RESPONSE:

This Interogatory is duplicative of Interrogatory No, 9.
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VERIFICATTON

I hereby certify under p€ndty of perjury that the facts contained in each oflhe foregoing

responses to interrogitories ðre true and correct to the best of my knowledge, inforrnation and

belief.

DATED:

TERRTTORY OF THE U.S. VTRGTN ISLANDS

DISTRICT OF

personally appe¡¡red Yusuf Yusuf, known to il¡e
name is subscribed to the within document and
the purpose therein contained.

On this, ttre I 5 day of ..jK

5{. [*iv

IN ïVnNESS \ryHEREOF, I hereunro ser my hand and official seal.

)

)

)

ss.:

&CI,
(or satisfactorily proven) to be the person whose

acknowledged thut helshe executed the same for

, before me, the undersigned officer,
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DATED:

(V.L Bar #1281)
Law House
1000 Frederiksberg Gade - P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, VI 00804-0756
Telephone: (340)715-4422
Facsimile: (340) 715-4400
E-Mail: cperrell@dtflaw.com

Attorneys for P laintiffs

CERTII'ICATE OX' SERVICE
-l'L-

It is hereby certified that on this f5'day of February, 2Ol7,I caused a true and exact
copy of the foregoing PLAINTIFF' YUSUF YUSUF"S RESPONSES TO DEFENDANT
MUFEED HAMED'S SECOND SET OF' INTERROGATORIES to be served upon the
following via e-mail:

Mark W. Eckard, Esq. Jeffrey B.C, Moorhead, Esq.
H,lùtvl & Ecx,lnn, r,lr C.R,T. Building
5030 Anchor Way - Suite 13 1132 King Street
Christiansted, St. Croix Ch¡istiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820-4692 U.S. Virgin Islands 00820
E-Mail: meckard@hammneckard.com E-Maill jeffre)¡mlaw@,yahoo.com

l_.
lF--

February 1.5 ,'2017 By:

DLEY, TOppnn AND FEUE
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YUSUF YUSUT" X'ATHI YUSUF., F'A\ryZIA YUSUF"
NEJEH YUSUX', and ZAYED YUSUF', in their
individual capacities and derivatively on behalf of
PLESSEN ENTERPRTSES, INC.,

Plaintifß,

vs.

MOHAMMAD HAMED, \ryALEED HAMED,
WAHEED HAMED, MUX'EED HAMED,
HISHAM HAMED, FM-H HOLDINGS,INC., and
KAC357,INC.,

Defendants,

-and-

PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Nominal Defendant,

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
\

PLAINTIF'F'YUSUF YUSUX''S RULE 34
RESPONSE TO MUF'EED HAMED'S SECOND

REOUEST F'OR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS

Plaintiff, Yusuf Yusuf, through its attorneys, Dudley, Topper and Feuerzeig, LLP, hereby

submits its Rule 34 Response to Defendant Mufeed Hamed's Second Request for Production of

Documents. This Response is being submitted pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 34, as applied to this

Court by Superior Court Rule 7.

CASE NO. SX-13-CV-120

ACTION F'OR DAMAGES,
DECLARATORY AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
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GENERAL OBJECTIONS

l. Yusuf Yusuf objects to each demand that uses the words "any" and "all" as being

overbroad, unduly burdensome, immaterial, irrelevant, and not reasonably calculated to lead to

the discovery of admissible evidence.

2. Yusuf Yusuf objects to each demand that uses terms like "any," "all," "relate to,"

"regarding," and "pertaining to," with respect to general categories of documents on the grounds

that the use of such terms makes the demand vague and overbroad.

3. Yusuf Yusuf objects to each demand to the extent it seeks the production of

documents or information protected by the attorney-client, work product or other privileges.

Only non-privileged documents, or portions thereof, will be produced.

4. Yusuf Yusuf objects to each demand to the extent that it uses terms or phrases

that are vague, ambiguous, or undefined. Yusuf Yusuf s response to each such demand is based

upon its understanding of the demand.

5, Yusuf Yusuf objects to each demand that asks for documents that fall outside the

scope of this litigation, To the extent the demands seek production of such documents, the

demands impose an undue burden and expense. Further, such documents are irrelevant,

immaterial, and not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.
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6. Yusuf Yusuf objects to each demand to the extent it requires the production of

documents outside of its possession, custody or control.

7 . Yusuf Yusuf is continuing its efforts to identify non-privileged docurnents that are

responsive to plaintiffls demand for production. Consequently, the documents produced may be

supplemented.

8. Yusuf Yusuf objects to the production of any documents prior to the entry of a

confidentiality agreement and order.

9. Each document Yusuf Yusuf produces is subject to all of the above general

objections and all specific objections listed below. Inadvertent production of privileged

documents shall not be deemed a waiver.

10, Yusuf Yusuf incorporates by reference its general and specific objections made to

these document requests in its August 13,2013 Objections to Plaintiffls Demand for Production

of Documents.
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RESPONSE TO REQUESTS
X'OR PRODUCTION OF' DOCUMENTS

1. Please provide all documents showing Plessen shareholder meeting notices from
January 31, 1998 to present.

RESPONSE:

See Bates Stamped Documents - 120-YY-0004-224

2, Please provide all documents showing Plessen shareholder meetings that took
place from January 31, 1998

RESPONSE:

See Bates Stamped Documents - 120-YY-0004-224

3. Please provide signed Plessen Enterprises, Inc. stock certificates showing that the
Yusuf family owns 50% of the outstanding shares in Plessen.

RESPONSE:

See Bates Stamped Documents - 1 20-YY -0004-224; 1 5 5 ; 1 62-217 .

4, Please provide all of the documents any Yusuf family member or Yusuf attomey
submiued to the Virgin Islands Police Department personnel in connection with People v Mufeed
Hamed, SX-l5'CR-352 and People v Waleed Hamed, SX-l5-CR-353.

RESPONSE:

Subject to the above-stated objections and without waiving any objections, shortly after
March 27,2013, when the S460,000.00 check was cashed by Waleed Hamed and Mufeed
Hamed, Yusuf Yusuf went to the Sunny Isle Branch of Scotia Bank in person and asked to speak
with someone regarding information on a commercial account. Ms. Yvette Clendenen from
Scotia Bank was called to speak with Yusuf Yusuf. During that conversation, Yusuf Yusuf
inquired about Plessen account and the monies that had been removed. Ms. Clendenen showed
Yusuf Yusuf the balance in the Plessen account, the monies which had been taken out and
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provided him a photocopy of the $460,000.00 check front and back. The next day, Yusuf Yusuf
returned to the Sunny Isle Branch of Scotia Bank and asked for Ms. Clendenen. During this
conversation, Yusuf Yusuf asked her for a copy documents in the bank's files as to the peïsons
authorized to sign checks on behalf of Plessen, Ms. Clendenen provided a copy of the Intake
Gathering Form from Scotia Bank's physical file. A true and correct copy of the documents
received are attached hereto as Bates Stamped - l2-YY-0001-2;000213-281.

It is Mike Yusuf s recollection that in mid-to-late 2011 or early 2012, that it was
determined that two signatures would be required, one Hamed and one Yusuf and that the Mike
Yusuf and Waleed Hamed separately went into Scotia Bank and executed the documents with
this requirement.

This change is also reflected in the signatures on the checks from the Plessen account.
From September, 2011, all checks written bear one Hamed and on Yusuf signature, The
exception to this is the $460,000,00 check which bears two Hamed signatures. See Bates
Stamped documents, 12-YY-00489-501, which are the checks written on the Plessen account
each containing two signatures, one Hamed and one Yusuf after September of 201 1.

On May 17,20t3, Attorney Nizar DeWood and Maher Yusuf met with VIPD Officer
Mark Corneiro. During that meeting they conveyed to him orally the events which Officer
Corneiro chronicles in his Affidavit. At that time, the documents provided were those listed in
Officer Corneiro's Affidavit atpage 3. Based upon Officer Mark Corneiro's Affidavit, it appears
that he conducted his own independent investigation into the matter and he appears to have
secured additional information directly from Scotia Bank, including the signature cards,
reflecting "One Hamed and One Yusuf'. Mike Yusuf recalls that there were a few calls between
himself and Sergeant Corneiro but does not recall the dates. Sergeant Corneiro inquired about the
name "Galleria" in Smith Bay which had arisen as part of his investigation into the funds that
were deposited into Wally's account, Mike Yusuf explained that he understood that this related
to the real property upon which a supermarket was being constructed in Red Hook, St. Thomas
formerly known as Marina Market.

The V.LP.D. investigation was later turned over to Attorney Kippy Roberson of the
Attorney General's office, Attorney Roberson contacted Attorney Nizar DeWood and requested
any information available. The exact date of this communication is unknown but on March 30,
2016, in response to Attorney Roberson's request, Yusuf Yusuf provided to Attorney DeWood a
copy of the Intake Gathering Form with signatures and requirement for one Hamed and one
Yusuf. See Bates Stamps 12-YY-000273-281. Attorney DeWood forwarded the information to
Attorney Roberson as requested the same day. No further communication occuned between
Attorney DeWood or any of the Yusuf s regarding this matter and Attomey Roberson.
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It appears that the signature cards were not in possession of the Yusufs and Ìvere not
provided to the VIPD or the Attorney General's office. Rather, the information provided to the
VIPD is as listed in the Affidavit of Mark Affidavit at page 3. Subsequently, the Intake
Gathering form was not provided until March of 2016 when requested by Attomey Roberson.
The documents provided to Roberson vvere Bates Stamps 12-YY-000273-281.

5. Please provide all documents or communications present at or related to, all
meetings, conferences ø communications between any member of the Yusuf Family and the VI
Daily News regarding the alleged embezzlement from the Plessen Account.

RESPONSE:

There are no documents responsive to this request.

6, Please provide all documents or communications present at or related to, all
meetings, conferences or communications between any member of the Yusuf Family and the
VIPD regarding the alleged embezzlement from the Plessen Account.

RESPONSE:

See response to RTP #4,

7. Please provide all documents or communications present at or related to,
all meetings, conferences qI communications between any member of the Yusuf Family and any
VI Govemment official (excluding the VIPD) regarding the alleged embezzlement from the
Plessen Account,

RESPONSE:

See response to RTP #4.

8. Please provide all documents or communications present at or related to, all
meetings, conferences ø communications between any member of the Yusuf Family and
Scotiabank regarding the alleged embezzlement from the Pleassen Account.

RESPONSE:
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See response to RTP #4,

9. Please provide all document or communications present at or related to, all
meetings, conferences or communications between any member of the Yusuf Family and
vendors selling to the Hamed family business regarding the alleged embezzlement from the
Plessen Account.

RESPONSE:

Yusuf Yusuf is unaware of documents responsive to this request.

10. Please provide all documents evidencing a meeting of the Board of Directors for
Plessen Enterprises, Inc. where the Board had voted to make Maher (Mike Yusuf a Plessen
director.

RESPONSE:

There are no documents responsive to this request. However, Yusuf Yusuf provides
Yusuf s were under the belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of Plessen as a result of documents
provided to the V.I. Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he
originally was provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected
in the August 17,2009 bank records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia
as a "director," Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v.

Yusuf et al, sx-12-370 case, swore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen.
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director, The other th¡ee directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as
is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents 12-YY-00509-5 1 l.

1 1. Please provide all documents evidencing a meeting of the shareholders of Plessen
Enterprises, Inc. where the shareholders had voted to make Maher (Mike) Yusuf a Plessen
director.
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RESPONSE:

There are no documents responsive to this request. However, Yusuf Yusuf provides
Yusuf s were under the belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of Plessen as a result of documents
provided to the V.I. Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he
originally \ilas provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected
in the August 17,2009 bank records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia
as a "director." Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v.

Yusuf et al, sx-12-370 case, swore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen.
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as
is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents 12-YY-00509-5 1 1.

12. Please provide all documents
Board of Directors for Plessen Enterprises,
Plessen director.

RESPONSE:

There are no documents responsive to this request. However, Yusuf Yusuf provides
Yusuf s were under the belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of Plessen as a result of documents
provided to the V.L Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he
originally was provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected
in the August 17,2009 bank records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia
as a "director." Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v.
Yusuf et al, sx-12-370 case, swore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen.
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons \ryere all aware of this fact, as
is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents 1 2-YY-00509-5 1 1.

showing
Inc. that

by a unanimous consent action of the
Maher (Mike) Yusuf had been made a
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13. Please provide all documents showing by a unanimous
Plessen Enterprises, Inc. shareholders and Maher (Mike) Yusuf had
director.

RESPONSE:

There are no documents responsive to this request. However, Yusuf Yusuf shows that
Yusuf s were under the belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of Plessen as a result of documents
provided to the V.L Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he
originally was provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected
in the August l7 ,2009 bank records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia
as a "director." Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v,

Yusuf et al, sx-72-370 case, s\ryore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen.
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as
is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents 12-YY-00509-5 I I .

L4. Please provide all documents showing by a unanimous consent action of the
Board of Directors for Plessen Enterprises Inc. that the size of the Plessen Board of Directors
increased to more than three directors.

RESPONSE:

There are no documents responsive to this request. However, Yusuf Yusuf shows that
Yusuf s were under the belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of Plessen as a result of documents
provided to the V.I. Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he
originally was provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected
in the August 17,2009 bank records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia
as a "director." Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v.
Yusuf et al, sx-t2-370 case, s\ryore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen.
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as
is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents 12-YY-00509-5 I 1.

consent action of the
been made a Plessen
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15. Please provide all documents showing by a unanimous consent action of the
shareholders for Plessen Enterprises Inc. that the size of the Plessen Board of Directors increased
to more than three directors.

RESPONSE:

There are no documents responsive to this request. However, Yusuf Yusuf shows that
Yusuf s were under the belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of Plessen as a result of documents
provided to the V.I. Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he
originally was provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected
in the August 17 ,2009 bank records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia
as a "director," Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to intenogatories in the Hamed v.
Yusuf et al, sx-12-370 case, swore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen,
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as
is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations," See Bates Stamped
documents 12-YY-00509-5 1 1.

16. Please provide all documents showing a vote by the Board of Directors for
Plessen Enterprises, Inc. to increase the size of the Plessen Board of Directors to more than three
directors.

RESPONSE:

There are no documents responsive to this request. However, Yusuf Yusuf shows that
Yusuf s were under the belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of Plessen as a result of documents
provided to the V.I. Government Department of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he
originally was provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected
in the August 1,7,2009 bank records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia
as a "director." Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v.
Yusuf et al, sx-12-370 case, swore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen.
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons \ryere all aware of this fact, as
is the Office of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents 12-YY-00509-5 1 1.



Yusuf Yusuf, et al. (v. Mohammad Hamed, et al.)
Case No, SX-13-CV-120
Plaintiff Yusuf Yusuf s Rule 34 Response to Mufeed Hamed's
Second Request for Production of Documents
Page ll of12

17. Please pl'ovide all documents showing a vote by the shareholders of Plessen
Enterprises, Inc. to increase the size of the Plessen Board of Directors to more than three
directors.

RESPONSE:

There are no documents responsive to this request, However, Yusuf Yusuf shows that
Yusufl s were under the belief that Mike Yusuf was a director of Plessen as a result of documents
provided to the V.I. Government Depafment of Licensing and Consumer Affairs and because he
originally was provided signature authority as to the Plessen account at Scotia Bank and reflected
in the August 17 ,2009 bank records. He was also listed on the Intake Gathering Form for Scotia
as a "director." Furthermore, Mohammed Hamed in response to interrogatories in the Hamed v.

Yusuf et al, sx-12-370 case, swore that "I [Mohammed] am one of the four directors of Plessen.
To the best of my recollection, I have always been a director. The other three directors and
shareholders of the complaint, including Fathi Yusuf and his sons were all aware of this fact, as

is the Offrce of the Lieutenant Governor, Division of Corporations." See Bates Stamped
documents l2-YY-00509-5 I 1,

18. Please provide all of the documents any attorney on behalf of a Yusuf family
member submitted to any VI Government offrcial (excluding the VIPD) in connection with
People v. Mufeed Hamed, SX-15-CR-352 and People v Ilaleed Hamed, SX-15-CR-353.

RESPONSE:

See response to RTP #4.



Yusuf Yusuf, et al, (v. Mohammad Hamed, et al.)
CaseNo. SX-13-CV-120
Plaintiff Yusuf Yusuf s Rule 34 Response to Mufeed Hamed's
Second Request for Production of Documents
Page 12 of 12

DATED:

Law House
1000 Frederiksberg Gade - P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, VI 00804-0756
Telephone: (340)715-4422
Facsimile: (340) 715-4400
E-Mail: cperrell@dtflaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

CERTIT'ICATE OX' SERVICE

It is hereby certified that on this _ day of February, 2017,I caused a true
and exact copy of the foregoing PLAINTIF'F' YUSUF YUSUF'S RULE 34 RESPONSE TO
MUX'EED HAMED'S SECOND REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OX'DOCUMENTS to be
served upon the following via e-mail:

Mark V/. Eckard, Esq. Jeffrey B.C. Moorhead, Esq,
Hlwtwt & Ecx¡,no,lr,p C.R,T. Building
5030 Anchor Way - Suite 13 1132 King Street
Christiansted, St. Croix Ch¡istiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820-4692 U.S. Virgin Islands 00820
E-Mail: meckard@hammneckard.cor4 E-Mail: jeffreymlaw@yahoo.com

+-
February J5)0"

ER AND F'nr¡nnzuc, LLP
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IN THE STIPITRIOII COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF'ST. CROIX

YUSUF YUSUF, FATTII YUSUF, T'AWZI.A YI.]SUF, )
NItr.IEIf YUSUF, and ZAYED YUSUF', in their )
individual capacities and derivatively on behalf of )
PLESSEN ENTERPRTSES,INC., )

Plaintiffs,

vs.

MOHAMMAD HAMED, WALEED HAMED,
\ryAHEED HAMED, MT] }-EED HAMED,
HISHAM ITAMED, FM-H HOLDINGS,INC., and
KAC357,INC.,

Delèndants,

-and-

IÌLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Nominal Defendant,

PLAINTIf,'F YUSUF' YUS UF'S RES PONSE TO DEFENDAN'I'
MUFEED IIAMED'S THIRD SET OI IINOIJRSTS FOR ADMI$SIONS

Plaintifi Yusuf Yusuf, through his attorneys, Dudley, Topper and Feuerz.eig, LLP,

hereby provides its Responses to Defendant Mufèecl l{amed's 'Ihird Set of l{equests lor

Admissions:

GEN T]IIÂ L OIIJITCTIONS

Yusuf Yusuf makes the fbllowiug general otrjections to tlre Seoond Set ofi Requests for

Admissions. These general objeotions apply to all or so many of the Requests ftrr Admissions

that, for convenience, they are set forth herein ancl ¿re not necessarily repeated after each

objectionable Requests ftrr Admissions, 'fhe asserfion of the same, similar, or additional

objections in the individual responses tc¡ the Recluests flcrr Admissions, or the làilule to asserl any

additional objections to a cliscc¡very recluest does not waive any of'Yusuf Yusul's ob.iecthns as

set forth below:

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
ì

cAS[ N(). SX-13-CV-120

ACTION FOR DAMAGDS,
DECLARATORY AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

JI]RY TRIAL DEMANDED

DUDLEY, fOPPER
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l'usuJ'Yttsuf et al. (v. Itlohsmmad llamed, et al.)
Casc No. SX-13-CY-l20
I'lointi/f Yusuf Yusuf's Response to Defenclant
Mtfercd I I ame d's Thi rd S et of' Ileque.sts for Adm i,s,s i ons
Poge 2 o/'24

(l) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Requests 1'or Admissions to the extent they rnay

irnpose obligations dif'1'erent f¡om c¡r in .rdclition to those required rinder the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure.

(2) Yusrif Yusuf objects to each request for aclmissiou that uses the worcls "any" anil

o'all" as being overly bload, unduly burclensorne, immaterial, irreler.,ant. and not reasonrùly

calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

(3) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Rec¡nests fbr Admissions to the extent they scek

information which is plotectecl by the attorney-client ptivilege or work-product doctrinc,

including infbrmation prepared in anticipation of litigation, or {'or ttial, by or on behalf of Yusuf

Yusuf. or relating to melltal impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories o1 its attorneys

or representatives, or any other applicable privilege or clootrinc under federal or state statutory,

conslituticlnal or common law. Yusuf Yusufls answers shall nr:t inch"rde any infìrrrnation

protectecl by suoh privileges or doctrine, and clocuments oL information inadverlently producecl

which inclurdes such plivilegecl inlormation shall not be deemecl a waiver by Yusuf Yusul of'

such prìvilege or doctrine.

(4) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Recluests fìr' Adrnissions to the extent that they seek

infix'ni¿rtion ancl documents concerning any matter that i.s irrelevant to the claims or clefenses of

any party to this action, ancl not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of adrnissible

evidence.
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(5) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Requests for Admissions to the extent that they use

terms ol phrases that are vague, arnbiguous, or undefined. Yusuf Yusufls response to each such

request will be based upon its understanding of the reqttest.

(6) Yusuf Yusuf objects to the Requests t'or Admissions to the extent they seek

<Ioouments or information not in the possessi<ln, custocly or control of Yusuf Yusuf, on the

ground that it would subject it to undue burden, oppression atrd cxpense, and impose obligations

not requirecl by the F'ederal Rules of Clivil Prtlcedure.

(7) Yusuf Yusul'has not completed either its discovery or its preparation for trial of

this matter. Accclrdingly, Yusuf Yusuls responses to the Requests for Admissions are made

without prejudice to Yusuf Yusuf s right to make any use of, or proffer at any hearing or at trial,

and are basecl only upon information presently available. If and as additional, non-privileged,

responsive documents are cliscovered, these Requests for Admissions will be supplemented to

the extent that supplemeffation may be required by the li'ederal Rules of Civil Procedure,

YusufYu,tuf, et al. (v. Mohammad Ilømed, et al.)
Cqse No. SX-13-CV-120
Plaintiff Yu,suf Yusd's llesponse to Detëndant
Mufeed l{amecl's Thit'd Set rf'Requests,for tldnissions
Page 3 of24

(S) Yusuf Yusuf objeots to thc Requests lbr Admissions to the extent that when all of

the subparts are included they are in excess of the number permitted by lìule 33.
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I'u,su.f I'u,suf, et al. (v. Mohantmad Homed, et u{.
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I'lointilf Yusuf I'usuJ''s Rcts¡tonse to De/endotrt
Ìl,It tfe er l l'l a r n erl',ç'l' lt ir cl S e t <>"f 
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IìESPONSES TO THIRD RIIOUESTS II.OIT ADMISSIONS

138. Defèndant Muf'eed ll¿rnted's Secclnd Set of Requests to achnit Yusuf askecl the following
question numbeled \07, and Yusuf provided the following response:

107, Aller reviewing l3 V.l.C. $ 195 Equally divided vote; receivership, rvhich states in
relevant part:

Whenever, by reason of an equally divided vote ol'the stockholders, there shall bc a
Íàilure to elect dircctors, and suclì fàilure for such reason shall exist at two successive
zurnual elections

ADMIT or DENY there has never been "an equally divided vote of the stockholders" ofl
Plessen.

lìBSI)ONSll: Without prejudice to YusuPs position in this litigation as well as the
I'lamed v. Yusuf SX-l2-cv 370 (the "370 Case"), Yusuf admits that there has nevcr been a

rneeting of the sh¿rreholdels of Plessen. Yusuf has maintained in the 370 Case that the rneeting
which occurred on April 30, 2014 without sufficient notice was a meeting that should have
involved all of'the shaleholdcrs ancl that it was improper'lbr a meeting o1 the shateholclers not to
have occurred. Hence, the Hamecls cannot oreate a circumstance that plevenied a vote of the
stockholders, who are clearly divided as between the Yusuf and I:lamed families, for the purpose

of later seeking an admissìon that there has never been an "equally dividecl vote of the
stockholders." In further support of'Yusuf's positiott, Yusuf incorporates by reference as ilfìrlly
set forth herein verbatim, the positions and alguments set fÌrrth in the attached bricfs rclating to
Plessen and the irnproper actions of thc Ilameds. Á'¿e Exhibit A.
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139. ADMIT' or DIINY th¿rt there nevet' has been a vote, by rreeting or written oonseut, of the

shaleholders of Plessen where the issue was tlie election of new direotors.

RESPONSE: Admit. Further responding, without prejuclice to Yusuf s position in this
litigation as well as the 370 Case, Yusuf acLnits that there has nevsr been a meeting of the
shareholders of Plessen. Yusuf has nraintained in the 370 Case that the meeting which occurred
on April 30,2A14 r,vithout sufficient noticc w¿ìs a meeting that should have involved all ol the

shareholders and th¿rt it was improper f'or a nreetiug of the shareholders not to have occurred,
Hence, the Hameds camot cleate a circtunst¿urce that preventecl a vote of the stockholdeLs, wh<l

are olearly divided as betwecn the Yusuf ancl Ilarned farnilies, for the purpose of later sccking an

admission that there has never lreen an "eqrrally dividcd vote ol'the stockholclers." [n further
support <lf'Yusul's position, Yusuf incorporates by refelence as if'lully set fbrth herein verbatim,
the p<lsitiorrs ancl arguments set forth in the attachecl brief's relating to Plcssen and the improper
actions of the Hameds. 5þ¿ llxhibit A.



Yttsu/'Yusul) et al. (v. Mohømnøct l'Iumetl, el ol.)
Ca.çe No. SX-13-CV-120
P I a i n t d!' Yu s u/' Yus uf 's l?e,s 1t tt n,s e t o D e.fe n d a n t
MuJ'e ed Hamed'.s Third Sel oJ'llequests J'or Admission:¡
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140. ADMIT or DENY that thele nevel has been a vote, by meeting or writtcn cousent, of'the
shareholclers of Plessen fbr direotors where the number of share voted was equally divided.

RESPONSE: Admit. Further responcling, without preju<iice to Yusufls position in this
litigafion as well as the 370 Oase, Yusuf aclmits that tlrere lr¿rs never been a meeting of the
shareholders of Plessen. Yusuf has maintaincd in the 370 Case that the meeting which occurrcd
on April 30,2014 without sufficient notice was a rneeting that shoulcl have involved all of the

shareholclers ancl that it r.vas improper for a meeting of. the shareholders not to have ocotu'recl.

Ilence, the Ilarneds camot create a circunrstance that prevented a vote of the stockholclets, wltct

are olearly divided as between the Yusuf and Hamed fàmilies, fbr the purpose of later seeking an

admission that there has never been an "equally divided vote ol the stockholders," In further
support of Yusuf's position, Yusuf incorpolates by lel'erence as il'fìrlly set forthherein verbatim,
the positions zutd arguments set fortli in the attaclred briefs lelating to Plessen and the improper
actions of the llamecfs. 

^See 
Exhibit A.

141. ADMIT or DENY that with regard to Request for Admission numbered 107, Yusuf or
his coulnsel intentionally evaded a proper rcsponse, and thelel'ore relused t<l answçr the RFA.

llESl'ONSE: Denied. Further responding, Yusuf objeots to this requests as it is an

irnproper Request for Adrnission.

142. Defendarf Mufèed Ilamed's Seconcl set of lìequest to Adrnit YusuFwas asked the

f'ollorving question numbered 108, ancl Yusuf providecl the following response:

108. ADMI.'I'or DITNY that "b.v roason <lf an equal divided vote of the stockholders"
there has nevcr begn "a fàilure to elcct clirectors" at a shareholcler meeting.

RIISPONSE,:
The above staternent is a parlial recitation of 13 V.I.C. $195, there is nothing tcl either
admit ol cleny. Cìlearly, the stockholders are equally dividecl.

ADMII'or DI4NY that Plaintiff Yusuf'knorrts of no vote, by meeting or written consent, or thc
sharcholders of Plessen in which the number of'sh¿ues voted was equally divided,

RESPONSE: Aclmit. Further responding, without prejudicc to Yusuls positicln in this
liiigation as well as the 370 Case, Yusuf ¿rdmits that there has never been ¿r tneeting of the

shareholders of Plessen. Yusuf has maintained in the 370 Casc that the meeting whiclr occurred
on April 30,2014 without suff'rcient notioe was a lneeting that should have involved all of the

sharcholdors and that it wzrs irnproper fol a rneeting of the sh¿rreholclers not 1o have occurred.
llence. the Ilamo<ls carutclt create a oircumstance that prevented a vote of the stockholders, who
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Cose No. SX-13-CV-120
P I a i nt i/f Yu srt!' Y us uJ''s Res p on s e I o D e/'e nd cnt
ÃíuJ'eed Hanted's Third Sel o/'Requests frtr Ádntissions
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al'e clearly divicted as between the Yusuf and llamecl fämilies, for the purpose ol'later seeking an

adniission that there has never lreen an "equally divided vote of the stockholclers." In further
suppofi of Yusrú's position, Yusuf incorporates by refèrence as if.lully set fortlr herein verbatim,
the positions and arguments set ftrrth in the attached brief's lelating to Plesseu ancl the improper
aotions of the Flameds. S¿e Ilxhibit ¡\.

143. ADMIT or DIINY that Plaintiff Yusuf knows of'no vote, by rneeting or written consent,
or the shareholdels of Plessen where the issue was the clcctron of uew directors.

III]SPONSE: Admit. Further responcling, without prejucìice to Yusuf s positiorr in this
litigation as well as the 370 Case, Yusuf aclmits that there has never been a meeting of the

sharcholders of Plessen. Yusuf has maintained in the 370 Case that the meeting which occurred
on April 30,2014 without suffioit:rrt notice w¿ìs a mecting that should have involved all of the
sharehr:lclers and that it was impropcr ltlr zr meeting of the shareholders not to havc crccurred.

Ilence, the Hameds cannot oleate a circumstance that preventecl a vote of tlie stockholders, wh<>

are clearly divided as between thc Yusuf and Llamed f'amilies, lbr the purpose of later seeking an

acLnission that there has nevcr been an "ecluetlly divicied vote of the stockholders." In ftu'ther
support of Yusuf"s position, Yusuf incorporates by refèrenoe as if f.'ully set forth helein verbatirn,
the positions and arguments set foflh in the attached brief's relating to Plessen and the improper
action.s of the Iilameds. S"ee Exhibit A. Irurther responding, Yusuf incorporates by refèrence his
earlier responses to discovery in this case which addrcss the fact that even Mohammacl Hamecl
believed that there were four (4) clirectors including Mahel Yr"rsuf. As tlie parties were all uncler

the belief that M¿rher Yusuf was a clireotor ancl as he was providecl with the authority to act as a

director rnaking him a "cle fitcto" clireotor, there lvoulcl havt: been no need to meet to elect new
directors or to increase the number as tlìe l-lamecls and Yusufs were unclor thc belief that there
were f<rur (4) clirectors, two llameds and trvo Yusuß.

144, ADMIT or DDNY that Plaintifn Yusuf knows of no vote, by meeting or written oonsent,
of the shareholders ,¡f Plessen for directors where the nurnber of share vcltecl was ec¡ually clivicled.

RESPON.SE: Aclmit. Furthel responding, withclut plejuclice to Yusufls positi<ln in this
litigation as well as the 370 Case, Yursuf adr¡rits that there has rrevet beon a meetirrg o1 the
shareholclers of Plessen, Yusuf has maintained in the 370 Case that the meeting which occurrecl
on April 30,2014 rvithout sufficient notice was a meeting that shoulcl have involved all of'the
shareholclers ancl that it was improper for a meeting ol'the sharehcllclers not tcl have occurred.
I{cnce, the Ilameds carulot create a circumstance that prevented a vote of'the stookholclers, who
are clearly divided as betr.veen the Yusuf. and l-Iamed families, lbr the purpose of'later seeking iur

achnission that there li¿rs ncver becn an "cclually divided vote of the stockholcleLs." In futthcr
support of Yusuf's positiou, Yusuf incolporates by rcferenoe as if fully set fbrth herein verbatim,
the positions ancl argulnents sel lbrth in the attached briefis relating to Plessen and the improper
actions of the Hamecl's, ó-'se Exhibit A.
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145. ADMIT or DENY that with rogard to Request tbr Adrnission nutnber 108, Yusuf or his
oounsel intentionally evaded a proper responsc, and therefore rcf used to answer the Ill.A,

RII,SPONSE: f)enied. Furrther responding, Yusul objects to this recluests as it is an
irnproper Request for Admissi<ln.

146, Defendant Mufeed Hamecl's Second Set of. Iìequest to Admit, Yusul' was asked the
ltlllowing questions numbered 109, and Yusuf'provided the ibllor.ving response:

109, AI)MIT or DENY that "a failure to elect directots" írt "t\4,o st¡ccessive annual
Iìlection[.s l" at Plessen sharehclltler meeting has uever occumed.

RESI'ONSII:
The above statement is a partial recitation of l3 V.l.C. (i195, there is nclthing to either
adlnit or dcny. Clearly, the stockholders are equnlly clivided.

ADMI'I or DE,NY that there have never bcen "two successivc annual elections" of clirectols by
the sharehi¡lders of Plessen - regardless of the outcome.

llESl'ONSE: Admit. Further rosponcling, without plejLrdice t<l Yusulls po.sition in this
litigation as woll as the 370 Case, Yusuf admits that there has nevel been a meeting of the
shareholders of Plessen. Yusuf has maintained in the 370 Clase tl"rat the rneeting which occurred
crn April 30,2014 without sulfìcient notice was a meeting that should have invr¡lved all of the
shareholders and that it was impropel i'or a meeting of the shareholdets not to h¿rve occu'recl.
Hence, the Hamcds cannot create a circumstance that prevcnted a vote of the stockholders, who
are clearly diviclocl as between the Yusurf'and I l.amed families, lbr the purpose of latel seeking an
admissicln that there has never bcen an "ec¡ually divicled vote of the stookhol<Jets," ln lurthel
support of Yusul's pclsition, Yusuf incorporates by refèrence a.s if fully set f'orlh herein verbatim,
the positions ancl arguments set forth in the attached briefb relating to Plessen and the improper
actions of the Hamecl's. S¿e llxhibit A. Furtlrer responding, Yusuf incorporates by reference his
earlier resporlses to disoovery in this case which aclchess the fàct that even Mohammad Ilarned
believed that thele were l'our'(4) directclrs including Maher Yusuf. As the parties were all under
the belief that Maher Yusuf was a clirector ¿rnd ¿rs he was provided ivith the autholit-v to act as a
director making hinr a "ds fÌrcto" director, there woulcl liavc been lro neecl to meet to elect new
dilectors ol to increase the ntunber ¿rs the Ilamecls and Yusuf's were turder the belief that there
were four (4) clirectors, two I{amecls ancl two Yusufìs,

147. ADMI'I or DENY that PlaintilÏ Yusul knows of no two successive votes of any sort at
rneetings by the shareholders of'Plessen.

RllSl'}ONS[]: Aclnrit. Irurtliel responding, r.vithout prejuclice to Yusuls position in this
litigation as rve I as the 370 Case, Yusul'aclnrits that thercr has never been ¿r rneeting of thc
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shareholders of Plessen. Yusuf has nraintainecl in the 370 Case that the rnceting which occtlll'ed

on April 30,2014 without suff,rr,ient noticc was a tneeting that shoulcl have involved all of the

shareholders and that it \i/as impropel' f:or a nìeeting of the shaleholders not to have occut'l'cd,

Ilence, the IIarnecls cannot create a circumstanse that prevented a vote of the stockholders. who

arc clearly cJivicfed as between the Yusuf. ¿r¡rd [:[amed familiss, f'or the putpose of later seeking an

admission that there has never been an "eclually clividecl vote ol the stockholders." In I'urther

support clf Yusuf's position, Yusuf incorporates by refcrencc Íìs if fully set lbrth herein verbatim,
the positions and argrunents set forth in the attached briet's relatirrg to Plessert ancl thc improper

actions of the Ilamed's. 
^Scø 

Exhibit A,

148. ADMIT or DENY that PlaintilTYusul knows of no two sucoessive votes of any sort at

rneetings by the shareholclers ol Plessen for clirectors where number of share votecl was equally
divided.

RESPONSB: Adrnit. Iìurther responcling, without prejudice to Yusuf s position in this
litigation as well as the 370 Case, Yusuf aclmits that there has nevet' been a meeting of the

shareholclers of Plessen. Yusuf has maintainecl in the 370 Case that the meeting which clccurrecl

on April 30,2014 with<¡ut sufficient notice was a meeting that should have involvecl all of'the
shareholders ancl that it lvas improper fbr a meeting of the shareholders not to have oocurred.

Ile¡ce, the Hameds cannot create a circumstance that preventecl ¿r vclte ol'the stockholders, who
are clearly divided a¡^ bctween the Yusuf ancl Flamed lhmilies, for the purpose of later seeking an

aclniission that thore has never been an "equally clivided vclte clf the stockholders." In ftulher
support of Yusuf s position, Yusuf incorporates by refèrence as if'lully set fbrlh hereiu verbatim,
the positions and arguments set forth in the attaohed briefis telating to Plessen ancl the improper
actions of'the Hamed's. .5'¿¿ Exhibit A,

149. ADMIT or DIDNY that with regarcl to Request for Adrnission nutnbered 109, Yusuf or
his counsel intentionally cvaded a proper response, and therefore reftlse to answer the RIìA.

R.II,SPONS|I: Deniecl. Further responding. Yusuf. <lbjects to this t'equests as it is an

imprclpor Rbquest fbr Admission.

150. ADMIT or ÐENY that Yusuf is unable to .specify all of the clates on which he or Mike
Yusuf met with VIPD police officers with regzird to the alleged embezzlement of $460,000 by
Waleed Flamed at issue here.

RESPQNSE: Deny. Irufiher responding, Yusuf shows that the approximate timeliarnes
and sequence has been provided in earlier responses to discovery. Yusuf inccx'porates by
reference his responses tri earliel discovery outline the tirning and sequence of events as to these

meetings.
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l5l . ADMIT or DITNY that Yursuf is unable to specify all of the dates on which he or Mike
Yusuf had telephone corìvel'sations \^/ith VIPD police officers with regard to the alleged
embezzlemenl of $460,000 by Waleed Hamed ¿rt issue here.

IlItlSl'ONSII: Deny. Fudher respondirrg, Yusuf shows that the approxitnate timeframes
and sequelrce has been providecl in earlier responses to discovery, Yusuf incorporates by
reference his responses to earlier discovery outline the timing and sequence of events as to these
meetings.

152. ADMIT or DENY that Yusuf is unable to specily all of the dates on which he or Mike
Yusuf' rnet with ernployees of the Attclrney General's Office with regard to the alleged
embezzlement of $460,000 by Waleecl Hamed at i.ssue here.

IIESPONSII: Deny. Irurthel responding, Yusuf shows that the appt'oximate tirnelì'ames
and sequence has treen provided in earlier responses to discovery. Yusuf incorpolates by
reference his les¡ronses to earlier cli.scovery outline the timing and sequence of events as to these
meetings.

153, AtlMl't'or DIINY that Yusuf is unable to specify all of the dates on which he or Mike
Yusuf hacl telephone conversations, rnet with employees <lf the Attorney Cìeneral's Office with
regarcl to the allegecl embe'zzletnent of $460,000 by Waleed llamed at issue here.

RE,SPONSII: Deny. Furlher responding, Yusul shows that the approximate timeframes
and sequence has b<len provided in earlier responses to discovery. Yusuf incorporates by
reference his responses to e¿rlier clisoclvery outline the tirring and sequence of events as to these
rneetings.
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154. ADMlll or D[]NY that Yusuf Yusuf dicl not keep written notes of' rneetings or
conversations with, or what documents were proviclecl VIPD police officers with regard to the
alleged embezzlement of $460,000 by Waleecl Hamed at issue here.

RESI'ONSE: Admit becäuse Yusuf Yusuf did not meet with the VIIìD rcgarding the
$460,000 irnproperly remove<l by Waleecl Hamed.

156. ADMIT or DtrNY thal Nizal De Woocl clid not keep writteu notes ol rneetings <lr

conversations with, or what document were prr.lvided VIPD police clfficers with r:egard to the
alleged embczzlemcnt of $460,000 by Waleed Hamed at issue here.

IìESPONSIII: Actnit. I;'urther responding, the documerrts provicled to the VIPD are set
forth in the Affidavit of Sergeant Corneiro as well as in the PoJice Report.
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157. ADMI'I or DENY that Nizar DeWoocl did bill the Yusuß f'or meetings, coffespondence
clr conversations with, or u,hat documents were provided VIPD police officers or the r\ttorney
General's Office with regiìrd to the allegecl embezzlement of $460,000 by 'ü/alled I:larned at
issue here.

RESPONSE: Deny,

158. ADMIT or DENY that Yusuf Yusuf or his present counscl have rcquested fiorn Niz¿rr
DeWo<-¡d all notes of rneetings, con'esponclenoe or conversations witlr, or what cìocuments were
proviclecl VIPD police <lf'Iicers or the Atlorney General's Ofïice with regarcl to the allegecl
embezzlement of'$460,000 by Wallecl llamecl at issue here.

RIISPONSIi: Aclmit.

159. ADMIT or DENY that Yusuf Yusuf or his prosent counsel have provided to Defendalts
Nizar DeVy'oocl's notes of nreetings, correspondence or notes/oalendars of his conversaticlns with,
or what clocuments were provicled VII'D polioe oflicers or thc Attorney Gencral's Ol1ìce with
regard to the aileged embezzlement ol'$460.000 by Walecd Ilarncd at issue here.

IIIISPONSII: Aclmit. All cloournents provided are those refèrencecl in the Altidavit of
Sargent Mark C<lrnilio. As to present Counsel, no such meetings took place and, therefure, no

notes exist.

160. ADMIT or DENY that Yusul Yusurf, Mike Yustrf or their prior or present counsel hacl

meetings with VIPD policc ofl-rcers with legard to the allegecl embez,z,Iement of $460,000 by
Waleed l:lamed at issuc here between January 1,2015 and Novenrber 19,2015.

RESPONSE: Yusuf incorporates by reference his prior cliscovely responses including
by not limitecl to Ilesponse to lntemogatory No. 8 ancl srpplernerrtary responses to Interrogatory
No. 3 and .lìequest to Produce No. 5 as set forth in Counsel's Ietter datecl February 27,2017,
which set fixlh all of the tirnefiarnes ancl dates of rneetings which occurrecl. Specihcally denied
as to present C.lounsel,

161. ADMIT or DENY that Yusuf Yusuf, Mike Yusuf ol their prior or present counsel hacl

con'espoudence with VII:'D police ollìcers with regarcl to the allegecl ernbezzlelnent of $460,000
by Waleed Hamed at issue here between January 1, 2015 and Novernber 19,2015.

RI|SPONSE: Yusuf incorporates by ref'erence his prior discovery responses including by
not limitcd to Response t<¡ Interrogatoly No. 8 and supplementary responses to Interrogatory No.
3 ancl Reque.st to Procluoç No, 5 as set ltlrth in C<¡unsel's letter clated February 27,2017, which
set lbrth all of the tirneframes and dates of tneetings nhich c¡ccurred. Speoilically deniecl as to
present Cìouursel.
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162. ADMIT' or DIINY that Yusuf Yusul, Mike Yusuf or their prior or present coìinsel had
telephorie conversations with VIPD police oflicers with regard to the alleged embezzlement of
$460.000 by Waleed l{amed at issue here betwecn .lanuary 1,2015 ancl Novembet' 19,2rJ15.

RIISPOIIISE: Yusuf incorpolates by ref'elenoe his prior discovery responses including
by not limited to l{esponse to Inferrogatory No. 8 and supplcrnentary responses to Interrogatory
No,3 and Request to lJrocluce No.5 as set lbrth in Counssl's letter dated llebruary 27,2017,
which set fbrth all of the timefiames and dates of rneetings which ocourred. Specifìcally deniecl
as to present Counsel.

163. AD.MIT' or DLiNY that Yulsuf Yusurf; lr4ike Yursul or tl¡cir prior or present counsel
supplied documents to VIPD police officers with legarcl tc¡ the allegecl embezzlement of
fì460,000 by Waleed Hamed at issue here between .lanuary 1, 2015 and November 19,2015.

RESPONSE: Yusuf incorporates by relèrence his prior discovery responses including
by not limitecl to Response to lnterrogatory No. I and supplementat'y rôsponses to Interrogatory
No.3 an<l Request tcl Procluce No. 5 as set f'orth in Counsel's letter dated February 27,2017,
whioh set fclrth all of the timeliames and dates of meetings which occurrecl. Specifically denied
as to present Counsel.

164. ADMIT or DIINY that Yusuf Yusul, Mike Yursuf or their prior to present couusel had
rneetirrgs with employees of the Attorney Gcneral's Office with regarcl to the alleged
embezzlement of 1i460,000 by Waleecl Hamed :rt issue here between January 7, 2015 ancl

November 19,2015.

RIISPONSII: Yusuf incorporates by refèrence his prior discovery responses inolucling
by rrot limitecl to Response to Illterrogatory No. 8 ancl supplementary responses 1o Interrogatory
Ntr. 3 and lLoquest to Produce No. 5 as set forlh in Counsel's letter dated l"ebruary 27, 2A17,
which set furth all <lf'the timeframes and datcs of meetings which ocont'red. Specifioally clenied
as to presont Cclnnsel.

165. ADMIT or DIÌNY that Yusrrf Yusufì Mike Yusnf of'their prior or present counsel h¿rd

correspondence with the employees of the Attolney (ìeneral's Offrce with regard to the alleged
embezz,lement of $460,000 by Waleed Hamed at issue hcrs between .lanuary l, 2{Jl5 and
Ncrvernber 19,2015.

RESPONSII; Yusuf incorporates by ret'erence his prìor discovery responses including
by not limited to Iìesponse to Interrogatory No, 8 and supplernentary responses to Interrogat<lry
No,3 and lìequtist to Produoe No.5 as set fblth in C-'ounsel's letter clated February 27,2017,
which set forth all of the timelrarnes and dates of meetings which occurred. Specifically clenied
as to present Counsel,
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166. ÄDMIT or DENY that Yusuf Yusuf, Mike Yusuf or theil prior or present colmsel hacl

telephone oonversations with enìployees of the Attorney General's olfice with regard to the
alleged embezzlement of $460,000.

RESPONSE: Yusuf incorporates by reference his prior discovery responses including
by not limited to Response to Interrogatory No. I and supplenrentary rcsponses to Interrogatory
No. 3 and Request to Ploduce No. 5 as set fbrth in Cclunsel's letter datecl l"ebruary 2J,2A17,
rryhioh set forth all of the tirneflames and dates of meetings which c¡ccurred. Specifioally denied
as to present Counsel.

167. ÄDMI'I'or DDNY that Yusuf'Yusuf, Mike Yusuf'or their priol or pl'csent counsol supplied
clocunrents to employees of the Ättorney General's OfIice with regard to the alleged
embez'zlement of $460,000 by Waleed llamed at issue here between January 1, 2015 and
November 19,2015.

RIISPONSE: Yusul incclrporates by referenoe his prior cliscovery responses inoluding
by not limited to Response to Interrogatory No. 8 and supplementary responses to Interrogatory
No. 3 ancl Request to Procluce Ncl, 5 as set lorth in Cc¡unscl's letter datecl l;'ebruary 27,2017,
which set fiorth all of the timeframes ancl dates of meetings which occurred. Specifically deniecl

as to present Counsel.

168. ADMIT'or DIINY that Nizar DeWoocl did bill the Yusufs for meetings, correspondence or
cclnversaticlns rvith, or what clocurne¡rts were provided VII'D police <lfficers or the Attorney
General's Offìce with regard to the alleged ernbezzletnent of $460,000 by Waleed Hamecl at
issue lrere bctween January 1,2015 and November 19,2015.

IIESPONSII: l)enied.

169. ADMIT or DENY that any of the Yusufs' present counsel did bill the Yusufls f'or rneetings,
corresponclence ol'convelsations with. or what clocuments u,et'e provided VIPD police olficer'.s or
the Attorney Ceneral's Ofïice with regard to the alleged embezzlement o1'$4ó0,000 by Waleed
Hamecl at issui here between Jamrary I ,2015 and Novembcr 19 ,2015 .

RESPONSE: Denied ancl lirther objection on the grcturcls that billing reoorels as

between counsel and client arc subject to the attorney-client plivilege as to the infìrrrnation
oontained tlretein.

170. Äl)MIl'or DENY that Yusuf Yusufì lvfike Yusuf. or thcil prior or present counsel had

rneetings with VII'}D pr:lice olTiccrs with regarcl to the allegecl en'úlez:t.lemenf of'$'460,000 bv

Waleed ll¿inlecl at issue here beiween.lanuary l,2016 ¿urci December 31,2016.
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RIîSPONSII: Yusuf incorporates by rcfbrence his prior discovery responses including
by not limited to Response 10 Interrogatory No. I and supplementary respoltses to Inteuogatory
No. 3 and Request to Produce No. 5 as set fbrth in Oounsel's letter datcd F'ebruary 27.2017,
u'hich set forth all of the timefiames and dates ol'meetings whìch occurred. Specifically deniecl

as to present Counsel.

171. ADMI'I'or DttNY that Yusuf Yusul, Mike Yusuf or their prior or pro.sent counsel had

correspondence wilh VIPD police officers with regard to the allegcd embezzletnent of'$460,000
by Wallecl ïIamed at issue hcre bctween January 1,2016 and December 3l ,2016.

RESPONSIf : Yusuf incorporates by lelèrence hís prior tiiscovery lesponses inclucling
by not lirnited to Response to Interlrgatory No. 8 and supplementary respolìses to lntorrclgatory
No. 3 and Request to Produroe No. 5 as set lorlh in Counsel's letter dated }iebruary 27,2017,
which set fbrth all ol the timeframes and dates of meetings which occurred. Specifioally denied
as to present Coun.sel.

172. 
^DMIT 

or DENY that Yusuf Yusu[ Mike Yusuf <¡r their prior or present counsel had

telephone c<lnvel's¿rti<¡ns with VIPD police eillicers rvith regard to the alleged embezzlen-reirt of
$460,000 by Waleecl H¿rmecl at issue here between January 1,2016 ancl l)ecember 31 ,2A16.

RESPONSE: Yusuf incolporates by lef,erence his prior disoovery responses including
by not limited 1o Iìesponse to Interrogatol'y No. 8 ancl supplementary responses to Iuterrogatory
No.3 and Request to Prclcluce No. 5 as set lcrrth in Counsel's letter dated I"ebruary 27,2017,
which set fbrth all of the tirneliames and datss of meetings which occurrecl, Specifícally denied
as [o present Counscl.

173. ADMITor DII,NY that Yusuf Yusuf; Mike Yusuf'or their prior or present counsel supplied
cloouments to Vll'}D police oflìcers with regard to the alleged embezzlement of $460,000 by
Waleed Hamed at issue here betrveen .Tanuary | ,2016 ancl l)ecetnbcr 3 I ,2016.

RESPONSE: Yusuf incolporates by refèrence his prior discovery responses including
by not limited 1r: Response to Interrogatoly No. 8 and supplementeu'y responses to Interrogatory
No, 3 ancl Request to Produce No. 5 as set for"th in Counse['s letter dated February 27,2017,
which set ltrrth all of'the tirneframes and dates of rncetings which occurreci, Specifically denied
as tcl present Counsel.

174. ADMIT or DENY that Yursuf Yusufì Mike Yusuf. or their prior or ¡rresent couuse I had
lneetirlgs with employees of the Attorney General's OfTioe r.vith regard to the allcged
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enrbezzlement of $460,000 by 'Waleed Hamed at issue here between January 7, 2076 ancl
l)eccmber 31,2016.

RESPONSE: Yusuf incorporates by lefì:rence hi.s prior disoovery responses inclucling
by not limited to l{esponse to Interrogatory No. 8 ancl strpplementary responses to Interrogatory
No.3 and Request to Produce No, 5 as set ftrfih in Counsel's letter dated February 27,2017,
rvhich set ftlrdr all of the timeframes ancl dates of meetings which occurred. Specifically deniecl
as to plesent Counsel,

175. .,\DMll' or DIiNY that Yusuf Yusuf; Mike Yusul or their prior or present counsel had
correspondence with employees of the Attorne¡r (ieneral's Of'lìce with regard to the allegecl
etnbezzlement ofl $460,000 by Waleecl f'[arned at issue here between .lanualy l, 2016 and
Decemlrer' 31,2016.

RESPONSE,: Yusuf incorporates by tef,erenoc his prior discovory rcsponses including
by not limited to Response to Intenogatory No. I and supplementary respolìses to lnter:rogatory
No. 3 and Request to Produce No, 5 as set f'crrth in Counsel's lettel dated February 27, 2017,
which.set forth all oIthe tirnefiames and dates cll'meetings which occurred. Specifioally cleniecl
as to present Cotursel.

176. ADMI'I or DIINY that Yusuf Yusuf, Mike Yusuf'or their prior or present counsel had
telcphone couversation with employees of the Altclrney Cjcneral's OfÏce with regard to thc
allegcd cmbezzlement of $460,000 by Waleed Hamed at issue here between January 1, 2016 and
Decenrber 31,2016.
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ITESPONSE: Yusuf iucorporates by refbr:ence his prior cliscovery responses including
by not limitecl to Response tcl lnterrclgatory No. I and supplementary responses to Interrogatory
Ncr. 3 and Iìequest to Ploduce No. 5 as set forth irr Counsel's lettel datecl February 27,2017,
which set forth all of the timeframes and clates ol meetings which occurrecl. Specifically deniecl
as to present Counsel,

177. ADMIT or DENY that Yusuf. Yusuf, Mikc Yusul c¡r their prior clr present counsel
supplied docunrents to ernployees of the Attorney (ieneral's Office with regard to the allegecl
enrbezzlement of $460,000 Waleed Hamed at issue here beLwecn.lanuary l,2A16 and December
31,2016.

RIISPONSItr: Yttstrl'int:orporales by rcl'crencs his prior cliscovery responsc.s including
by not linlited to Response to Inten'rlgatory No. B iurcl supplementary responses to ìnteLLogatory
No. 3 ancl lìcquest to Produee No. 5 ¿rs set lbrth in Counssl's letter dated February 27, z\n.
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which set i.orth all of the timeframes and clates of meetings which occurred. Specifically deniccl
as to present Counsel.

178, ÂDMIll or DIÌNY that Nizar DeWoocl did bill the Yusuf's I'or meetings, coruespondence
or conversations with, or wh¿rt dclcument.s were provided VIPD p<llioe ollcers or thc Attorney
(ieneral's Offìce with regarcl to the allegecl embezzlement of $460,000 by Waleed l-larned at
issue here between January 1,2A16 and December 31,2016.

RESI'ONSE: Denied.

179. ADMIT or DENY that any of'the Yusuf's present counsel did bill the Yusufs for
meetings, correspondenoe or oonversations with, or what clocument rvere provided VIPD police
officers or the Attorney General's Office with regard tcl the alteged embezzlement of $460,000
by Waleed l-larned at issue hele between January 1,2016 and December 31 ,2016.

RIISI'ONSE: Denied.

180, ADMIT or DENY that Niz¿rLe DeWood's bilting.s with regarcl to the alleged embezzlemerf
of $460,000 by Waleed Hamed at issue here are in the possession of Yusuf or his present
counsel,

RESPONSE: Denied, No such billing exist.

181. ADMII'or DENY that in bills provided to the Yusufs by any of the Yusuf's present or
past counsel thel'e is infurmation th¿rt rcl¿rtes to meetings, correspondence or conversations with,
or what cloouments were provideci Vil'D police oflicers or the Attorney General's Offrce with
regard to the alleged embezzlement clf' $460,000 by Waleed I:lanred at issue here between
January 1 ,2015 and December 31,2016.
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RI|SPONSE: Achnit and frfiher objection on the grounds that billing records as between
cotutsel and client are subject to the attornoy-client privilegc as to the inf'ormation contained
therein.

183. ADMIT or DIINY that on or
interrogatory resporlse on ille Yusul'.s
Mohammad Flamed verified:

Corrected t'esponse:

Object to as irrelevant and not likely to lead to relevant testinony,
as Plessen should not bo a party to this litigation. Subject to that
objection, I am the President of Plessen and one of the three
directors of Plessen. I have always been President and a director,
'l'he other two directors ¿u'o Fathi Yusuf and W¿rleecJ (Wally)
Hamed, who have always been the other two directors. The
shareholders of the oompany, inclucling Þ'athi Yusuf ¿urd his sons,
are all awâre of this fact as is the Office of the Lieutenant Ciovernor,
Division of' Corporation s.

I make this correction after reviewing the Artioles of'Incor¡roration
and lly-l,aws, as well as the annual fìling made rvith the Lieuten¿urt
(iovernor, which make it clear that there were three original
directors and support this corrected response. There have been ncl

changes to these three clirect<¡rs since that time.

RESIÌONSII: Admit that I-Iamed attempted to rnake the fbregoing
change to his intenogatoty responses, However, the "correotion"
was ouly made after the clriginal interrogatory respoltse was used
against I'Iarned. Henoe, the original response ancl his attempted
correotion are evidence which impezrohes his credibility on the issue
of who was on the l]oard of Directors f'or Plessen and who Hamed
believed the Boarcl of' Direotors of Plessen to be. lt is furlher
evidence of Maher Yusuf'being a "de Jactct" metnber <if the lloald
of Directors of. Plessen.

I84. ADMII' or DIINY that at page 2, in footnote 2, of his July 25,2014 decision in the SX-
lz-CY-370 action (l.Iamed v. Yusuf;, Juclge Douglas Brady wrote the fbllowing:

Defènclant Ynsuf'claims that bis son Maher ("Mike") is ¿¡ dil'cctor
of Plessen, ancl tlrat fàilure to notify him o[ the special meeting
renclers all acticins thercin null ancl void. Molion. at 6, n.3. As
proof that Mike is a cliroctor, Yusuf cites a lrcbruary 14,201 3 "Lisl.

about .lure 19tl' of. 2014, the Flarned's servecl a corrected
in the SX-12-CV-370 aotion (llamed v. Yusuf) which
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Board of l)irectors of Plesscn was held on April 30. 2014, there had no meeting of the clirectors
shareholders of Plessen since its ltlrnration of l98fl,"

llESItONSll: Aclmit that this is the finding of .Tudge llrady but without prcjtrdice to the
right to appeal that decision. Iìurthel rcsponding, Yusuf objects to this llecluest to Admit a.s

im¡rroper discovery.

187. ADMIT or DENY that on July 25, 2014, Yusuf Yusuf and Mike Yusuf were on notioe
that uncler the bylaws <lf the corporation, Mike Yusuf coulcl not be ¿r lbu.rlh dilector of Plessen.

RþI,SPONSE: Denied.

188. ADMI'I'or DENY that aftcr Jvly 25,2014, but befiore November 19,2015, Mike or
Yusuf Yusuf or their counsel supplied documents to or had colrvers¿rtion with employce.s of the
VIPD or Attorncy General's OfÏìce with regard to the alleged etnbezz,lement of'$460,000 by
Waleed Hamed at issue hete.

RIISPONSE: Yusuf inoorporates by lefbrence his prior discovery responses inclucling
by not limitecl to lìesponse to Interrogatory No, 8 and supplementary responses to lnterlogatory
No.3 and lìequest to Produce No. 5 ¿rs set lbrth in C)ounsel's letter clated lìebruary 27,2017,
which set l'orth all of the timeframes an<.l clates of meetings which occurred. Specifically cleniecl

As to present Coursel.

189. ADMIT or DENY that aliel July 25,2014, but bel'ore November 19,2015, Mike or
Yusuf Yusuf or their counsel did not infbrm or supply the VIPD or Attorney (ieuclal's Olfìce
rvith what Judge Bracly had lbund with regard to lr4ike Yusuf s claims that he was a clirector <¡l'

Plessen.
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RRSPONSE: Yrmuf incorporates by reference bis prior disoovery responscs inclucling by
not limited to Response to Intcrrogatoly No. I and supplernentiuy responses to lntertogatory No.
3 ancl Request to Prclcluce No. 5 as set tbrth in Counsel's letter clatecl Þ'ebruary 27.2017, which
se1 forth all of the tirnefiarnes ancl d¿ites of meetings which occurred.

190. ADMIT r¡r DII,NY that afler July 25,2014, but befbre November 19,2015, Mike or
Yusuf Yusuf or their counsel dìd not inf<¡rnr or supply VIPD or Attorney General's Ofiice with
what Judge []racly had fbuncl with regarcl to Mikc Yusuf's clairns that he was direct<lr o1'Plessen,

RESPONSII: Yusuf incorporatcs by reference his prior discovcry respotrses inclucling
by no1 Iimilecl to lìespclnse to Interfogatory No. fì and supplemcntíìry resporìr^es to Inten'ogatory
Ncr.3 urd llecluest to Produce No. 5 ¡rs set fìrLth in Counsel's letter dated lrebruar-v 27,2017,
rvhich set fbrth allof thc tirnelì'alnes ¿¡ncl dates of meetings lvhich occ,urred.
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191, ADMIT'or DENY that afler July 25.2014, but before November 19,2015, Mike or
Yusuf Yusuf'or their counsel did not inform the VIPD or Attorney General's Ofï-roe lhat the
information gathering fbrms ancl othsr doouments previously suppliecl by them had been before
.ltrdgc []racly ancl thât he had clisoussed them in his fìnclings ¿rbout the as.sertion there was a foruth
Plessen clirector'.

RESI'ONSE: Yusuf incorporates by reference his prior discovol'y responses inclucling
by not lirnitecl to Response to Interrogatory No. 8 and supplementary responses to Interrogator¡,
Ncr. 3 and Request to Produce No. 5 as sct tbrth in (lounsel's lette¡: dated lrebruaty 27. 2017,
which set forth all of the timeframes anrl date.s of'meetings which occurrecl.

192, ADMIT or DENY that aÍter July 25, 2014, but befole November 19, 2015, Mike or
Yusuf Yusuf or their counsel continued tcl as.sert that Mike Yusuf w¿Ìs a Director of Plessen to
the VIPD or Attortrey Goneral's Office witlr legard to the alleged embezzlement ol'$460.000 by
V/aleed IIamed at issue here.

RESPONSE: Yusuf incorporates by reference his prior disr:overy responses inclucling
by not lirnitecl to Response to Interrogatory No. I and supplementary responses to Intelrogatory
No. 3 and Request to Plocluce No. 5 ¿rs set fbrth in Counsel's letter dated February 27, 2017,
which set forlli all ol the timefì'ames and clates of meetings which occured.
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193. ADMIT or DENY that at page 5-(i ol'his Aprll 21,2015 decision in the instant action,
Jucìge Ilarolcl Willocks wrote lhe fbllowing:

The Articles of Incorporation list Moharnrnad, Waleed and þ'athi as the only tlrree
directors. It is not in clispute that Moharnmad, Waleecl, ancl F'athi are Directors of
the Plessen; but rather, it is l'lairfiff Yusuf s contention that Maher is a lburtli
clirectot' of Plessen. Section 2.2 oÍ the By-Laws trrrovicles that the number of
directors cau be changed only by "resolution of a majority ol thc entire boarcì of
I)irectors" and thal "eaoh Director shall serve until his or her suocessor is duly
elected and clualilies." Accolding to both Walled and Fathi. no such resolution
was ever adopted and no mectings u'ere called to elect sìJccessc)!'s. Thus fÌlr the
limited purpose ol'adclressing this Motion, the Courl finds that Plessen has only
three directors- Mohamtnad, Waleed ancl liathi. Accoldingly, the purposc of thc
uotice provision of the By-Laws was iucleecl satisfied.

RESPONSE: Adrnit thal the fìrregoing i.s an accruate quolation frorn Judge
'Willclcks Order clated April 21 . 201 5.
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194. ADMII' or DIINY that the fbllowing ¡^tatement in Judge Willock's April 21,
2015 clecision is a true statement of fact: "Seclion 2.2 <¡f the lly-l-,aws provides that the
number ol'direcl<lrs can be changed only by "tesolution of a rnajority of the entire Board
of Directors" and that "each Director shall servc until his or her successor is duly electocj
ancl qualifies." According to both Waleecl and F'athi, no such resolutiou was ever adopted
and no meetings wcre callecl to elect successors."

RESPONSE: Aclmit that this is the finding of'Judge Willocks but without pre.judice to
the right to appeal that clecision. Furlher responding, Yusuf objects to tliis Request to Admit as
improper cliscclvery,

195. ADMII'or DIINY that on April 21,2015, Yusuf Yusuf and Mike Yusuf \ryere on notice
that uncler the bylaws of the corporation, Mike Yusuf could not be a f'ourth directol of'Plessen.

RIISPONSE: Denied.

196. ADMIT or DENY that c¡n Aplil 21 , 2015, but befbre November 19, 2015, Mike or
Yusuf'Yusuf or their counsel suppliecl documents to or had couversation rvith employees of the
VIPD or Attorney Genelzrl's Ofïise with rcgard to the alleged eml>ezz,lement o[ $460.000 by
Waleed ilamecl at issue here.

RESPONSE: Yusuf incorporates by ref'erence his prior cliscovery responses including
by trot lirnited to Rcsponse to Interrogatory No. 8 and supplernentiuy rosponses to lntelrogatory
No. 3 arrd Request tcl Ploduce No. 5 as set forth in C)ounsel's letter clated lrebruary 27,2017,
which set forth all ot'the tinreframes ancl clates <lf nrcetings which oocurred.

197. ÄDMIT or DENY that after April 21,201-5, but bef'ore Novernber 19,2015, Mike or
Yusuf' Yusuf ol' their counsel supplied documents to or had oonversations with ernployees of the
VI.PD or Attomey General's Ofllce with regarcl to the allegecl embezzlement of $460,000 by
Waleed I lamecl at issue here.

IIIDSPONSE: Yusul incorporates by ref'elencs his ¡rlior clisoovery responses including by
n<.¡t lilnitecl to lìesponse to Interrogatory No. fJ and supplementary tesponses to Interrogatory No.
3 and Reqr-rest 1o Procluce No, 5 as set ftlrlh in Counsel's letter dated Iìetrruary 27. 2017, which
set fi:rth all of thti timelrames and clates of meetings r.vhich ocotu'red.

198. ÂDMIT or DENY that after April 21,2015, but beftire Novelnber 19,2015, Mike or
Yusuf Yusuf or their counsel did not inform or supply the VIPI) <lr Attorney (ierrcral's Office
with r.vhat .fudge Brädy had fbuucl with regard to Make Yusuf's claims that he was a clirect<lr of
Plessen.
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RESPONSE: Yusuf incorporates b,v reference his prior discovery responses inclucling
by not limitcd to Response to Interrogàtory No. 8 and supplementary responsos to lfferrogatory
No.3 and Ilequest to Produce No. 5 as set fcrflh in Counsel's letter datecl Febluary 27,2017,
whicli set ftlrth all of the timelì'ames and clates of meetings which ocourred.

199. ADMÍT or DENY that ¿rfter Apríl 21 . 2015, but bef'ore November' 19, 2015 Mike or
Yusuf Yusuf c¡r their counsel did not inf'onn or supply the VIPD or Attorney General's Ollice
with what Judge Brady had lbund with regard to Mike Yusuf's clairns that he was ¿ì clirector of'
Plessen,

RESPONSII: Yusuf incorporates by refèrence his priol cliscovery responses including
by not lirnited to Response tcl Interrogatory No. 8 and supplementary responses to lltelrogatory
No. 3 ancl lìequcst to Prodnce No, 5 as set forth in C]oursel's lelter clatecl Ëebruary 27,2077,
which set forth all of the timefrarnes and dates of meetings which occurrcd.

200. ADMIT' or DIINY that al1er April 21 , 2075, but befbre November 19, 2015 Mike or
Yusul Yusul'or their oorursel did not inl'orm the VIITD or Attorney General's Office that the
Information gathering ftirms and other documents previously supplied by them had been befor^e

.luclge lh'ady and that he had discussecl thern in his findings about the assertion there was a fourlh
Plessen ditector.

R[:,SPONSE: Yusuf incorporates by reference his prior discovery responses including by
not lirnited to llesponse to Interrogatory No. 8 and supplemeutary responses to hiterrogat<lry No,
3 ancl llequest tci Produce No. 5 as set fiir:th in Counsel's letter dated February 27,2A17, which
set f'orth all of'the tirneframes and rlates of meetings which occurred.

201. ADMI'I' or DIINY that after April 2l , 2015, but bel'ore November 19, 2015, Mike or
Yusuf Yusuf'or their counsel continuecl to assert that Mike Yusuf was a Director of'Plessen to
the VIPD or Atlorney General's Office with regard to the allegecl embezzlement of $460,000 by
Walced Ilarnecl at issue here.

RIISI'ONSE: Yusuf incorporates by reference his prior discovery responses inclucling
by not limited to Response to Intet'rogatclry N<1. I anil supplementary responses to Interrogatclry
No.3 arrd Iìequest to Produce No. 5 as set fbrth in Counsel's letter clated February 27,2017,
which set fbrth ¿ill of tho timefì'anres ¿rnd dates o1'meetings which occurred.

202. ADMIT or DENY that afÌer the Criminal Information agaiust Waleed l-lanred of
N<rvember 19,201,5 but prior to the disrnissal of ths crirninal charges on May 31,2016, Mike and
Yusuf Yusuf or their counse I had frirtlier cornrnunication with members of the VIPD with regarcl
to the alleged embezzlement.
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RII,SPONSE: Yusuf incorporates by reference his ptior disoovely responses inclucling
by not limited tcl l{esponse to Interrogatory No. I and supplementary responses to lnterrogatory
No. 3 arrd Reclue.st to Procluce No. 5 as set fbrth in Counsel's letler dated I''ebruary 27,2017,
which set f'orth all of the timefi'ames and clates of meetings which o<;ctrred,

203. ADMIT or DENY that aftel the Criminal Infiormation against Waleed llamed of
Novenrber 19,2015 but prior to the dismissal of'the criminal charges on May 31,2016, Mike and

Yusuf Yusuf <lr their counsel had hnlher conÌmunioations with employees ol' the Attolney
(ieneral's Office wi{h regard to the alleged enlbezzlement o1'$460,00 by Waleecl I l¿rmed at issuc
here.

RIISPONSE: Yursuf inoorporates by reference his prior discovery responses including
by not limited to Ilcsponse to hrterrogatory No. I and supplementeuy responses to Interrogatory
No. 3 and Request to Produco No. 5 as set forth in Counsel's lettel clated l?ebruary 27, 2017,
whioh set forth all of tlre tinrefrarnes ¿rnd dates of meetings which occurrecl.

204. ADMI'I or DENY that ¿rfler the Criminal Intbrmation against Waleecl l:larned of
November 19,2015 buy prior to the disrnissal of the oriminal charges on May 31,2016, Mike
and Yusuf Yusul <lr their: c<¡unsel in their furlher comrnunioations witlr employees of the VIPD
or Attorney (ieneral's OfTìce with regard to the alleged embezzlement of $460,000 by V/aleed
I-larnecl at issue here oontinued tcl represeut that Mike Yusuf a Plessen Director.

llIr}SPOI{SIi¡ Yusuf incorporates b.y ref'erenoe his prior discovery responses inclucling
by rrot lir¡ited to llesponse to Interrogatory No. 8 and supplcmentary responses to Interogatory
No.3 and Request to Produr:e No. 5 ¿rs set t-orth in C)ounsel's lettet'dæecl h'ebruerry 27,2017,
which set forth all of the timefìames and clatss oflrneetings which oocurred.

205, ADMITI or DIùNY that after the Crirninal Information against Walecd Ilamecl of
November 19, 201 5 but priol to the dismissal of'the criminal chat'ges on May 3 1, 2016, Mike ancl

Yusuf Yusuf or their cclunsel in their further communioations with employees of the VIPD or'

Attorncy General's Office with regard to the alleged embezzlentent o1 $460,000 by Waleed
Ilamed at issue here did nnt infornr the VIPD or A(i's Office of the decisions by Juclge Willc¡cks
and llrady regarding the asserticln of a foufth Plessen director.

I{IISPONSE: Yusuf incorporates by reference his prior discovory responses including
by not limited to Response to lilerrogatory No. I and supplementary rcsponses to Interrogatory
No. 3 and lìequest to Produce No. 5 as set forth in Counsel's lettel clated Þ'ebruary 27, 2017,
rvhich set f orth all c¡f the tirneframes antì dates ol'tneetings which occuued.

206. ADMIT ur DI;NY that ¿tfter thc C'r'imin¿rl Infot'mation against W¡rleecl Harnccl crf

Novenrbcr 19,2015 but ¡rri<lr to the clisrnissal ol'the criminal charges on May 31.2016, Mike ancl

Yusuf Yusuf or theil counsel in their tìrrther oommunications with emplovees of'the VìPD crr

Atlorney (ieneral's C)ffìc'e with regald to the alleged enrbezzlement rlf'5460,000 by Waleed
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Hamed at issue here dicl not inform the VIPD or A(i's Office of the decisions by Judges
Willocks anct Brady regarding the asseftion of a fourth Plessen director.

IìESPONSII: Yusuf incorporates by reference his prior discovery responses including
by not limitecl to Response to Interrogzrtory No. 8 ancl supplementary responses to Interrogatory
No. 3 ancl Ilecluest to Procluoe No. 5 as set forth in Coutrsel's letter dated February 27,2017,
which set l'orth all of the tinrefiames ancl dates of rneetings which occurred.

207. ADMIT' or DENY th¿rt in their communications with VIPD or AG aller the Criminal
lnfonnation against V/aleed l:l.amed on Novernber 19, 2015 but priol to the dismissal of the
criminal oharges on May 3I,2016, Mike and Yusuf Yusuf attempted to convince the AG that the
oriminal charges ilgainst Waleed IIamed sh<luld nclt bo disrnissed.

RESPONSE: Yusuf inoorporates by reference his prior cliscovery responses including
by not limited tcl llesponse to Intenogatory No, 8 and supplementary responses to Interrclgatory
No. 3 ancl Request to Procltrce No. 5 as set forth in Counsel's letter datecl fìebruary 27,2017,
whioh set forth all of the timeframes ar¡d dates of'meetings which occurred.

2A8. ADMI'I or DENY that in their communisations with VIPD or AG afÌer the Crirninal
lnf'orrnation against Waleed Hamed on Novernber 19,2015 but prior to the dismissal r:f the
criminal charges on May 31, 2016, Mike and Yusuf Yusuf supplied additional documents tr:
atternpt to cc¡nvince the AG that the oriminal charges against V/aleed Hamed shoulcl not be
dismissed.

IìESPONSE: Yusuf incor¡rorates by referertce his plior discovery responses including
by not limited tcl l{esponse to Interrogatory No. 8 and supplementary responses to Interrogatory
No. 3 and Request to Produce No. 5 as set ltrrth in (lounsel's letter dated lTebruary 27, 2017,
which set f.brth all of the tirneframes and dates of meetings which occurred.

209. ADMIT:' or DENY that belbre the Criminal Inlcrmation against Waleed Hamed on
N<¡vember 19, 20T5, Mikc and Yusuf' Yr"lsuf or their counsel had oommunications with an
Assista-nt Attorney Cìeneral (AAG) in which a "clated" BNS information gathering cl<lonment was
supplied.

RESPONSE,: Yusuf incorporate.s by reference his prior discovery responses including
by nclt lirnited to l{esponse to Interr<lgatory No. I ancl supplenrentary responses to Int<lrrogatory
Ncr. 3 and lìeqtrest to Prorluoe No. 5 as set forth in Counse]'s letter clatecl February 27,2017,
which set forth all of the timefì'alnes and dates of meetings which occurrecl,
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2I0. ADMIT or DENY that after the Criminal Information against Waleed Ilamed of
November 19, 2015, Mike and Yusuf Yusuf or their counsel had communications with an

Assistant Attorney General (AAG) in which they represented to the AAG that the "dated" BNS
information gathering document hacl been suppliecl by BNS from Plessen bank records.

RESPONSE: Yusuf incorporates by reference his prior discovery responses including
by not limited to Response to Interrogatory No. 8 and supplementary responses to Interrogatory
No. 3 ancl Request to Produce No. 5 as set fbrth in Counsel's letter dated February 27,2017,
which set forth all of the timeframes and dates of meetings which occurred.
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Response to Thtrd Request Íor .,ldn ¡$s¡ons

Yust(l'ustf el al, vs, lltøleed Hamed et ol-

Cose À'o. SX-13-Cf-t20

I hereby certify under penslty of perjury that the facts contained in each of the foregoing

responses to request to admit are true and conect to the best of my knowledge, information and

belief.

ñ¡ñFñ. 
=/:z/o-DATED: -'/ _

TERRITORY OF THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS

VER¡FICATION

DTSTRICT OF

on this, the d:f- day "1 . t7^aú*Å0ß - -.'- before ßr€, the

undersigned offrcer, peréóñÀ-lty appearcd Yusuf Yusuf, known to me ( or satisfactorily proven) to

be the p.rson whose name ìs subscribed to the within document and acknowledged that he/shc

executed the same for the purposc therein contained,

lN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and officialseal.

Sl,ft trt
), tt'
ì

SUF YUSUF

tt*¡51trur M oÀutY
Nolaty Publrr

St Croh, U.S. Vlrgrn lsrands
1{P-80.13

¡l Conmfubn &pfir SffiÍtcr 5. ?01
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nclant Ple.ssen Enterplise.s, Inc, ("Plessen") is a VI

ned 50/50 between the fàmilies of Mohammecl l{amed

hat are at the center of this litigation, (See l{arnecl's First

First Arnenclecl Counterclaim, I-l1, 115-117). Plessen

he Plaza Extra - Westl store is situated, ancl has other

Cloix and St, Thomas. (ld. ). Yusuf alleged in his

y of Plessen is owed equally by the Harned ancl yusuf

n this case, there are thtee Plaza llxtra sî.ores in the Virgin
are known, r'es¡rectively, as Plaza Extra - Il,ast and plaza
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lãrnilies who have an irrcconcilable clisargreernent olr how to continLte the br"rsiness operations of

this cornpany, it should lre dissoh,ed and its assets liquidatctl zrccr:rding to larv." (S.ge Ytrsr.rl's

First Amended Counterclaim, p. 28, Count IV, l[ 168), Yusul'also souglrt appointrnent of a

Ilcceiver to liquidate the asscts of the Plaz,a llxtta Stoles and Plessett ancl, aller satisfying

oreditors, to divide the net proceecls between I-Iamed ¿rud Yu.suf accolding to their respective

intclests as determined by this Courl, (!d., Coturt X, 1[ 171).

Moreover, at the behest ol'Hamed, zi preliminary iniunction has been enterecl, whioh was

intendecl to preserve the status quo cluring the pendency of this lifigæion and to prevent either the

Harnecl or Yusuf family frclrn taking "unilatelal action . , . all.eotirrg tlie management, enployees,

mctht:ds, procedures and operations" of the three Plaza Extra stoles, See I-lamed v. Yrìsu_f, 58

V.l, 1 17,138 (Super, Ct, 2013).

'I'he deadlock between these two families was well sunrmcd r,tp in an early Virgin Islands

case involving a close oorporation and shareholder farnilies that founcl thenrselves in imptt,rse,

Mqtn_y.Ed¡a!, 493 F.2d 400 (3cl Cir. 1974):

'I'hus, as can be seen, the two firctions were in hopeless cleadlock. The only mattel upon
which they did agree was that each woulcl lil<c to be releascd lrom the relationship, but
they obviously could not agree u¡ron the procedure or the prioe whereby it ooulcl be

accompli.shecl, ,

Id. at 404, In light of the hopeless dsadlock between the l{arnecl ancl Yusuf Iämilies ancl the

existence of the preliminiu'y injunction, the altcmpt by I{amecl a¡rd his son, Waleed l:lameci

("Walced"), to llout the iniunction by unilaterally blinging on a ¡rutativc Special Meetirrg of the

Iloard of Directors of Plessen and approving actions fbr the exclusive benef,rt of the Ilarnccl
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làmily interests is not only rricllative of'the preliminary injunctiou, but is also invalid as the kind

of self-clealing by interested directots thaf is not permitted turder reoognized authorities,

In Moran, the Third Circuit quoted the lorver court's opinion in summarizing the

applicable plinciples as tc¡ r¡'hen a transaction involving.selÊdealing by a directclr is voidable:

ì)irectors ancl oflìcels nre not fì'ee to appropriate colporate a.ssets in fraud of the
stockholclers, and auy such asset tal<en fbr the exclusive benefit of favored
principals are recoverable by the corporation, . , . . Nothirtg.less than a unanimous
ratilÌcation by the shnreh.g|{g5.
ft¡ncls ançl llropgt'ly*

Id, at406 (ernpha.sis added). See also Modcl Business CorporationAct Sections 8.30 and 8.31 as

to Standards of' Concluct aud Standards of' Liability fol Direotors, inch,rding reference to

challenging concluct of a clilector which was the result of an action nc¡t taken in good faith or "a

lack of obiectivity due to the director's fhnrilial, financial or trusiness relationship with, or a lack

of indepenclence due to the clirectclr's domiuatiou or control by, anothcr person having a material

interest in thc challenged concluct , . . wliich relationship . . , could reasclnably be expected t<t

havc affectecl the clircctor's judgment respecting the challengecl concluct in a manner adverse to

the corporation,"

Iu liglrt of these principìes, the preliminary iniunction restrained the parties in such a way

as to ensure that all rnanagerial der:isions would lec¡uile the apprclval of a mernbel: flom both

families, While only a temporary fix, it was intenclecì to plevent either färnily fiom making

t¡ttil¿tteral decisions that rnighl dissipate or scluancìer assets while their clisputes were being

liligatccl.

'l'he Hameds have triecl to cit'ountvent orclerly.iuclicial resolution of the clispute with thc

Ytrsuf's by holding a meeting of the lloard of Directors on one business tlay's noticeto Yusuf to,
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arnong other things, ratify a past rnisa¡rpropriation of $460,000 o1'Plesseu lnonies by Waleed,

and to approve a lea.se of the Plaza Extra - West stote, which is locatecl olr Plessert lancl, to a

oompany owned .in part by Waleecl, both instances of self-clealing. l'he les.see colnpany,

KAC357, Inc, (the "New Ilamed Company") was incorporated on April 22,2014 ¿rnd is wholly

ownecl by Hame<i fàmily mernbcrs - Waleecl and two of his blotlters. As discussecl in nrore

delail below, under the law applicable to this case, these interested clircctor approvzrls cannot

stand, and the approvals and any actions taken pursuant to thetn must be nullilied and voided,

Mcreover, the very I'act that Hamed and Walecd atternpted such blazen acts of'self-dealing

establishes the hopele.ss <Jeadlock amongst the shareholdels of Plessen and evidences the need

fbr the appointment of a Receiver to dissolve Plessen, tiquiclate its assets, and divide the net

proceeds between'the Hameds arrcl Yusttfs,

S]'ATItrMENT OF FACT'S

A. Unauthorized Board Mecting Called by Hamed to lìatify HÍs and his Son's
Mistlecds.

On Monclày, April 28,2A14, at approximately 4 p,nr., ¿l ciocument entitlecl Notice of'

Special Mceting of'Board clf Director^s oI Plessen Hnterpr:ises, Inc, (the "Notice") was hand
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secreterry ol'the Boarcl of Dircctors, announcing

10:00 ¿r,rn. at tìre Plaza Extra - Ilasi store in St.

(iroix. (See lixhibit A, Notice of'speoial Meeting of Boarcl of Direct<trs of. Plessen (without the

trrtsignctl lease that was ¡rttaohed to the Notice)). T'hc Notice was i.ssuecl b),Ilanred, who is one of.

f l¡r:: directors of'Plessen, insteact of by Yusul in his capacity as Secretat:y of'the Boarcl, as the

lJylaws rcquire (in seotions 3.4 and 7,2 thereof), 'J'hc fact that the Notice was served orr Yusuf

)it one business ,iuy', notice was an obvious attempt to avoid juclicial scrutiny of an action that,
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as discussed trelow, lvas unlawful and an etrd-run arouucl pending litigatiorr between the Flarned

and Yusuf farnilies, It also was, at the very least, a violation of the spirit of the preliminary

injunction enterecl in this case.

l'he stated pulpo.se of the Special Meeting was to approve or ratify five actions o1'

Plessen, namely:

(1) ¿r lease of the Plaza Extra - 'West prernises, owncd by Plessen, to the New F:[¿rmec]

Company2 (the "IIamed [,ease"), a blatarf confli<;t of interest;

(2) to ratify 'Waleed's unilateral, unauthorizecl, surreptitious and ulrlawful withdrawal

of $460,000.00 from a Plessen bank acsotrnt on Maroh2l,20l3 as the payment of a corporate

"dividend";

(3)

(4)

)lpolalinn and to pay hirn a retainer of $20,000; and

to authorize the payrnent of up to another $200,000 in oorpomte divide¡rds;

to approve the retention of Attomey Jeffrey Moorehcad to represent the

(5) t<l remove Yusuf as registered agerrt f'or Plessen and replace him with Jeffi'ey

f\4oorhead, (Exhibit A),

Waleed's unlawftrl withclrawal of. $460.000 in colporate monies is the subject of a related
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ivntíve action pending in this Courl bellole the l{onorable }larold lV. L. Willocks, (See

otion")). 'I'he f'otuitous citcurnstances of the cliscovery of this misappropriation of'oorl:orate

Cornplaint in Yusul -v*lbtusü et ¿r1,,, Case No. SX-13-CV-129 (the "Derivativc

lirrtls is descfibed in paraglaphs 25-28 of the Verifìed Conrplaint in thc Derivative Âction.

ln the "Il¿unerl Plan For Wincling Up Partnership" (the "Harnecl Plan"), attaohed as llxhibit 2 to
-lalnrucl's "l{esponse T<¡ Delbnd¿¡nts' Motion to Appoinl Mastnr lïor .ludicial Supervision O1'
)arttter:ship Winding (Jp Or. In The Alternative, 'l'o Appoint Receiver T'o Wind tlp Partnership"
ilccl on April 3A,2014 (the "Iìcsp<-lnsc"), it is stated that the New Harned Company is ownecl by

tulr.retl and his brothers, Waheed ancl Mufþecl. See I lamed Pl¿rn at g I .31.
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1.'he very next day, on April 29,2Q14, Yustrf, as Secretary of Plcssen, issued a Response

to Request for Special Meeting of Board of Diroctors, which pojnted out the deficicncies with the

Yusuf's For¡nal Rcsponsc tr¡ the Notice I¡ointing Out its Plocedural aud
Substantivc Inlirm ities.

Notice, and explainecl why a Special Meeting of the Board was itnproper ancl should not take

place . (.See Exhibit ts -llesponse to Notice of Board Meeting,) Yusufls Response explained that

thc Notice was proceclurally defective as it rvas nclt issued by hirn as the Sect'etary, the only party

authoriz¡d to provide notice of such tneelings. (See Exhibit C, Ples.sen llylaws, ]Jfl 3,4 and

7.2,Íl). Furthet, the Notice was not served upon lr4aher ("Mike") Yusuf,3 who ¿rlso wa.s a

director of Plessen,a The Response also explainecl that the five items on the agenda werc

'plciiurlìcial to the fYusuf. family] shareholders and a subterfuge to accomplish through invalid

l)oartl of Direotors action approval of iterns . . . that should mol'e properìy be submitted to a

Spccial Meeting of the Shareholclers of the Corporatiou, if at all." (Exhibit I]),

lailrue to notily minority shareholder of shareholder meeting was
cn at meeting, and because lcsolutions dicl not germinate fi'onr a

ìcy are null and void).
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l'hu parlies agree that l-lamecl, Wäleed, and Yusui are directors of Plessen. Although Waleed
cl H¿rmed díspute Mike's position as a director, there is ample evidence to the contrary. Mike

s rcflected as a clirector of Plessen by the l)epaltrnent of Licensing and Consumel' Affairs. Seq
lxl¡il¡it D - Printout fì'om lrelclualy 14, 2013 List ofl Corporate Officors f'crr Plessen, also

lltttc:ltctl as Exhibit C to the Complaint in the Derivative Action, Further, the recorcls lì.om
icotiabauk, which detnonstrate who is autholized to sign on Plessen's accouut, show Mike as a
l)iructruy'r\utlrorizecl Signatory" ancl his signature is listecJ next to Waleecl's, who is lilcewisc
istcrrl as a "l)ireotor/Authorized Signatory", Sc-e_ Iixlribit Il - Scotiabank lìecords Regardìng

rttlt<lt'iz,r:tl Signatory, 'I'he Court neecl not, however, resolve the issue of whether Mike is a
lil'uctr¡l' in order to grant the relief'sought by Yusuf in this motion. Flven assnming qlguendo that
hc'only direotors of Plessen are the twcl Hamecls and Yusuf, the trzurs¿rctions the l{alned farnily
;ou¡1ltt. to have latifiecl at the l:ìoarcl rneeting shoulcl be rendered null ancl void fbr the rcasons
I i sct r iisr,rtl belor.v.

30-31 (V.1, 'l'elr. CX, 1996)
fatally clefþctive to actious
propetly notified rneeting,



(1. Yusuf lr'ilerl in Court to En.ioin the Meeting But the Ilamcd l)irectors Actc<l
Without Waiting for a Court Ruling.

On April 30,2014, at 9:08 a,m,, in advance of the Special Meeting, counsel fbr Yusr.¡f

jilr,cl his Emergency Motion 1o Enjoin 4l30ll4 Special Meeting of lloard of Dileotots of'

(lorrlrtelclainr l)efendant Plessen ("Yusuf's Emergency Motion") in this litigation.

Notrvithstanding Yusuf s Emergency Motion, the Hanred directors elected to go forwarcl with thc

rrreelírrg without first obtaining direction from tlie Court. Yusuf s nrcltion set forth all of the

gt'ound.s for enjoining the Special Meeting and r,vhy it was improper', l{owever, given the tirning,

iurd this Conrt's schedule, a review ol luling could not be secured in advance of the rneeting.

Cllsnr:ly, the Notice was inlendecl to create an artificially comprcssecl tirnefì'ame iìlr the very

purpr)s$ of evacling juclicial scrutiny.

D. Thc Meeting Results In A Shouting Match.

At l0:00 a.tn. the same day, Yursuf alrd his counsel appeared at the Speoial Meeting and

voicccl ob,jections on the grourcls set f'orth in Exhibit C. Unforlunately, the decorum of'the

rlrootirlll deteriorated quickly, t-urther demonstrating the <ieacllock between the parties. T'he

nrccting was'to be transclibecl, but as the parties began speaking (and then slror.rting) over each

rlthçr' at the same time, creating a tlansclipt proved to be impossible, Howevel, an auclio visual

rccording is attachecl to plovide the Court with the benefit of what actually tlanspirecl during the

tlcctittg as well as the tone, tenor ancl demeanor of the events as they ocorrrod. Sce Exhibit F'-

l)VD of the audio visual recording of the April 30, 2014 meeting,

E. Waleed Ratifies His Misdeeds and üngages In Blatant Sclf-Dcaling.

At the Specìal Meeting, Vy'aleed, ovel the objection ol'Yr¡sLlfì simply moved to ratily his

:¡r'licr wrautholizecl withdrawal of $ì460,000 in funds frorn Plessen äs ¿r "dividend," 1o applr:r,e

l{irrrrcrl v. Yusuf, et al,
(''ivi I No, SX- l2-CV-370
ItageT
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Iì-ÊSOLVED, that .Ieffrey Moorehead, be retainecl by the
President to represent the corporation ir-r ,. , [tlris case and the
Derivative Action].s

RIlSOt,VllD, that the llresident of the Corporation is
heieby authorized to take any aucl all action nesessary, prclpel ancl

clesirable to issue aclditional dividends up to $200,000,00 fì'om the
company's bank account to the shareh<¡lders,

RHSOLVËD, That Irathi Yusuf is renroved as the
Registered Agent of the Corpolation,,.

Exhibit G,

It fitther appears that the approval of the Ilarnecl l,ease and thns, the Speoial Meeting,

calculated to coincide with Hamed's Response, see foofnote 2, supra, to Yusul's Motion'l'o

ppoint Master For Judicial Su¡rervision Of Partnership Winding Up, Ol Tn 'l'he Alternative, 'fo

¡rpoirtt Recêiver: Tcl V/incl [Jp Partnership ("Motion to Appoirf Master'/Iìeceiver"), which was

lso served at the samc time, l0:55 a.m, on April 30,2014. The llanrecl Plan, attached as Exhibit

to the Response, rnade the Llarned Lcase, which had been "approved" lcss than an hour earlier,

linchpin to the success of ilamecl's Plan f'or the winding t4l of his ¡row dissolved partnelship

rvith Ytrsuf'. T'he.Ilamed Lease was executed on April 25,2AI4by the New llamed Company

rtd on April 30,2014 by Plessen. Se_e ßxhihit I - Hamed Lease at p. 20, A nremorandurn of the
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'lallrecf Lease was recordecl against Plerssen's property by Flamed's attorney, .loel H. Holt, on

¡rlil 30, 2014. See Exhibit J - Menrorandum of Comrnerc,ial Lease,

Hence, it is clcar lhat the Special Meeting and approvi¡l of the l-iar¡ed Lease were all ¡rart

J' a conoertect, aud synchroniz-ed plan 1o respond, outside the conf,rnes of'this litigation, to

I'o further unclerscore th¿rt the nreeting was a sham, it is reve¿r.ling ürart Attorney Moorhead was
r"rrprutc<ll"r, authorizod to bc retained on April 30, 2014, but he was given a check dated April25,

1014 in the amount of $20,000 signecl by Waleeci and his brother, Mufeecl, Scc copy of check
ttacltccl as Exhibit H, which reflects that it was presentecl ltlr payment on April 29,2014, but
tltinratcly not honoled.
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li4otirtn 'l'o Appoint Master/l{eceiver and the Plan For Winding [Ip Partnership attar:hed as

l'ixhihit A to that urotion (the "Yusuf Plan"),

AIì.GUMENT

It is a longstanding principle of the common law. of corporaticlns "that the liduciary

l,clntionslrip between clirectors and the corporation inrposes fundamental limitatiolls on the extsnt

to whioh a clirector rnay benefit f¡:orn dealings with the corporation he servcs." A¿-latql4ra-¡¿.

lranstctions - i,e., transactions between a corporation and a director or an entity in which lhe

. 535 
^.2d 

400,403 (Del. 1987). 'fhe early common law tule was tliat intele.sted director

il'$ctor has an interest - wele per se voidable, and subject to rescissicln jn a lawsuit by any

lrareholdct', regardless of their fairness, Sqq 3 Williarn M. Fletclier, Cysl-qpsdj-q-gf!E-!á{w.-qf

l:iv¿rte Cr;lrl¡r:rRtir:ns $917 (perrn. ed. rev. vol. 1994); Pqtter v. Sanit¿uy Cio., 194 A. 87, 91 (Del.

lr, 1937), '['he rnodern colnrnon law rule has replaced the mle o,f per,ç¿ voide.bility of inlerested

il'cr.:lor transactì<lns with a rebuttable presumption of' voiclability, That plesumption of

voielnbility can only be rebuttecl by the interestecl dilector shorving that thc transaction was

irrttinrically fair to tlie corporation, See lu le Cox CoUu¡UUrc¿l!-aI¡E--J.rc",- Sharelrolçlers
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.879 A.2d 604,615 (Del. Ch, 2005),

rottltl be lelicvecl of lhe "burden to show that 1he transaction was entirely íàil to tlre corpolatiorr"

'l'he modern oolnrnon law also provicles two other lvays in rvhich the jntcrested party

narnely, approval of the transaction by a rnajority of clisinterestecl directors. or approval by a

trnjority of disìntelested sharehnlclers. ,!e9 id. at 615. In tbe event of clisintcrested clitcctor or

ihurchr¡klcl approval of that kind ol tr¿ursaction, the iuterestecl party would only be recluired to

hur,v that tlre transaotion satisfied the business judgrnent rule. ,S_99 id, at 615. , qE iilüq ö1çrljfg



.2d 862,866 (Del. Cih, 1952) (where interestecl clirectors

ajority of shareholders, interested and disinterested, alscl

ies had the burden of showing "their goocl l?rith ancl the

r oourt to perrnit it to go forward); Fliegl_c¡',v. Lawence,

reholder ratification of an "interestecl trans¿rcti<ln" only

eir burden of proof if zi rnajority of "disintereste(1"

here, as herc, arl interested clirector transactiorr is not

re.sted clirectors, and "shareholclsr deadloclc prevents

terested directors must meet the "intrinsic I'airness test" in

tion, See Marciano, supra, 535 A,2cl aT 404 and at 405,

lhir and Sht¡uld l¡e Nullified,

rinr:iples to this case establishes that the IÌlessen boaLcl

I) should be lescindect. The approval at the director level

he Haneds, who are interested parties, were counted.

omlnon law plinciples have esseutially been codifieci by a
poration Law, including section 1a4(a)(3), which requires
ract or transacti<u't is fair to the cotporation as of the tilne
aX3), See Iq_te: Cox Cqnmunlcalions. lnc., supra, 879
ity betrvccn the "common law of. corporations , , . and its
ons" âncl $ 144), The Model Business Corporation Act, $
e rnoclern colnlnon l¿rw rule regarding intçr'ested directol

epart fiom the common larv rule only insofàr'as it allou,s
garcl to the interests of the shareholdels, Even so, just
interestecl arrcl disinterestecl, vote to approve ¿rn interested
fì'om attack on fàirness gr'ouncls under section 144, 'l-hc

scrutiny fnr fairness, and rnay be rescindeci if ¿l cour.t
ration. See ljlieqler', suÞr¿r, 361 A,zcl at222; Fletohcr,
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Plesseu is, as described abovc, ownecl 50-50 by each of the two fànilies, atrd shareholder

dr:¡rclhlch would prevent ratilìcation by the sharcholdel's, Uncler thcse cit'cutnstances, the Ilamecls

nluò-t prove that the sweethealt lease is irrtrinsic¿rlly fair in orcler to ovel'come the presumption o1'

v,ritlahilit¡'. 'Ihis, they cannot do,

As a threshold matter, the llantecl

is not in the iuterests of Plessen and is

rnakes it cleal that the Harned l.ease cannot become effeotive ttntil sotne unspecifiecl date in the

fiûure, and only if and lvhen the Plaza Extra West storc ceases to occupy those premisesl

Tbe Palties recognize that tltere is cun'ontl¡/ a partrership betwccn Fathi Yusuf and

MolralnnracJ Ilarnod opelating a groaery business in the Delnised Prcmises. The Tenant shall not

be granted possession of the Prelnises so lorrg as this parlrrerslrip is in possessicln of the Prcmises.

Likewise, rerrt shall not be due until the Tenant ltas possession of the Premisc.

ti;rlribít l, ç 2.3,4.

Si¡rcc the Ilamed l.,ease is only a contillgent lease.

Lease is on its f'àce premature, and for that reason alone

* ancl why a Memoranclun'l of'Clommeroial Leasei

rrrrfàir to Plessen. Section 2.3.4 <:f the Hamed Lease

give the l:lameds ¿rn

;orpolnlir)n js dissolved and it.s assets solcl by lìeceiver, something that they know is inevitable in

Ii¡¡ht
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of the cleacllock between the partie.s.

:ill." which is designed to disstracle any

rt'o¡rcrty that is subjcct to the I Iamed Lea.se, and to that extenl clevalues the assets of Plessen,

insicle tlack on ultirn¿te ¡luchase clf the assets of Plessen, when the

¡¡hich is ftu'thel indicia of tlie unfhirness of the Lease.

' The recorcled Memoranclum ol'Cc¡mmercial Lease st¿rtcs that the Haniecl Lease is "efIèctive
\¡rril 29,2A14" ancl has an initial ten-year tenn, (Itxhibit J). 'l'his statement to third parties is
¿rlsc. because it omits any rnenti<ln of the contingency set folth in section 2.3,4 oI' the Hamcd
,ùírtir', 'l'hus, the recorded mellolanclum f'alscly cornmLuricates to any nrenrber of the pubiic
.vlìo revierv,s this recorcl at the Recorclcr.s' Offrce or on its i¡,ebsite, thitt the ton-year tcrrt
:ornnìuncü(l on Apri I 29, 2A14.

the only re¿ìsoll it was approved ancl executed

was rec.ordccl against Plessen's property - is to

'l'he existence of tlie Hamed Lease is a kincl of "poison

outside investor liom bidcling to accluire lhe Plessen
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l'his self-clealing lease tansaction is unfair to Plessen lrecause of a number of its terms.

example, while the lease term is a ten-year initial term with two r;ptions to rene\ry (which, if

cised. would result in a thirty-year lease periocl), there at'e no personal gtraranties of the

l-l¡urrcels to l¡ack up the obligations of the lessee, the New llamecl Cornpany. As cliscussecl

bovs. the New Hamed Cornpany is a start-up company that was formecl orily eiglrt days before

tlrc Special Mecting of'the Plessen []oard called by Hamed. Without a personal guaranty, the

¡rructical rcality is that the l-lameds can simply walk away from this lease, without any hnancial

¡rertitlty, and at Plessen'$ expense. In tlre event of such a breach, Plessen woulcl be left with the

lvorthletls rcmecly of suiug an uncollectible entity for payrnent of lent dne for the unexpired

¡rortiorr of the ten-year leass telm, In addition, the absence of a personal guaranty rendels the

irtderntrít.y provisions of the Iìamed Lease in section 10.3 worthless. See Exhibit I, {i 10,3,

Persc¡nal guat'anties are standarcl in long-tern coml'nercial leases. Plessen is the landlord

a thirty-year leases with Docksicle Convenience, LLC ("Dockside"), which opelates a

ttvelriencc store and gas station on Plessen land near Mandela Cilcle in St. 'l'homas ulide¡: the

rü "Giant (ias." l)ookside's principals have given personal guaranties to back up Docksicle's

ttt obligation to Ple.ssen in the lease (the "Giant Gas Lease"). See Exhibit K, Yusuf.
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)ccl¿tratiou, 11 9, In addil;ion, Yusuf himself has personally gualanteed the corporate rent

Park, I.,td, covering Plaza Extra - 'l'utu }lark^ Icl. at J[ 9. The absence of a personal

<lf .Def'endant Uniteci Corporatiou, which is the namet'l lessee under the le¿rse ',vith

I-lrc frct that the Flamed Lease is struotured as a ten-year lease wifh two teu-year
t'QtìLltv\/, rather thart a thirty-year lease, is also cletrimental to Plessen. Plessen has

¡l<tlicy of not giving options to rener.v in long-telm colnnleroial leases, because
Jecisiun to either extend a terrn or not solely with the lessee, instead of making it
tìttltt¡al agreement at the encl of the initial term, is not in Plessen's interests. Sçg
Yusul'Declaratiorr. J[ 14. hl contrast to the Haured Lease, Plessen has a thirty-year
l)ocksitlc lease. Id,

options tr.r

ft¡llowed a
placing the
a matter of
tlxhihit K.
term in the
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Ltin'iulty of the Harnecls to baok up the New f{arnecl Cornpany's loug-term rent obligations uncler

hc Hamecl Lease is prejudicial to Plessen.

'l'he assignment cl¿ruse in the Hamecl I-ease is also detrimental trt Plessen's intet'ests, 'l'lie

lcnsc is fieely assignable, pursuant to .section 4.0, see Exhibit I, $ 4, ancl not subject to the

rusurt of Plessen. 'I'his rneans that Plessen has lro right to reject a proposecl assignee for

crcdttworthiness or any other reason it deer¡s appropriate, wltich is customary in conrmercial

lcnses. Exhibìt K, T 10. Although the New Hamccl Cornpany would t'emain a guarantol fbl the

rt obligatíons of'an¡, assignee, the free assiguability of the Hamecl l,ease couplcd with the

hsc¡rcc of persorral gualantees rnakes the continuing guaranty by the New l{arnecl Company, a

tìrl.-up, worthless.

Thc rent structrue in the l{arned Lease is also problemnlic. 'lhe rent in the Flamed Lease

Ioes not go up in clefined, prc-establishecl dollaL arnounts or ¡rercentages perioclically, as do most

ung-term oomnrercial leases. Instead, any increases in the lilarned Lease are tied only to tlie

)rlsnrlrer pricc inclex (CIPI) f'or luture years, which rneans that rent amounts ovel the course c¡f

Iu'rrei ten-year terms are unçertain ¿und unknowable, and, most alarrlingly, not subject to

cgrrtiaLion upoll exel'cise ol any of the ten-ycar o¡rtions to renew. See ExhibiII,þ2.3.2, Ll the

ìia¡rt Gas lease, by contrast, there are substantial rent increases over the course of tlie thirty-year
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ctnr. some of which are 25oÁ or more, ancl thel'e is ncl tic tcl the CPL Sc""c- lìxhibit K, I I L

)xl)ùrlsü. '['hc l{zunecl l.ease reqriires that the lessee obtain haz.ard insurance at $5,000,000, which

The insurance provisions in the Hatnecl l.-ease also favor the Ìlarneds at Plessen's

s well below the repläcelnent cost of the leased ¡rrcmises, In acldition, the Hamed Lease



age fi'om the lessee's rec¡uirement to otrtaìn insurancc,

ch exclusion. $s9 Exhibit K, f 13.

s the lessee in unusual ancl significant ways, to the clear

o have the burden of showing the intrinsic fairness to

me the presumption of void¿rbility, cannot do so. The

ard Tlesolution approving the ÏIamed Lease ancl voicl thc:

$460,000 Misappropriation Should Bc Rescinded.

encing the Derivative Action alleges that on March 27,

ufeed, issued a Plessen check in the amount of $460,000

ed into 'Waleed's personal account, It is further allegetl

ay authorized. S.e_g Exhibit L - Verifìecl Compìaint in

as nevet'come forward with any evidence that he sought

Iloard of Dircctors or shareholders of Plessen before l'rc

The Board resolution which treats Walced's theft of'

and characterizes it as a "dividend" i.s obvicrusly an

eds cannot show the intrinsic failness of their attempt to

¡rorate funds, and the Resolution approving it should be

cr adnritted his wlongdoing Lry causing $230,000 (half'of'
registry of the Court afler the filing of'the Derivative
es not of course alter the illegality of his taking the
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(1. T'he Board's Retention of Jeffrey Moorhead Violatcs the Bylaws and Should

be Rescinded.

As noted above at footnote 5, Attomey Moorhead was given and negotiated a $20,000

retainer check drawn on Plessen's bank accormt before he was even purportedly authorizcd to be

engaged by Plessen at the April 30 Iloard Meeting. llhis shorvs a complete disregarci for even

ha appearance of compliance with the norffrs and requiremeuts of'oorporate governalloe by bolh

Atteirrtey Moorhead and the l-Iamecis, Moreover, since there was absolutely no discussion at the

harlr meeting regarclirlg any of the proposed resolutions, Yusuf. has no clue what qualifioations

Mot:¡rlreucl has to serve as coun.sel for Plessen, what the terms of liis proposed engagetnent at'e,

rvhether other candidates were considered, ancl what conflicts, if any, Moorhead may have. The

ylaws of Plþssen provide that the Boarcl of Directors may appoint a General Counsel who is "to

hnvc dominion over all matters of legal irnporl concerning the Corporation," Exhibit C, Plessen

llylaws, 1'7 .3. The retention of Attorney Moorhead flies in the face of that Bylaw.

rrrernhel of his family to discuss his engagernent or proposecl course of action, which causes

YusLrl'to seliously doubt that Attorney Moorhead will be eveuhanclcd in his representation c¡l'thc

Suffice it to say thal Attorney Moorl'read has never bothered to contact Yusuf or any

or¡:rorarliou. or instead will act only to aclvance the intcrests ol'the H¿uned shareholdcrs, at the
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:xpensÈ of the Yusuf shareholders. See Exhibit K, T 17. Since the Hameds selected Attolncy

o{,rlh$arl in the face of the General Counsel Bylaw and without any iuput fronr YusLrf, ancl

:¿trsçcl a retainer to be paicl to him cven before they votecl to approve his letention, the resoluticln

r¡r¡rrrrving his I'otelrtion, besides running al'oul of the tsylaws, is an interestecl clirectol act that is

)t'uþ-lrllplively voidable, 'I'he ÌJarneds clicl not everì atternpt to show at the hoard ureeting ¿urcl

show that the Moorheacl rescllutiorr is intrinsically fair to Plessen, and Attolney



with Yusuf, let alone triecl to give assurarrces that he will

ly ownecl by Llamed. 'l'he Court should accordingly void

s engagement,

in Payments of X'uture Dividend.s, Except by Vote of

resolution authorizing an additional dividend of up to

cl at the shanr meeting, Waleed and his brother, Mufeed,

h in the amount of $100,000, drawn on Plessen's accolutt

mecl and Yusuf a.s "diviclend clistlibution." Sç,g Exhibit

ere issued even though in 2010, V/aleed Hamecl ancl Mike

k which required dlawer signatures of both Waleccl ancl

Exhibit E, Yusuf dicl not present his $ 100,000 check for

ot honored on presentment. While the two-signature

to Yusuf, it is not absolute, as Waleetl's succes.sful

only his and his brotlier's signature dernonstratcs, For all

previously ordered th¿tt "no I'uncls will be disl¡ursed fi'om

t the mutual consent of Ilanred and Yusuf (or. designated

8 V,I, at 138, this Court should similarly enjoin anybody

k accounts without the mutual written consent of Flarned

es. The CoLlrt's analysis of the neecl for a preliminary

superrnarket operating accounts applies equally to the

oriz.ed taking of $460,000 and the recent attempts to talce
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out $200,000 demonstrate the urgent uecessity of extendirìg the prelirninary injunction to cover

l)lusscn monies.

E. 'l'he Statutory Procedures for Replacing Yusuf as Rcsident Agent Have not
Been Observed, a¡rd this Action ol'the ìloard Should also l¡e Rescindcd.

As indioatecl above, retention of Attorney Moorhead tnust be nullified as an unauthorìzed

rilrtsacliotr and because it is a violation of the llylaws. l'he Ilamed clirectors also passecl a

lcs<llution nppointing Attorney Moorhead as "Registered Agent" (resident agent) of Plessen,

Yusitl- was appointed Resiclent Agent in the Articles of Incorporation of Plessen, 'l'he proceduLes

unclet' l3 V.I.C. $$ 52-55 as to change of Resident Agent have not been fcrllowed, including,

_!g!: alia, the requirement of obtaining the signoff of. the Secrctary of Plessen - Yusuf - and thc

'cc¡uirentorrL to obtain, file and certify the resignation of the cunent Resident Agent- also Yusufì

l)ccattsc the,se procedural steps have not been undertalçen, the resolution authorizing the change

f Resident Age¡rt.should be nullified,

F, A Receiver Should Re Appointed To Dissolve Plesscn And Liquidate Its
Assets.

Urrtil the hastily r:alled Special Meeting of the Iloard of Directors on April 3A,2014, thele

ave been ucl actual meetings of' Plessen's shareholcler ol directors since the corporation's
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irnltrrtion in 1988. $ee Exhibit K, 11 15. The very fact that Ilarnecl callecl this nreeting to

Iur¡tot'tetll¡, âppl'ove the l{amed l.ease, arnong clther self:clealing actions, shows he uncìerstood

Itnt there was Íì hopeless deacllock in Plessell's business affairs. 'fhe sham rneeting and the

:on'rtptc(l byproduct.s of that meeting, including the Hamed Lease that serves as a linchpin of'tlre

l¡tulerl Plan, simply reveal the misguidecl lengths tcl which Hamed rvill go to circumvent the

leacllock.
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